ABSTRACT

Title of Document:

TAXONOMY AND ECOPHYSIOLOGY OF *PSEUDO-NITZSCHIA* IN THE CHESAPEAKE BAY

Anne E. Thessen, Ph.D., 2007

Directed by:

Professor Diane K. Stoecker Marine Estuarine and Environmental Science

Pseudo-nitzschia is a diatom genus known to produce the neurotoxin, domoic acid (DA), which causes Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning (ASP) and Domoic Acid Poisoning (DAP). Field studies were conducted in the Chesapeake Bay to determine which species were present, their toxicity and their spatial and temporal distribution. Strains were isolated from the Chesapeake Bay region and growth and toxin content were studied. The effect of rapid increases in light at low temperatures on toxin production physiology was investigated.

Toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* is present in the Chesapeake Bay; however, abundance and toxin production are highly variable. Six species of *Pseudonitzschia* were identified: *P. pungens*, *P. calliantha*, *P. subpacifica*, *P. cuspidata*, *P. fraudulenta* and *P. multiseries*. The most abundant species was *P. calliantha*. *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances were associated with low temperature (2-21°C) and high salinity (6-32) and were highest in winter and spring. Compared to other diatom species, *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances were low, rarely present above 1000 cells mL⁻¹ and they did not occur as monospecific blooms. Low *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances and low, irregular domoic acid concentrations may partially explain the lack of documented toxic events in the Chesapeake Bay. Growth rate and toxin content of strains of *Pseudo*-nitzschia exposed to different nitrogen sources and irradiances varied significantly, even among strains of the same species isolated from the same water sample. Strain-level differences were responsible for most of the variability in growth rate and toxin content. Sequences of the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) and large subunit (LSU) rRNA matched morphological species definitions, but offered no explanation for the physiological variability. Populations of *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the mid-Atlantic coastal zone appear to be comprised of numerous ecotypes that require sorting in the future.

The hypothesis that DA is produced as an energy modulation strategy when the light and dark reactions of photosynthesis are decoupled was tested by exposing exponentially growing *P. multiseries* to a rapid increase in irradiance at a low temperature. High light and low temperature conditions increased nitrate (NO_3^-) uptake, nitrite (NO_2^-) and ammonia (NH_4^+) release and decreased DA production by the cells. These results could have important implications for natural populations of *Pseudo-nitzschia* at times of low temperature and high light fluctuations, such as during spring blooms and upwelling events.

This thesis answered several questions about *Pseudo-nitzschia* populations in the Chesapeake Bay area and their ecophysiology, but raised many more. Physiological adaptations and biogeography of *Pseudo-nitzschia* and DA content of Chesapeake bivalves should be studied further to contribute to the development of predictive models for *Pseudo-nitzschia* bloom formation and toxin production.

TAXONOMY AND ECOPHYSIOLOGY OF PSEUDO-NITZSCHIA IN

THE CHESAPEAKE BAY

By

Anne E. Thessen

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Maryland at College Park in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2007

Advisory Committee: Professor Diane K. Stoecker, Chair Professor Patricia M. Glibert Research Assistant Professor Judith M. O'Neil Visiting Professor Kevin G. Sellner Distinguished University Professor Elisabeth Gantt, Dean's Representative

Acknowledgements

I must first thank my undergraduate advisers, Drs. Quay Dortch, Thomas M. Soniat and David L. Schultz. Their careful guidance and friendship was (and is) valuable; their advice always true. I had an excellent undergraduate science experience that gave me the knowledge and confidence to succeed in graduate school. My high school teachers also deserve great thanks. These women were my earliest inspiration.

This dissertation would not have been possible without the support of my adviser, Dr. Diane K. Stoecker. I am very grateful for her patience and tireless efforts to help me succeed through many personal and professional difficulties. She has made it possible for me to develop as a scientist and a writer. I only hope I can make her proud to say she was my adviser. I would also like to thank my committee: Drs. Patricia M. Glibert, Judith M. O'Neil, Kevin G. Sellner and Elisabeth Gantt. Each one of them contributed to this dissertation in a vital way. I greatly appreciate their time and dedication. Dr. Patricia Glibert assisted with the light stress experiments and commented on early drafts of this thesis. Dr. Kevin Sellner provided good advice on this thesis as well as poster design and future employment. Dr. Judith O'Neil commented on early drafts of the thesis and web page design. I would like to especially thank Dr. Elisabeth Gantt for her assistance with electron microscopy. She went above and beyond the call of duty as my Dean's Representative even with her extremely busy schedule.

I am eternally grateful to the faculty, students and staff at Horn Point Laboratory for their assistance, stimulating conversation and supportive

ii

friendship. Laurie Van Heukelem and Lois Lane were very helpful with chemical analyses. Dr. David Kimmel was very patient with my multiple statistical questions. Jeff Alexander and Dan Gustafson were instrumental during many of my experiments and analyses. Anne Willey gave advice on and allowed the use of the graphics equipment. Last, but by no means least, I would like to thank the director of The Learning Center at Horn Point, Janet Tyler. She provided a safe and loving environment for my son while I was in the laboratory. Without her this dissertation would not be.

I would also like to thank my numerous colleagues outside of Horn Point Laboratory. Drs. Steve Morton, David Caron and Astrid Schnetzer helped with domoic acid analysis. Dr. Stephen S. Bates was very supportive and always willing to go out of his way to help me. Walt Butler, Cathy Wazniak and Dr. Peter Tango at Maryland Department of Natural Resources always put in the extra effort to fill my requests for data or samples. Holly Bowers was instrumental in molecular analysis and always took the time to share her expertise.

My dissertation work would not have been possible without funding from a Horn Point Laboratory Assistantship, Horn Point Laboratory Small Grants, Horn Point Laboratory Travel Grants, Maryland Sea Grant New Initiative Grant, STAR Research Assistance Agreement No. R82936601 awarded by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and Environmental Protection Agency Science To Achieve Results (STAR) Fellowship (FP916343).

iii

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsii	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	ix
Specific Contributions	Xİİ
Abbreviations	XIII
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Taxonomy, biogeography and natural history	2
Taxonomy	2
Biogeography	5
Life history	7
Ecology and bloom dynamics	12
Domoic acid production as an adaptation	16
Iron hypothesis	21
Domoic acid	25
Domoic acid chemistry and detection	25
Domoic acid biosynthesis	
Toxin production physiology	
Toxicology, food webs and monitoring	
Domoic acid toxicology	
Amnesic shellfish poisoning	35
Domoic acid poisoning	
Food web interactions	40
Monitoring	42
Summary	46
Research questions and approaches	47
Tables	50
Figures	
Chanter 2. Distribution abundance and domain asid analysis	f the terrie

Chapter 2: Distribution, abundance and domoic acid analysis of the toxic		
diatom genus Pseudo-nitzschia from the Chesapeake Bay	61	
Abstract	62	
Introduction	62	
Materials and methods	65	
Results	67	
Discussion	70	
Tables	77	
Figures		

Chapter 3: Intra- and interspecies differences in <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> grow	th and
toxicity while utilizing different nitrogen sources	91
Abstract.	92
Introduction.	93
Materials and methods	96
Culture isolation, identification and maintenance	
Genetic and phylogenetic analysis	9/
I oxin content of cultures	100
Varying nitrogen source	101
Growth versus irradiance.	102
Results	103
Identification of cultures	103
Toxicity of cultures	104
Varying nitrogen source and growth rate	106
Varying nitrogen source and toxicity	107
Growth versus irradiance	108
Discussion	109
Tables	119
Figures	130
production and nitrate uptake by <i>Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries</i>	141 142
Introduction	143
Materials and methods	146
Growth vs. irradiance parameters	146
Culture maintenance.	147
Experimental procedure	147
Sample analysis	148
Statistical analysis	149
Results	150
Exponential phase	150
Stationary phase	150
Discussion	151
Dissolved inorganic nitrogen release	151
Domoic acid production	156
Tables	159
Figures	161
Chapter 5: Summary	168
General findings and expansion of previous knowledge	169
Domoic acid in Chesapeake Bay food webs and potential impacts	174
Ecological meaning of intra- and interspecies differences	179
Table	182
Figure	183

Appendix A: References used to create figure 1.2	
Appendix B: Glossary of terms	
Literature Cited	197
Sources of Unpublished Material	

List of Tables

1.1	Diatoms with documented domoic acid production	50
1.2	Species known to ingest <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> and/or become contaminated with domoic acid	51
2.1	Sampling for <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> and domoic acid (DA) in the Chesapeake Bay region	77
2.2	Spearman's rank coefficient for <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> species abundance and temperature, salinity or flow	79
3.1	Cultures of Pseudo-nitzschia used in the present study	119
3.2	Morphometric summary of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> cultures used in the present study	120
3.3	Growth and toxicity of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> cultures used in the present study	121
3.4	Nested ANOVA tables for growth and toxicity experiments using different nitrogen sources	123
3.5	Results of ANOVA and Tukey's studentized range multiple comparisons test for domoic acid content in <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> strains grown on NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and urea	124
3.6	Spearman's rank coefficient (ρ) for growth rate and DA content	125
3.7	Growth vs. irradiance curve parameters for three strains of two species of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> grown in three temperatures	126
3.8	Replicates for experiments testing growth and toxin production in cultures grown on different nitrogen sources	127
3.9	Age of cultures in years at the time of experimentation	128
3.10	Limit of quantitation and limit of detection for ELISA method	129
4.1	Growth vs. irradiance curve parameters for <i>P. multiseries</i> strain CLN47 grown at 15°C	159
4.2	Analytical resolution and limit of detection for dissolved organic nitrogen analyses	160

5.1 Average PAR in the water column and modal surface PAR in the Chesapeake Bay and the percentage of samples positive for DA by month

List of Figures

1.1	Diagram of diatom frustule morphology	58
1.2	Map showing global distribution of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> spp.	59
1.3	Domoic acid biosynthesis in the cell	60
2.1	Map of the Chesapeake Bay showing the 31 sampling stations	80
2.2	Maximum abundances (cells mL ⁻¹) of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> spp. from 2002-2007 in the Chesapeake Bay region	81
2.3	Maximum total concentrations of domoic acid in the particulate and dissolved fraction (pg DA mL ⁻¹) from 2003-2007 in the Chesapeake Bay region	82
2.4	Monthly surface temperature and salinity data for stations in the mainstem Chesapeake Bay	83
2.5	Monthly surface temperature and salinity data for stations in the tributaries of the Chesapeake Bay other than the Choptank and Patuxent Rivers	84
2.6	Monthly surface temperature and salinity data for stations in the Choptank River	85
2.7	Monthly surface temperature and salinity data for stations in the Patuxent River	86
2.8	Monthly surface temperature and salinity data for stations on the Atlantic coast and in the Atlantic coastal bays	87
2.9	Abundances (cells mL ⁻¹) of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> spp. and domoic acid concentrations (pg mL ⁻¹) at all stations year round	88
2.10	Plot of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> abundance against temperature (°C) and salinity at all stations from 2002-2007	89
2.11	Average monthly flow (m ³ sec ⁻¹) through the Connewingo Dam on the Susquehanna River from 2002-2007	90
3.1	TEM micrographs of digested Pseudo-nitzschia frustules	130
3.2	Parsimony trees inferred for the LSU and ITS regions of rRNA	131

	from Chesapeake isolates of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> and the closest sequence data available on GenBank	
3.3	Abundance and DA concentration normalized to culture volume over time in six <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> strains of three species grown in silicate-limited medium with NO ₃ ⁻ as a nitrogen source	133
3.4	Abundance and DA concentration normalized to cell number over time in six <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> strains of three species grown in silicate-limited medium with NO ₃ ⁻ as a nitrogen source	134
3.5	Specific growth rates for strains of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> grown on NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and urea	135
3.6	DA content (ng mL ⁻¹) one week after fluorescence peak in strains of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> grown on NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and urea in silicate-limited media	136
3.7	DA content (fg cell ⁻¹) one week after fluorescence peak in strains of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> grown on NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and urea in silicate-limited media	137
3.8	Growth vs. irradiance curves for three strains of two species of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> at three temperatures (10°C, 15°C, 20°C) in nutrient-replete medium	138
3.9	Growth rates and total DA content (ng mL ⁻¹) one week after fluorescence peak in strains of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i>	139
3.10	Growth rates and total DA content (fg cell ⁻¹) one week after fluorescence peak in strains of <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i>	140
4.1	Growth vs. Irradiance curve for <i>P. multiseries</i> strain CLN47 at 15° in nutrient replete medium	161
4.2	Concentration (μ M) of NO ₃ ⁻ in exponential and stationary phase experiments after 180 minutes	162
4.3	Concentration (μ M) of NO ₂ ⁻ in exponential and stationary phase experiments after 180 minutes	163
4.4	Concentration (μ M) of NH ₄ ⁺ in exponential and stationary phase experiments after 180 minutes	164
4.5	Carbon (pg cell ⁻¹) within the cell in exponential and stationary phase experiments after 180 minutes	165

4.6	Nitrogen (pg cell ⁻¹) within the cell in exponential and stationary phase experiments after 180 minutes	166
4.7	Domoic acid (pg cell ⁻¹) in exponential and stationary phase experiments after 390 minutes	167
5.1	Dissolved nutrient concentrations in the Chesapeake Bay	183

Specific Contributions

Chapter 1: Introduction

Chapter 2: Distribution, abundance and domoic acid analysis of the toxic diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia*

Dr. Elisabeth Gantt assisted with electron microscopy of field samples. Drs. David Caron and Astrid Schnetzer assisted with toxin analysis. Walt Butler assisted with sample collection. Dr. David Kimmel assisted with statistical analysis.

Chapter 3: Intra- and interspecies differences in *Pseudo-nitzschia* growth and toxicity while utilizing different nitrogen sources

Dr. Elisabeth Gantt took electron micrographs and assisted with electron microscopy. Drs. David Caron and Astrid Schnetzer assisted with toxin analysis.

Dr. Stephen Bates allowed use of his *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* culture. Holly Bowers performed the genetic analysis and provided phylogenetic trees.

Chapter 4: The effect of a rapid increase in irradiance on domoic acid production and nitrate uptake by *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*

Dr. Patricia Glibert assisted in planning the experiments. Jeff Alexander and Dan Gustafson assisted in performing experiments. Dr. Carrie Solomon assisted in NH₄ analysis. Lois Lane, Sara Rhodes and Jen O'Keefe provided NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺ and CHN analysis.

Chapter 5: Summary

Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ASP	Amnesic shellfish poisoning
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BMAA	β-methylamino-L-alanine
CE	Capillary electrophoresis
CTD	Conductivity temperature depth
DA	Domoic acid
DAP	Domoic acid poisoning
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
EU	European Union
FADH	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FISH	Fluorescence in-situ hybridization
GDP	Guanosine diphosphate
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
GAP	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate
ITS	Internal transcribed spacer
HAB	Harmful algae bloom
HNLC	High nutrient low chlorophyll
HPL	Horn Point Laboratory
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography with detection by mass spectroscopy
LOD	Limit of detection
LOQ	Limit of quantitation
LSU	Large subunit
MD DNR	Maryland Department of Natural Resources
MPAA	Microsporin amino acids
MW	Molecular weight
\mathbf{NAD}^+	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADP	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
PAR	Photosynthetically available radiation
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
RUBISCO	Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rRNA	ribosomal ribonucleic acid
SSU	small subunit
TEM	Transmission electron microscope
TLC	Thin layer chromatography
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
UV	Ultraviolet

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

Since the first incident of Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning (ASP) in Prince Edward Island, Canada in 1987 (Bates et al. 1989, Perl et al. 1990), *Pseudonitzschia* and domoic acid (DA) have been the subject of intense research by ecologists, physiologists and chemists. *Pseudo-nitzschia* is a pennate diatom of global importance; it has been recorded from nearly every major marine and estuarine environment and DA has been found in the tissue or feces of organisms in multiple trophic levels in the oceans. Despite twenty years of study and the relatively simple taxonomy, life cycle (when compared to other species of harmful algae) and structure of DA, there is still much to learn about the taxonomic relationships, toxin production and food web interactions within the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia*. The following is a summary of *Pseudo-nitzschia* taxonomy, physiology, ecology and DA chemistry from the initial description of the genus to the present.

Taxonomy, Biogeography and Natural History

Taxonomy

The genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* was originally defined by Peragallo and Peragallo (1900) from the genus *Nitzschia* and has been subjected to many taxonomic changes over the last century based on frustule morphology (Fig. 1.1). Fifty years after being defined, *Pseudo-nitzschia* was reduced to a section of the genus *Nitzschia* on the basis of its raphe and motility (Hustedt 1958). By 1965 there were 18 species and two subspecies in the *Pseudo-nitzschia* group: *seriata*, *seriata* f. *obtusa*, *pseudoseriata*, *pungens*, *pungens* f. *multiseries*, *fraudulenta*, subfraudulenta, subpacifica, heimii, turgidula, prolongatoides, turgiduloides, lineola, barkleyi, inflatula, cuspidata, actydrophila, granii, subcurvata and delicatula (Hasle 1964, 1965). Nitzschia lineola and N. barkleyi were combined into N. lineola (Hasle 1965). In 1971, a new species, N. pungiformis, was described (Hasle 1971). Nitzschia delicatula became N. pseudodelicatissima in 1976 (Hasle 1976) and N. actydrophila reverted back to the older name N. delicatissima (Heiden & Kolbe 1928, Hasle 1965). Eventually, Pseudo-nitzschia was again separated from Nitzschia as a distinct genus by Hasle (1994) based on morphological characters and later supported by analysis of the 18S ribosomal RNA (rRNA; Douglas et al. 1994). The basic features of Pseudo-nitzschia spp. as defined by Hasle (1994) are as follows: 1) weakly silicified, 2) shallow, flattened or smoothly curved valve, 3) extremely eccentric raphe not elevated above valve, 4) no poroids on raphe canal walls, 5) no conopea and 6) presence of non-poroid silica strip at junction between valve face and distal mantle.

Shortly after *Pseudo-nitzschia* was reinstated as a genus, *pungens* f. *multiseries* was raised in rank, creating the species *P. multiseries* (Hasle 1995). *Nitzschia pseudoseriata* became *P. australis*, using an older species name and the new genus name (Frenguelli 1939, Hasle 1965, Rivera 1985). Many more new species have since been defined: *P. sinica* (Qi et al. 1994), *P. multistriata* (Takano 1995), *P. micropora* (Priisholm et al. 2002), *P. americana*, *P. brasiliana*, *P. linea* (Lundholm et al. 2002b) and *P. galaxiae* (Lundholm & Moestrup 2002). Lundholm et al. (2003) redefined *P. pseudodelicatissima* into three species: *P. calliantha*, *P. pseudodelicatissima* and *P. caciantha* and redefined *P. cuspidata*. *P. delicatissima* was redefined and split into two additional species: *P. dolorosa* and *P. decipiens* (Lundholm et al. 2006). Currently, there are 31 species of *Pseudo-nitzschia*.

Not all of these species produce the toxin DA, which makes species identification very important. This is typically done via electron microscopy. Individual species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* can be identified on the basis of striae and fibulae density, poroid structure, presence or absence of a central interspace and valve shape, length and width (Hasle & Syvertsen 1997). The genus can be identified with light microscopy by the characteristic step chain pattern. Cell length and width can also be measured via light microscopy. *Pseudo-nitzschia* is divided into two groups based on valve width: the *seriata* group ($> 3\mu m$) and the *delicatissima* group ($< 3\mu m$) (Hasle 1965, Hasle & Syvertsen 1997).

Traditional microalgal taxonomy has been heavily reliant on microscopy and has been revised as improvements in technology have enabled researchers to resolve increasingly smaller detail. In diatoms, this microscope-based taxonomy has meant that species were defined based on details in the frustule (Fig. 1.1). More recently, molecular techniques are adding to morphological species definitions, being used to confirm existing species and defining new species (Lundholm et al. 2002a, Lundholm & Moestrup 2002, Lundholm et al. 2003, Lundholm et al. 2006). The focus of most molecular work in *Pseudo-nitzschia* has been the ribosomal RNA. Sequence data can be used to construct a phylogeny or parsimony tree to describe relatedness between species or between strains (Orsini et al. 2002, Orsini et al. 2004, Cerino et al. 2005).

Analysis of molecular data reveals another level of diversity in natural populations not detectable through morphological methods alone and could reveal ecotypes or cryptic species. Using microsatellite markers, Evans et al. (2005) found 98% clonal diversity in isolates from the North Sea. Orsini et al. (2004) found 5 distinct lineages within *P. delicatissima* in the Gulf of Naples before a bloom, while during a bloom all strains collected belonged to the same clade. These dynamics could be evidence of cryptic species or ecotypes in *P. delicatissima*. Genetic analysis of laboratory cultures show strains of *P. delicatissima* belong to two different clades (Lundholm et al. 2006). Molecular data, in combination with mating experiments, shows the presence of reproductively isolated groups within *P. delicatissima* and *P. pseudodelicatissima* (Amato et al. 2007). Molecular methods are a new way to investigate evolution and ecology in natural *Pseudo-nitzschia* populations.

Biogeography

Pseudo-nitzschia is a cosmopolitan genus; however, some tropical and polar species exist as well as coastal and oceanic species (Hasle 1965, Skov et al. 1999, Hasle 2002; Fig. 1.2). Many species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* are found over a wide range of salinity and temperature (*P. pungens*) while other species are restricted to a narrow environmental regime (*P. prolongatoides* and *P. turgiduloides*). *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens*, *P. heimii*, *P. inflatula*, *P. pseudodelicatissima* and *P. fraudulenta* can be found in coastal and oceanic, tropical and temperate waters while *P. brasiliana*, *P. caciantha*, *P. decipiens*, *P.* *micropora* and *P. sinica* have only thus far been found in tropical waters.

Pseudo-nitzschia obtusa can be found primarily in arctic coastal regions and P. *turgiduloides* and *P. prolongatoides* are restricted to the Antarctic region alone. Pseudo-nitzschia turgidula and P. granii are limited to cold waters. There has been no report of *P. seriata* from the southern hemisphere while *P. subcurvata* has only been reported in the southern hemisphere (Skov et al. 1999). Pseudonitzschia americana, P. calliantha, P. cuspidata, P. delicatissima and P. linea are found in tropical and temperate coastal waters. Pseudo-nitzschia australis, P. galaxiae, and P. multiseries are found in coastal temperate regions. Pseudonitzschia subfraudulenta is a coastal warm water species while P. subpacifica is an oceanic warm water species. *Pseudo-nitzschia dolorosa* has been found only in upwelling regions. *Pseudo-nitzschia lineola* has been reported in the open ocean and coastal regions in temperate and polar areas. Pseudo-nitzschia *multistriata* has been reported mostly in the tropical and temperate Pacific. The accuracy of a map showing *Pseudo-nitzschia* biogeography depends on correct species identification and thorough examination of global waters. Some of the rarer species could actually be more common or have a wider range than currently believed.

Approximately 12 *Pseudo-nitzschia* species are documented DA producers (Table 1.1). On the west coast of the United States, the major DA producers are *P. australis*, *P. multiseries* and *P. cf. pseudodelicatissima* (could be *P. cuspidata*; Adams et al. 2000, Stehr et al. 2002, Lundholm et al. 2003, Bates & Trainer 2006). *Pseudo-nitzschia pseudodelicatissima*, *P. seriata* and *P. calliantha* have caused DA contamination in shellfish in Atlantic Canada (Bates et al. 1998, Bates & Trainer 2006). In Europe, the toxigenic species are *P. seriata*, *P. australis* and *P. multiseries* (Bates & Trainer 2006). In New Zealand *P. australis* is the main source of DA (Rhodes et al. 1998b).

Molecular studies of microsatellite markers reveal few differences between *P. pungens* isolates from the North Sea and Atlantic Canada, suggesting minimal barriers to gene flow (Evans et al. 2005, Lundholm & Moestrup 2006). Microsatellite markers in *P. multiseries* from Pacific and Canadian Atlantic isolates show substantial differences and hence barriers to gene flow between the two regions (Evans et al. 2004, Lundholm & Moestrup 2006). Molecular methods of examining diversity should be applied to a larger investigation of *Pseudo-nitzschia* biogeography in order to describe global population dynamics and genetic relatedness between populations in different regions.

Life History

Pseudo-nitzschia, like many pennate diatoms, can reproduce sexually (Geitler 1935). Clonal cultures of *Pseudo-nitzschia* will gradually decrease in cell size over time and eventually die if they do not undergo sexual reproduction. This is due to vegetative cell division and splitting of the frustule between two daughter cells. The halves of the frustule fit together like a glass Petri dish, with one side slightly smaller than the other. The daughter cell that receives the smaller of the two frustules will grow a new second frustule inside the first. This cell will be smaller than the initial parent cell. In this way, the average

dimensions of the cell gradually decrease until they become so small the culture can no longer survive. However, if cells undergo sexual reproduction, cell size is restored.

A *Pseudo-nitzschia* cell will become sexualized when cell length has decreased below a threshold size, known as the first cardinal point, which in *P. multiseries*, is approximately 63% of the length of largest cells (Bates & Davidovich 2002). Sexual reproduction must occur before the cells reach a minimum length, which in *P. multiseries*, is approximately 30 μm (Bates & Davidovich 2002). In *P. delicatissima*, this size range is from 19-80 μm (Amato et al. 2005). During this size window, cultures of *Pseudo-nitzschia* can be mixed together to stimulate sexual reproduction. *Pseudo-nitzschia* is dioecious, meaning that male and female gametes are produced by separate clones and intraclonal mating is rare or absent. These "sexes" are referred to as "+" and "-" in *Pseudonitzschia*. While no monoecious clones of *Pseudo-nitzschia* have been reported, mating between two clones of the same sex has been observed, suggesting that a single culture could switch sex under some conditions which have not yet been investigated, or more than one mating type exists (Davidovich & Bates 1998).

The sexual cycle differs between pennate and centric diatoms (Drebes 1977, Round et al. 1990). Centrics are characterized by oogamous reproduction involving the formation of flagellated male gametes and non-motile female gametes. The first paper reporting sexual reproduction in *P. multiseries* caused considerable debate and criticism for claiming that *Pseudo-nitzschia*, a pennate diatom, had oogamous reproduction (Subba Rao et al. 1991). Observation of

flagellated gametes in cultures of *P. multiseries* was consistent with fungal contamination and was considered anomalous (Rosowski et al. 1992).

Mating in *Pseudo-nitzschia* can be achieved simply by mixing clones of the same species, but opposite sex. Clones must be in good physiological condition to undergo sexual reproduction. This means that clones must be mixed during exponential growth phase, which can be anywhere from 3-6 d after inoculation of a batch culture. Clones must receive a sufficient amount of light during a 24 h period. A photoperiod length up to 16:8 L:D, the maximum studied, will increase gamete and auxospore production (Davidovich & Bates 1998, Hiltz et al. 2000). These results suggest that parent cells must be healthy and photosynthesizing to produce energy for sexual reproduction.

Sexual reproduction has been described in *P. multiseries, P. pseudodelicatissima, P. calliantha* (Davidovich & Bates 1998), *P. subcurvata* (Fryxell et al. 1991) and *P. delicatissima* (Amato et al. 2005). Despite some differences in the amount of time necessary to complete sexual reproduction, the mating process is similar in all *Pseudo-nitzschia* species tested. The first step in sexual reproduction is parental pairing between cells of the opposite sex. Two cells will pair valve to valve, lying parallel with close alignment of the cells. The next stage is gametogenesis. The paired cells divide meiotically and the cell contents divide along the apical plane to form spherical gametes, two per cell. These gametes are identical in appearance and non-flagellated, but the behavior of the gametes differs between sexes. One cell produces two active gametes (- male) and the other two passive gametes (+ female). The frustules of both cells open,

permitting the active gametes to enter and fuse with the passive gametes. This is not always successful in both pairs of gametes or in all pairing of parent cells. When it is successful, this fusion takes only 1-2 min. After gamete fusion, the resulting zygote expands to form larger auxospores inside which the initial cell is formed. The entire process, from gamete production to formation of initial cells takes 2-4 d.

This process has not been documented in nature for several reasons. Calculations suggest that three years may pass before a cell becomes sexualized (Davidovich & Bates 1998). The entire mating process itself only takes 2-4 d and when mating occurs in the laboratory there are few auxospores compared to vegetative cells. Thus, paired cells and auxospores would be rare in natural populations. Furthermore, it is likely that the coupling between parent cells is weak enough that sampling and preservation techniques can disrupt them: placing mixtures of clonal cultures on an orbital shaker at 170 rpm prevented or reduced sexual reproduction (Gordon 2001, Bates & Davidovich 2002). It is unknown how well gametes and auxospores survive sampling and preservation, if at all.

Preliminary work has shown an interesting relationship between epibiont bacteria and *Pseudo-nitzschia* sexual reproduction. Some axenic clones of *P. multiseries* would not undergo sexual reproduction until bacteria were reintroduced (Thompson 2000). Other mixtures of axenic clones did undergo sexual reproduction; however, it is possible that there was bacterial contamination. Further work must be done to determine the role of bacteria in sexual reproduction in this species.

There is also some evidence that a type of "pheromone" or other chemical is being produced by sexually active *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Filtrates of sexually reproducing clones induce higher gamete production in other clones (Haché 2000). These results suggest that a chemical is produced that improves gamete production and thus would synchronize gamete production in already sexualized cells, but not necessarily aid in location of other sexualized cells.

Sexual reproduction in *Pseudo-nitzschia* is important for DA production. Clonal cultures of *Pseudo-nitzschia* decrease in size over time, as described previously, and also lose their ability to produce DA (Bates 1998). Offspring of *P. multiseries* clones that lose their ability to produce DA can be toxic, sometimes even more toxic than their parents were initially (Bates et al. 1999). Sibling clones can have significant variability in DA production, which could be accounted for by genetics or by the presence of different types and numbers of epibiont bacteria.

Timing and frequency of sexual reproduction in *Pseudo-nitzschia* has important implications for the genetic structure of populations. Sexual reproduction is an important source of genetic variability. While direct evidence of this effect has not been documented in natural populations, cell size has been found to abruptly increase seasonally (D'Alelio et al. 2006). Understanding sexual reproduction in the field is an essential part of describing *Pseudo-nitzschia* population dynamics.

Ecology and Bloom Dynamics

Blooms of *Pseudo-nitzschia* happen relatively frequently, in some regions seasonally, and in a wide variety of locations. In culture, *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. can grow in salinities as low as 6 and as high as 48 and at temperatures as low as 5°C and as high as 30°C with a broad range for optimum growth (Miller & Kamykowski 1986, Jackson et al. 1992, Lundholm et al. 1997, Cho et al. 2001, Thessen et al. 2005). However, different species in natural populations can demonstrate distinct correlations with environmental characteristics, which suggests seasonal succession of species or regional specificity (Fryxell et al. 1997). In the South China Sea, P. pungens peaks in April, May and June, P. *multistriata* is present only in spring and *P. sinica* and *P. subpacifica* are found in late fall and early winter (Qi et al. 1994). In addition, P. pungens in the colder (1-10°C) waters of the North China Sea is present only in winter and spring while P. *pungens* in the warmer (21-29°C) East and South China Seas is present year round revealing two ecotypes (Zou et al. 1993). On the west coast of the United States, *P. pungens* is abundant in the summer and autumn as well as *P*. fraudulenta, P. subpacifica and P. heimii. Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries is abundant in the autumn and winter while *P. delicatissima* is abundant in the spring and summer. Pseudo-nitzschia pseudodelicatissima, P. seriata and P. australis are common in the autumn (Fryxell et al. 1997). Many species may coexist, but different growth and loss rates can lead to complex bloom dynamics and seasonal succession.

Pseudo-nitzschia blooms can be stimulated by nutrients from two sources: upwelling or mixing events and riverine inputs. Both sources stimulate *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms at concentrations of $8 - 22 \,\mu\text{M}\,\text{NO}_3^-$, $2.4 - 35 \,\mu\text{M}\,\text{Si}$, $0.2 - 2 \,\mu\text{M}\,\text{PO}_4^{3-}$ (Dortch et al. 1997, Scholin et al. 2000, Trainer et al. 2000, Loureiro et al. 2005), but in different temperature and salinity regimes. *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances and domoic acid concentrations on the west coast of the United States are associated with low temperature, high salinity and high nutrient conditions typical of upwelling (Villac 1996, Trainer et al. 2000, Trainer et al. 2002). Similarly, upwelling regions off the coast of Portugal contain high concentrations of *Pseudo-nitzschia*, which are used as upwelling indicators during spring and summer (Moita 2001, Loureiro et al. 2005).

Riverine inputs have stimulated toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms in many regions and are characterized by lower salinities and higher temperatures than upwelling zones (Bird & Wright 1989, Smith et al. 1990, Horner & Postel 1993, Dortch et al. 1997, Trainer et al. 1998, Scholin et al. 2000, Spatharis et al. 2007). A distinction between nutrients in upwelling and river plumes is that riverine inputs are likely the result of anthropogenic nutrient loading. Sedimentological data show an increase in *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance in the Mississippi River plume since 1950 suggesting a response to eutrophication (Parsons et al. 2002). However, in addition to an increase in nitrogen and phosphorus, nutrient ratios in Mississippi River water have also changed, i.e., a decreasing Si:N ratio which is favorable for *Pseudo-nitzschia* in culture (Turner & Rabalais 1991, Sommer 1994). Other river systems have also affected *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances. When the mouth of the Yellow River in China was artificially redirected in 1976, the location of the *Pseudo-nitzschia* bloom abruptly changed location to follow the river plume (Zou et al. 1993). *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance in the plume of the Yangtze River is positively correlated to NO_3^- and PO_4^{3-} concentrations (Zou et al. 1993). In the South China Sea, *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances respond to increased land runoff after rainfall (Qi et al. 1994). An analysis of *P*. *delicatissima* and *P. pseudodelicatissima* dynamics and environmental parameters in the Bay of Fundy, Canada show the importance of NO_3^- and NO_2^- concentrations to abundance of these species (Kaczmarska et al. 2007). These coastal studies show a response to riverine nutrients, changing nutrient ratios and eutrophication.

Much of the seasonal variability in *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance can be explained by regular shifts in wind, light, temperature and river flow. In the northern Gulf of Mexico, *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance peaks in spring, corresponding to the average maximum in river flow with another small peak in fall during wind events that mix the stratified water column (Dortch et al. 1997). Many *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms occur in the spring and fall, when irradiance is relatively low (Parsons et al. 1998, Mercado et al. 2005). In culture, *P. multiseries* can out compete other phytoplankton species at low irradiance with a short photoperiod (Sommer 1994). However, low light may contribute to the demise of autumn blooms (Bates et al. 1998). Day length can affect growth rates, cell yield, toxin production and influence which species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* becomes dominant (Fehling et al. 2005).

Local meteorological phenomenon, such as winds and heavy rainfall events, can stimulate *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms. Wind events can be especially important for transporting toxic blooms inland from upwelling sites offshore (Trainer et al. 2000, Trainer et al. 2002) or providing mixing necessary to bring nutrients into the photic zone (Lund-Hansen & Vang 2004). Heavy rainfall after a drought can cause a dramatic increase in *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances in the river outflow, such as in Eastern Canada in 1987 (Bates et al. 1998).

Larger scale changes in weather such as the El Niño Southern Oscillation can affect *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances by controlling upwelling near the west coast of the United States. During weak ENSO years, upwelling is high and therefore so are *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances (Fryxell et al. 1997). However, *Pseudo-nitzschia* can still take advantage of other favorable events, such as increased runoff after rainfall, during strong ENSO years and bloom. Both 1991 and 1998, years with large toxic events on the west coast of the United States, were strong ENSO years.

The decline of *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms is less studied than initiation. Parasitic fungi may play an important role in the demise of *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms (Bates et al. 1998). Parasitic oomycetes and chytrids have infected *P. multiseries* and *P. pungens* in eastern Prince Edward Island, Canada. Additionally, fungal parasites have been observed in cells during bloom decline in coastal Washington, USA (Horner et al. 1996) and an unexpected decrease in *P. multiseries* abundance in the Skagerrak between 1991 and 1993 was suspected to be caused by parasitic fungi (Hasle et al. 1996). Viruses are known to infect

marine diatoms (Nagasaki et al. 2004, Nagasaki et al. 2005), but no studies exist on viral infections in *Pseudo-nitzschia* and the genus may be immune (Caron pers. comm.; Coats pers. comm.). High pH resulting from dense blooms could also lead to bloom decline. Laboratory cultures of several *Pseudo-nitzschia* species could not continue exponential growth at pH from 8.7 to 9.3 (Lundholm et al. 2004). The exact mechanisms of *Pseudo-nitzschia* bloom decline are uncertain and could be caused by multiple factors.

Domoic Acid Production as an Adaptation

The reason *Pseudo-nitzschia* produces toxin is largely unknown, as is true for toxin production by most harmful algal bloom (HAB) species. An obvious hypothesis for the production of a potentially toxic, energy-demanding secondary metabolite is grazer deterrence (Turner et al. 1998). Harmful algal species and their toxins have a varied effect on metazoan and protistan grazers (Turner & Tester 1997, Turner et al. 1998). DA has anti-helminthic and insecticidal properties (Takemoto & Daigo 1958, Maeda et al. 1984) but, at levels found in nature, does not seem to affect crustacean zooplankton or other marine invertebrates that feed on *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Krill, *Euphausia pacifica*, feed on toxic and non-toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the laboratory and in the field (Bargu et al. 2003, Bargu & Silver 2003); however, grazing on non-toxic *P. pungens* decreased in the presence of added dissolved DA suggesting a direct affect on the filtering appendages (Bargu et al. 2006). Toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* has no detrimental effect on ingestion rates or egg hatching success in the copepods

Calanus glacialis, Temora longicornis and Acartia clausi (Windust 1992,

Maneiro et al. 2005). DA does not slow grazing, reduce egg hatching success and production or increase mortality in *Acartia tonsa* or *T. longicornis* (Lincoln et al. 2001). Sea scallops, (*Placopecten magellanicus*), California mussels (*Mytilus californianus*) and blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) can feed on toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* with no sign of illness (Wohlgeschaffen et al. 1992, Jones et al. 1995b, Douglas et al. 1997) but the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) had an immune response to toxic *P. multiseries* and experienced respiratory acidosis from shell closure (Jones et al. 1995a,b). *Mytilus edulis* injected with 1 - 500 ng DA g⁻¹ body weight exhibited no neurotoxic, immunotoxic or genotoxic effects (Dizer et al. 2001). These studies, with the exception of the *C. gigas* study, argue against DA as a feeding deterrent: neither crustacean zooplankton nor bivalve molluscs decrease their grazing in the presence of DA.

Some organisms stop or reduce their grazing on *Pseudo-nitzschia* because of the size and/or shape of the cells, such as the appendicularian *Oikopleura dioica* (Tonnesson et al. 2005). The eastern oyster *Crassostrea virginica* will feed on toxic cells at the same rate as non-toxic cells, but grazes other types of diatoms at higher rates (Roelke 1993, Thessen et al. 2002). Smaller *C. virginica* (~40 mm) were completely unable to graze on *Pseudo-nitzschia* suggesting a size and/or shape effect (Thessen et al. in prep). Mesozooplankton grazers, such as copepods, require an increased handling time for large, chain-forming diatoms, and may not graze on *Pseudo-nitzschia* especially if a preferred prey type is also available (Smetacek et al. 2002, Olson et al. 2006).

A second hypothesis is that DA is produced to act as an allelopathic agent, increasing the ability of *Pseudo-nitzschia* to compete for light or nutrients by killing or inhibiting its microbial competitors (Bates 1998). This is a possibility during large monospecific Pseudo-nitzschia blooms if high levels of DA are released into the surrounding medium. Bio-assays showed inhibited growth in some bacterial species, but not others. One study found inhibition of all bacterial growth (Stewart et al. 1998) while the other found no inhibition (Windust 1992) despite using the same species, E. coli, as a reference. Algal assays testing growth with and without DA exposure showed that DA had no effect on the diatoms Skeletonema costatum and Chaetoceros gracilis (Windust 1992). A toxic culture of *P. multiseries* had no allelopathic effects on *Chrysochromulina ericina*, Heterocapsa triquetra, Eutreptiella gymnastica and Rhodomonas marina (Lundholm et al. 2005). Additions of DA alone caused no allelopathic effect on C. ericina, E. gymnastica, Karenia mikimotoi, H. triquetra, Heterosigma akashiwo, Prorocentrum minimum, P. micans, Pyramimonas propulsa and R. marina (Lundholm et al. 2005). The lack of detrimental effects of DA on the growth of many species of bacteria and microalgae argues against the evolution of DA as an allelopathic chemical.

A third hypothesis is that DA protects *Pseudo-nitzschia* cells from ultraviolet light. DA absorbs in the UV range and photodegrades (Bates et al. 2003, Bouillon et al. 2006). Its ring structure is similar to, albeit much smaller than, microsporinlike amino acids (MPAA) used in many marine organisms to protect cells from UV light (e.g., Karentz et al. 1991). Toxic *P. multiseries* is resistant to the effects of

UV light while non-toxic *P. fraudulenta* and *P. pungens* show decreased growth in UV treatments (Hargraves et al. 1993). Further, cellular DA concentrations were lower in the UV treatments. However, rather than suggesting that the DA was photodegrading and protecting the cell, lower DA levels were interpreted as a shift of energy away from DA production and toward the production of a UV protectant. DA has also been suggested as important in increasing photosynthetic potential through the use of UV. A field study found that a planktonic community dominated by *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. was able to use the entire UVA spectrum to enhance carbon fixation suggesting that DA could aid in photosynthesis by capture of additional wavelengths; however, the UVB spectrum inhibited carbon fixation (Mengelt & Prézelin 2005). *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* cells have been found to fluoresce blue when excited by UV light, a response typical of some proteins; however, MPAAs are not known to fluoresce. There are 4 photoisomers of DA, but their spectral properties are unknown (Wright et al. 1990).

A fourth hypothesis is that DA is produced as a means of modulating energy flow within the cell (Pan et al. 1998). DA production begins when cell division stops and primary metabolism slows, such as during stationary phase of growth in a batch culture. Under these conditions, the photosynthetic apparatus is still harvesting light energy, which now must be consumed by secondary metabolism, like DA synthesis. Another way to disrupt energy flow in the cell is to decouple the light and dark reactions of photosynthesis by exposing cells to rapid increases in light under low temperatures (Lomas et al. 2000). Cells harvest more light energy than can be immediately consumed by the dark reactions. Low temperature and fluctuating light conditions often occur in nature during the spring and fall and during upwelling events, which are also times of high *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance and toxicity (Dortch et al. 1997, Trainer et al. 2000). If DA is produced to balance energy flow during times of decoupled photosynthesis and growth during stationary phase in culture, then a similar decoupling in nature could result in excess DA production.

Other hypotheses have not been investigated as thoroughly. The low N content of DA argues against its use as a nitrogen storage molecule (Bates et al. 1991), but the possibility has not been investigated. While salinity has an effect on DA production, there is no evidence that DA is produced to cope with osmotic stress (Jackson et al. 1992, Doucette et al. in press). The most recent hypothesis states that domoic acid is produced under low iron stress or high copper stress to chelate those metals (Rue & Bruland 2001, Maldonado et al. 2002, Wells et al. 2005).

Production of a glutamate-derived neurotoxin is common among plants, especially the algae (Laycock et al. 1989). Molecules like L-glutamic and Laspartic acid are ubiquitous among algae while γ -amino-n-butyric acid and β alanine are common in algae and higher plants (Curtis & Watkins 1961). DA is unique in that it is the most potent of the algal derived neurotoxins (Laycock et al. 1989). Another potent neurotoxin produced by a plant is β -methylamino-L-alanine or BMAA (Vega & Bell 1967). It is found in the seeds of the cycad, the oldest living seed plant and the evolutionary link between angiosperms and gymnosperms (Brenner et al. 2003). Much like DA, BMAA is a non-protein amino acid that acts

as an agonist of glutamate receptors (Copani et al. 1990, Manzoni et al. 1991) and causes convulsions and neural damage in primates (Spencer et al. 1987). BMAA is suspected of causing Guam's dementia, a neurological disorder similar to Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease, which affected the Chamorro people of Guam who consumed both the seeds of the cycad and flying foxes (bats) that consumed cycad seeds (Whiting 1963, Banack & Cox 2003). However, this link between cycads and Guam's dementia is still controversial. Physiological experiments demonstrate a similarity between effects of the algal toxin DA and the cycad toxin BMAA (Spencer et al. 1987, Jeffery et al. 2004). These studies do not explain why either are produced. One could argue that BMAAs are produced for protection of the seeds. Many seeds have germination inhibitors that must leach away before germination, as after an intense rain (Partridge & Wilson 1990). Studies show that BMAA affects hypocotyl shortening, cotyledon expansion and root and shoot growth in Arabidopsis seedlings (Brenner et al. 2000). All of this suggests that glutamate receptors and glutamate agonists, besides any possible defensive role, could be an important family of cell signal molecules in plants.

Iron hypothesis

Recent work has shown DA production in response to Fe limitation, supporting a new hypothesis that *Pseudo-nitzschia* produces DA to act as a chelator under Fe limitation or Cu toxicity (Maldonado et al. 2002, Wells et al. 2005). However, there is no conclusive evidence to show DA production during Fe limitation is different from DA production during P or Si limitation.
Work by Bates et al. (2000) showed that a strain of *P. multiseries* (CLN-1) in batch culture produced less DA when grown in low concentrations of Fe. Their conclusion states that it is unlikely DA is produced as an Fe acquisition strategy used under Fe-limiting conditions because the cell needs Fe to produce DA. Fe is a key component in multiple enzymes for DA synthesis (nitrate reductase, glutamine synthetase and aconitase) as well as the photosynthetic apparatus. Cells grown in low Fe medium showed decreased chlorophyll content. In their experiments, Fe limitation inhibits DA production. However, DA does bind Fe and Cu and structurally resembles a siderophore, a chemical used by terrestrial plants to bind Fe in the soil (Rue & Bruland 2001). Studies show that DA can bind Fe and Cu sufficiently to affect their bioavailability in the ocean; however, other acidic cellular components can also bind Fe, like citrate and glucuronate (Bates et al. 2000, Rue & Bruland 2001).

Another study by Maldonado et al. (2002) seems to show the opposite pattern, with low Fe cultures producing more DA than high Fe cultures. How can these two experiments be reconciled? One major difference is that the Bates et al. (2000) study used higher Fe concentrations in their media. There was no effect of Fe on specific growth rate, whereas in the Maldonado et al. (2002) study, low Fe cultures grew slower than high Fe cultures. Since growth rate has been shown to affect DA production (Pan et al. 1996a), the increased DA in the low Fe treatment could be the result of the low growth rate instead of a direct Fe effect. Another difference between the two studies is time scale. The Bates et al. (2000) study looked at the effect of Fe in a batch culture over several days whereas the

Maldonado et al. (2002) study looked at the effect of Fe in exponentially growing cultures over 12 h. Maldonado et al. (2002) also use a voltammetric method to measure the concentration and stability of Fe complexes, rather than directly measuring DA, to increase sensitivity. Their claim, that actively growing *Pseudo-nitzschia* immediately release DA into the medium to chelate Fe, would have been more definitive if they had also checked DA release in silicate- or phosphate-limited cultures with the very sensitive voltammetric method.

The Maldonado et al. (2002) study proposes that DA is produced in actively growing cells and immediately released by active transport under low Fe conditions to compete for Fe in coastal environments, whereas macronutrient limitation causes an increase in intracellular DA when the cells stop dividing which is released when cell membrane integrity is compromised. Interactions between Fe and macronutrient limitation could explain the variability in coastal *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms. When macronutrients become limiting before Fe, the result may be high intracellular concentrations of DA and thus highly toxic blooms. When Fe limitation occurs before macronutrient limitation, low or nontoxic blooms may occur since the DA that is produced is excreted. DA-enhanced Fe uptake was much slower than Fe uptake in other coastal diatoms when corrected for surface area, arguing against the ability of DA to make Pseudonitzschia a more efficient Fe competitor (Maldonado & Price 1996, Maldonado et al. 2002). However, specific growth rates of Fe-deficient cultures were higher than reported specific growth rates for other diatom species at similar Fe concentrations (Sunda & Huntsman 1995, Maldonado & Price 1996, Maldonado

et al. 2002). In another study, Fe uptake in *Pseudo-nitzschia* was higher than in other coastal diatoms, but was not corrected for surface area (Wells et al. 2005). In bioassay experiments, low Fe treatments had enhanced DA production (Wells et al. 2005).

Cu also has an effect on DA production and growth rate (Maldonado et al. 2002, Rhodes et al. 2004). Maldonado et al. (2002) hypothesize that DA is produced to bind Cu to reduce toxic effects on the cell. However, it has also been shown that some diatoms need Cu for Fe uptake (Peers et al. 2005). Some eukaryotes that possess a high-affinity Fe III uptake system use a Cu-containing oxidase (MCO) to oxidize Fe II (Stearman et al. 1996). Sequence analysis of the *Thalassiosira pseudonana* genome reveals a gene with homology to MCO genes of other known MCO users (Armbrust et al. 2004). Culture experiments show that oceanic diatoms have low growth rates in low Cu concentrations even if given sufficient Fe. In bioassay experiments, the addition of Cu resulted in a higher biomass than in unamended controls and in treatments amended with Fe alone (Peers et al. 2005). Further, DA production is stimulated under Cu-limiting and Cu-toxic concentrations (Maldonado et al. 2002, Rhodes et al. 2004, Peers et al. 2005).

Fe addition experiments in High Nutrient Low Chlorophyll (HNLC) regions of the ocean stimulate growth of diatoms, primarily *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. (De Baar et al. 2005, Leblanc et al. 2005, Tsuda et al. 2005). *Pseudo-nitzschia* can survive at low abundances in these regions and are therefore able to respond to an artificial enrichment. However, the *Pseudo-nitzschia* responding to Fe

enrichment in these experiments has been either non-toxic or untested (A. Marchetti pers. comm.) The Fe III binding constant of DA is much too low to compete with other potential chelators in the water column unless DA is present at very high concentrations, which have not been documented in these areas (Rue & Bruland 2001, Wells et al. 2005).

While the culture experiments on Fe-limitation and DA production are compelling, most studies to date have used only one strain of each species tested (Bates et al. 2000, Maldonado et al. 2002, Wells et al. 2005). Multiple strains could reveal a highly variable DA response similar to other studies looking at the affects of bacteria, pH or nitrogen source on DA production (Bates et al. 1995, Lundholm et al. 2004, Kaczmarska et al. 2005, Chapter 3 of this thesis).

Domoic Acid

Domoic Acid Chemistry and Detection

The chemistry and toxicology of DA has recently been reviewed (Jeffery et al. 2004). Domoic acid (MW 311) is a water-soluble, heat stable analogue of the amino acid glutamate (Hatfield et al. 1995, Leira et al. 1998). It was first isolated from *Chondria armata* and named after the Japanese word for seaweed – *domoi* (Mos 2001). DA is toxic to vertebrates because it binds to neurons twenty times more powerfully than ordinary neurotransmitters (Teitelbaum et al. 1990), resulting in a massive depolarization of the neuron. The subsequent increase of intracellular Ca²⁺ causes swelling and cell death. This happens in the hippocampus, the part of the brain associated with memory.

There are many methods of detection of DA, which are described in detail in Quilliam (2003). The current global standard for detection of many algal toxins in shellfish is the mouse bioassay (Fernandez et al. 2003, Todd 2003). This involves preparing an extract of the tissue to be tested and injecting it into a test mouse. If the mouse exhibits symptoms, a toxin is considered present. However, the limit of detection of the mouse bioassay for ASP toxin is 40 mg DA kg⁻¹ shellfish, above the regulatory limit of 20 mg DA kg⁻¹ shellfish. High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) with UV detection is the most commonly used chemical analytical method for DA detection due to its simplicity, speed and reproducibility. However, while the limit of detection is low enough to be used for routine monitoring of shellfish, it is not low enough for work with seawater and plankton. Thus, HPLC methods based on derivatization of fluorescence reagents were developed (Pocklington et al. 1990). Other chromatographic-based assays for DA include thin-layer chromatography (TLC), capillary electrophoresis (CE) and liquid chromatography with detection by mass spectroscopy (LC-MS). When establishing the presence of DA in a new area or in a new species, comparing chromatographic peaks to a DA standard is not conclusive. Spectroscopic data such as ultra-violet or mass spectra are necessary to confirm identification.

Receptor based assays and immunoassays are relatively new. Receptor based assays utilize the specificity of a toxin for a particular action site and measure activity of the toxin rather than discrete structural components. The receptor binding assay for DA involves measuring the competition between a known amount of labeled kainic acid and DA in the sample to be tested for

glutamate receptors in brain tissue (VanDolah et al. 1997). The newest detection method is an immunoassay or ELISA, which is based on competition of DA in the sample with a DA-conjugated protein for anti-DA antibodies (Garthwaite et al. 1998). Receptor-based assays and immunoassays have the advantage of giving low limits of detection, but can be costly.

In many early studies on DA and *Pseudo-nitzschia*, samples were taken quickly and stored frozen until analysis within two weeks because of potential DA degradation (e.g., Bates et al. 1991). Light, temperature and pH were all factors believed to affect DA stability. Over time, studies have shown that DA is not as unstable as first thought. Ambient temperatures, artificial light and repeated chilling and warming do not degrade DA in saline solution (Johannessen 2000); however, DA does degrade under acidic conditions (Quilliam et al. 1989).

Once DA is released from the cell, as with any other molecule, it can be degraded or remain intact. Intact adsorption onto suspended particles removes only a minor fraction of dissolved DA from the water column (Lail et al. 2007). Bacterial degradation is a logical pathway, but the ability to grow on or degrade DA is rare among marine sediment and water bacteria (Stewart et al. 1998). DA is inhibitory to resting cells and growing cultures of some bacteria (Stewart et al. 1998). However, bacteria isolated from molluscs (*M. edulis* and *M. arenaria*) that depurate DA very quickly have the ability to grow on and degrade DA (Stewart et al. 1998). It is currently unknown if DA can serve as an energy or carbon source for eukaryotes known to use dissolved free amino acids.

Another degradation pathway is photolysis. DA can be transformed into non-toxic isomers and degraded by exposure to light in the UV range (Wright et al. 1990, Bates et al. 2003, Bouillon et al. 2006). The rate of degradation of DA exposed to sunlight in natural seawater is 0.017 to 0.035 d⁻¹, enough to be a significant sink (Bouillon et al. 2006). However, light penetration in seawater can be limited, especially in turbid coastal areas. Low light might increase the possibility that dissolved DA could remain in the water column after a bloom has dissipated. Particulate DA could also become buried in sediments.

Domoic Acid Biosynthesis

The DA molecule is created from glutamate and an isoprenoid pyrophosphate both originating from acetate, but derived by different pathways (Fig. 1.3; Laycock et al. 1989, Douglas et al. 1992, Pan et al. 1998, Ramsey et al. 1998). Research suggests the origin of the isoprenoid pyrophosphate is through the glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (GAP) -pyruvate pathway while glutamate is a product of the Citric Acid cycle (Lichtenthaler et al. 1997, Ramsey et al. 1998). DA synthesis requires a substantial amount of energy and therefore competes with primary metabolism. Therefore, less ATP is available for DA biosynthesis during nutrient uptake and growth. Conversely, during Si limitation in *P. multiseries*, cellular levels of ATP increase and can then be used for DA synthesis (Pan et al. 1996 a,b).

Identifying and characterizing genes that control DA biosynthesis is an active research topic. Results from phylogenetic studies comparing different

species of Pseudo-nitzschia, Nitzschia navis-varingica and Amphora

coffeaeformis (two DA-producing species that do not belong to *Pseudo-nitzschia*) suggest that either the ability to produce DA evolved independently several times, genes have been laterally transferred or multiple losses of species have occurred (Janson & Hayes 2006). Two approaches are being used to find DA genes (Bates & Trainer 2006). The first approach involves using a cDNA microarray to screen for genes with expression patterns that correlate with DA production (Boissonneault 2004). This method revealed 12 transcripts that were upregulated during DA production. The second approach is using subtraction techniques when comparing Si replete and Si deplete cultures to identify genes involved in DA production. No definitive DA production genes have been discovered, but the current whole genome sequencing of *P. multiseries* (by E. V. Armbrust, B. Jenkins and S. Bates) will greatly assist in this search.

Toxin Production Physiology

The physiology of DA production has been reviewed elsewhere (Bates 1998). It is commonly known that growth phase, nutrients, temperature, irradiance and bacteria play a role in DA production. Many studies show *Pseudo-nitzschia* cultures produce little DA until cell division has stopped. In batch cultures, DA production often starts at the onset of stationary phase and DA content of the cells peaks about one week later. Some cultures produce DA during late exponential phase, possibly because this is a period of transition when some cells have stopped growing and are producing DA while other cells are still

dividing. However, one culture of *P*. cf. *pseudodelicatissima* from the Northern Gulf of Mexico produced the highest levels of DA during early exponential growth (Pan et al. 2001).

In continuous culture, toxin content increases when growth is slowed by decreasing the dilution rate (Pan et al. 1996a). This growth effect means that many factors that slow growth would also indirectly increase toxin production. Studies showing that an increased pH will increase toxin production also show that growth rate decreases under these circumstances, making it difficult to know the effect of pH alone (Lundholm et al. 2004). Cultures grown on urea have higher DA production, but also have a slower growth rate (Armstrong Howard et al. 2006). The increase in toxin production when growth slows must be taken into account when investigating factors that affect DA production.

Nutrient limitation is widely used to induce DA production in culture, with Si and P limitation commonly used. Initially, it was hypothesized that DA production was specifically linked to Si limitation in *P. multiseries*, but *Pseudo-nitzschia* cultures will produce toxin when growth is limited by Si or other factors in the presence of replete nitrogen and light. Cells do not produce DA under nitrogen limitation (Bates et al. 1991). Toxic levels of NH_4^+ and Cu also limit growth and subsequently increase DA production (Bates et al. 1993a).

Low temperature has been found to have a negative affect on cell division and DA production in some strains (Lewis et al. 1993); however, toxic mussels have been harvested from ice-covered water, implying that *Pseudo-nitzschia* can produce DA at near 0°C (Smith et al. 1993). A culture of *P. seriata* produced

more DA at 4°C than 15°C which could reflect cold water adaptation (Lundholm et al. 1994). Metabolism typically decreases with lower temperatures, but many enzymes involved in the production of DA have differing temperature optima. For example, RUBISCO, the enzyme that fixes atmospheric carbon, operates optimally at a higher temperature (Li et al. 1984, Smith & Platt 1985, Descolas-Gros & de Billy 1987) than nitrate reductase, which transforms NO₃⁻ into NO₂⁻ (Packard et al. 1971, Kristiansen 1983, Dohler 1991, Lomas & Glibert 2000). Both fixed carbon and reduced nitrogen are required for DA synthesis. Temperature has an obvious effect on DA production by regulating the speed of multiple enzyme reactions within the cell. No studies have examined the effects of rapid changes in temperature on DA production, although rapid temperature changes can uncouple the light and dark reactions of photosynthesis.

Irradiance is, of course, a very important control on DA production since it provides the energy necessary for biosynthesis. Irradiances below 100 µmol photons m⁻²sec⁻¹ can lead to decreased DA production, a trait that has consequences for mass culture of toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Whyte et al. 1995). Self-shading in large culture vessels can reduce DA production compared to small cultures in which self-shading is less important (Whyte et al. 1995). *P. multiseries* can produce DA under constant light (Villac et al. 1993a), but no experiments have been performed to examine the effect of extremely short photoperiods on DA production (Bates 1998). In *P. seriata*, cultures exposed to a long photoperiod (18:8 L:D) had higher total toxin production than those exposed to a short photoperiod (9:15 L:D) (Fehling et al. 2005). The effects of rapid

changes in irradiance on DA production have not been studied, although rapid shifts may temporarily uncouple the light and dark reactions of photosynthesis (Lomas & Glibert 1999).

As noted previously, bacteria play a role in DA production, with the exact mechanisms unknown. Thus far there is no evidence that bacteria can produce DA autonomously (Bates et al. 2004). Axenic cultures of *P. multiseries* can produce DA but at much lower levels than non-axenic cultures. The variability between DA production in different cultures of the same strain may be partially explained by differences in bacterial flora (Kaczmarska et al. 2005). Bacteria have been observed on the frustule and free-living in culture media. It has been suggested that the bacteria are using organic matter released from the diatom (because their location on the frustule, the raphe and cingulum, are locations where organic matter could be released) while providing the diatom with a cofactor, such as a precursor that enables DA production under physiologically stressful conditions. Addition of amino acids, like proline, stimulated growth in axenic Pseudo-nitzschia cultures (Stewart et al. 1997), which supported suggestions that bacteria may produce specific amino acids that stimulate growth of the diatom, i.e., *Pseudo-nitzschia* and its attached bacteria live symbiotically (Stewart et al. 1997). However, another hypothesis states that DA is produced to chelate trace metals in competition with bacteria that produce their own chelator, gluconic acid, as the addition of gluconic acid to a *Pseudo-nitzschia* culture will increase DA production (Osada & Stewart 1997).

Toxicology, Food Webs and Monitoring

Domoic Acid Toxicology

Tests in animal models have repeatedly documented DA effects in adults and developing animals. Intraperitoneal injections up to 1.25 mg DA kg⁻¹d⁻¹ cause no signs of toxicity in adult female rats, but doses of 1.75 mg DA kg⁻¹d⁻¹ induced abortions (Khera et al. 1994). Doses of 2 mg DA kg $^{-1}$ d $^{-1}$ can cause death in pregnant rats. Lactating females given doses of 1 mg DA kg⁻¹d⁻¹ transferred the toxin to their young up to 24 h after exposure, but not enough to cause acute symptoms (Maucher & Ramsdell 2005). Research shows that DA lingers in breast milk longer than in blood plasma and that neonatal rats are much more susceptible to DA than adults (Xi et al. 1997, Doucette et al. 2000, Maucher & Ramsdell 2005). This is probably because in adults, DA poorly penetrates the blood-brain barrier, but in fetuses and newborns, this barrier is incomplete (Mayer 2000). A study comparing the effects of DA on young adult versus old adult rat brains shows equal sensitivity to initial exposure and reduced sensitivity to a second exposure in the younger brains (Kerr et al. 2002). Oral doses have less effect than injection of DA in animals and almost all DA ingested is excreted in feces. This suggests that DA is poorly absorbed from the gut (Iverson et al. 1989). Other studies with rats and cynomolgus monkeys show that DA is well distributed in body water and rapidly excreted, as expected for a hydrophilic compound, and implies that renal function is important for DA removal (Truelove & Iverson 1994). Numerous studies show death, brain damage, reduced learning

and memory ability in rats and primates exposed to DA in the laboratory (Jeffery et al. 2004).

Fish have long been considered immune to the effects of DA. However, injections of DA can produce neurological symptoms suggesting that fish are susceptible to DA at doses similar to rats and monkeys (Lefebvre et al. 2001). Fish exposed to DA in the field showed high levels of DA in their gut, but DA levels were 1000 X lower in the brain tissue, suggesting that DA uptake from the gut is low. The complete absence of neurological symptoms in fish given oral doses of DA provides more evidence that little DA is taken up through the gut and even less passes the blood-brain barrier. Despite proven susceptibility to injections of DA, fish exposed to DA in the field may not display symptoms.

A study of toxicity in fish eggs injected with DA showed effects even at small doses (Tiedeken et al. 2005). Injections of 0.4 mg DA kg⁻¹ reduced hatching success by 40% and injections of 1.2 mg DA kg⁻¹ reduced hatching success by 50%. In the eggs that lived, embryos convulsed at 2 days post fertilization. All surviving eggs injected with 4 mg DA kg⁻¹ had no response to touch at 4 days post fertilization and at 5 days post fertilization had constant rapid pectoral fin movements possibly analogous to the scratching observed in laboratory rodents exposed to DA. Not only are fish susceptible to DA at similar doses as mammals, they are also susceptible to developmental toxicity.

Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning

Pseudo-nitzschia was not recognized as a toxic diatom until the first documented incident of ASP occurred in Prince Edward Island, Canada in 1987 when residents ate DA contaminated mussels (Mytilus edulis) from Cardigan Bay estuaries (Bates et al. 1989, Wright et al. 1989). Out of 250 reported illnesses, 107 met the case definition for ASP (Perl et al. 1990). Common symptoms were vomiting, abdominal cramps, diarrhea, incapacitating headache and loss of shortterm memory (Perl et al. 1990). Nineteen people were hospitalized, twelve requiring intensive care because of seizures, coma, severe lung congestion, and unstable blood pressure (Perl et al. 1990). Some of the twelve intensive care patients showed additional serious neurological problems including inability to speak, irritability and uncontrollable facial movements (Perl et al. 1990). Four people died, three in the hospital and one three months after apparent recovery (Perl et al. 1990, Teitelbaum et al. 1990). Brain tissue from three of the four dead patients revealed severe cell damage, especially in the hippocampus and amygdala (Perl et al. 1990, Teitelbaum et al. 1990). Of those patients that lived, the more severely affected experienced memory deficits as much as five years after DA consumption (Todd 1993). One patient who suffered short term memory loss also developed epilepsy one year after exposure (Cendes et al. 1995).

The causative organism was found to be *P. multiseries*, which was blooming in Cardigan Bay at the time of the outbreak (November to December) and declined shortly thereafter (Subba Rao et al. 1988, Bates et al. 1989). The

identity of the toxin as DA was confirmed by proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectra in mussel tissue, cultured *P. multiseries* and plankton samples from Cardigan Bay (Bates et al. 1989, Wright et al. 1989). A positive correlation was found between the concentrations of *P. multiseries* and DA in plankton samples (Bates et al. 1989). No DA was found in cultures of other diatom species, 10 isolated from Cardigan Bay and 12 obtained from a culture collection. Small amounts of DA were found in a local macroalga, *Chondria baileyana* (Bates et al. 1989).

Prior to the 1987 ASP event, DA had not been detected in shellfish (Wright et al. 1989). Mussels from Cardigan Bay and patients' uneaten mussels were initially tested for PSP toxins using the mouse bioassay; however, the test mice exhibited involuntary scratching of their shoulders with their hind legs, a symptom atypical of PSP (Perl et al. 1990). Mussels were also tested for dangerous bacteria, viruses and chemical residues; none were found. Metabolites, including DA, were extracted from whole mussels and DA was identified using HPLC, high-voltage paper electrophoresis, ion-exchange chromatography and ultraviolet, infrared and mass spectroscopy (Wright et al. 1989). Dissected mussels contained the most toxin in the digestive gland (Wright et al. 1989).

No new cases of ASP have been reported since 1987. However, DA has been detected in shellfish (Villac et al. 1993b, Wekell et al. 1994, Rhodes et al. 1998a, Vale & Sampayo 2001) and a small outbreak of "food poisoning" in Oregon in 1992 possibly could have been the result of DA in razor clams consumed by locals (Todd 1993, Wright 1998). Effects of single or multiple

exposures to levels of DA too low to cause outward symptoms are unknown; low levels of DA could have negative effects without causing an obvious toxic event. Preliminary work shows a possible risk to mental development of infants whose breastfeeding mothers eat contaminated shellfish and children who eat contaminated shellfish themselves (Grattan et al. 2002).

Only DA levels above 40 μ g g⁻¹ wet weight of mussel meat will show symptoms in test mice (Todd 1993). During the 1987 event, seemingly unaffected individuals consumed 0.2-0.3 mg kg⁻¹, persons with mild symptoms had consumed 0.9-2.0 mg kg⁻¹ and the most serious cases had consumed 1.9-4.2 mg kg⁻¹. After the 1987 ASP event, the Canadian government enacted a 20 μ g DA g⁻¹ mussel flesh action limit, which when exceeded, would authorize closure of the shellfish bed (Waldichuk 1989). This action limit has also been adopted by the European Union, New Zealand, United States and Australia.

Domoic Acid Poisoning

The first documented case of domoic acid poisoning (DAP) involved brown pelicans *Pelicanus occidentalis* and Brandt's cormorants *Phalacrocorax penicillatus* in 1991 in Monterey Bay (Fritz et al. 1992, Work et al. 1993a,b). The birds exhibited strange behaviors indicative of central nervous system disorder, such as scratching, head weaving, wryneck, clenched toes and loss of righting reflex. Histological examination of brain tissue from dead birds revealed lesions similar to those found in the human brains during the 1987 Canadian ASP event (Scholin et al. 2000). Plankton samples collected in Monterey Bay at the time of the incident showed phytoplankton assemblages to be almost unialgal *P. australis* at 4 X 10^4 cells L⁻¹ maximum concentration. *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* frustules were found in the birds' stomachs at 1.5 X 10^6 recognizable *P. australis* fragments g⁻¹ wet w and in the stomachs of the birds' prey, the northern anchovy *Engraulis mordax* (Fritz et al. 1992). This incident showed that a second species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* could produce DA at sufficient levels to cause a toxic event and that planktivorous fin fish can be vectors of DA to higher trophic levels (Garrison et al. 1992).

In 1996, 150 brown pelicans *Pelecanus occidentalis* died at the tip of the Baja Peninsula, Mexico from feeding on mackerel *Scomber japonicus* contaminated with DA from an unknown *Pseudo-nitzschia* sp. (Sierra-Beltran et al. 1997). The birds' stomachs were empty, indicating recent vomiting, but smears from the digestive tract revealed *Pseudo-nitzschia* frustules. Viscera from pelicans and mackerel tested positive for DA by HPLC. Another incident in the Gulf of California in 1997 killed 766 common loons *Gavia immer* and 182 sea mammals belonging to 4 different species including the common dolphin (Sierra-Beltran et al. 1998). Microscopic analysis found *P. australis* frustules in the stomachs of the common dolphin *Delphinus capensis* and the sardine *Sardinops sagax* found inside the dolphin stomachs. Histological examination of dolphin brain tissue showed distinct lesions.

Another DAP event occurred in Monterey Bay in 1998, this time affecting over 400 California sea lions *Zalophus californianus* in addition to marine birds (Scholin et al. 2000, Gulland et al. 2002). Again *E. mordax* was acting as a

vector, delivering DA from a local P. australis bloom (maximum concentration $\sim 1.3 \times 10^5$ cells L⁻¹) that had responded to high Si levels, indicative of terrestrial run-off (Scholin et al. 2000). DA was found in E. mordax, sea lion body fluids and plankton samples, but not in mussels, *Mytilus edulis*. Of the 400 sea lions affected, only 81 were found alive and transported to The Marine Mammal Center where 48 died despite treatment (Scholin et al. 2000, Gulland et al. 2002). All affected animals displayed neurological symptoms: seizures, head weaving, ataxia, unresponsiveness and abnormal scratching. Five females had fetuses detectable by ultrasound, but no detectable fetal heartbeats (Gulland et al. 2002). Histological examination of brain tissue from the 48 dead sea lions revealed lesions in the hippocampus. This event recurred in 2000, with 184 sea lion strandings (Gulland et al. 2002). Between the two events, 129 animals recovered and were released. Eleven re-stranded within four months giving a re-stranding rate of 9%, 0.5% higher than re-stranding rates for sea lions rehabilitated for other reasons (Gulland et al. 2002). Two of these animals had an atrophied hippocampus and were euthanized. Eight animals appeared normal after a week of treatment and re-released (Gulland et al. 2002).

Symptoms of ASP and DAP have many similarities consistent with the pharmacology of DA and the effects of its biochemical analog kainic acid and glutamic acid in animal models (Perl et al. 1990, Hampson & Manalo 1998, Schrader & Langlois 2001). The distinctive characteristic of DA poisoning appears to be permanent damage to the hippocampus, which can be detected even after DA has been eliminated from the body (Cendes et al. 1995, Gulland et al.

2002). Long term memory effects and/or chronic siezures have been documented in affected humans (Cendes et al. 1995), but only seizures have been documented in animals (Gulland et al. 2002).

Food Web Interactions

As a diatom, *Pseudo-nitzschia* is an important primary producer at the base of the food web. It is consumed directly by a wide variety of organisms from heterotrophic dinoflagellates to planktivorous fish (Table 1.2). It can form dense blooms and be an important source of food for these primary consumers, thereby introducing DA into higher trophic levels. As a hydrophilic molecule, it does not bioaccumulate. Instead, DA is concentrated in the digestive system with little transfer to surrounding tissues and can be quickly eliminated from the body. The toxin is moved through the food chain during blooms when primary consumers with guts full of *Pseudo-nitzschia* are eaten by secondary consumers. Eventually DA is depurated, but depuration rates can vary, from hours in the blue mussel (*M. edulis*), Mediterranean cockle (*Acanthocardia tuberculatum*), and greenshell mussel (*Perna canaliculus*), to several days in the mussel M. galloprovincialis (Novaczek et al. 1992, Wohlgeschaffen et al. 1992, Mackenzie et al. 1993, Vale & Sampayo 2002). Three bivalves that are very slow to depurate are the razor clam Siliqua patula (> 86 days), the scallop Placopecten *magellanicus* (> 14 days) and the scallop *Pecten maximus* (~ 416 days; Wohlgeschaffen et al. 1992, Horner et al. 1993, Douglas et al. 1997, Blanco et al. 2002).

Differential DA accumulation is an important factor in commercial species which are often not eaten whole. Most scallops, for example, are dissected and only the adductor muscle is eaten, which is the tissue containing the least amount of DA (Douglas et al. 1997, Blanco et al. 2002). Many commercially harvested animals, such as crabs, fish and cephalopods, retain most of the DA in their viscera, not typically consumed by humans (Horner & Postel 1993, Costa et al. 2003, Costa & Garrido 2004, Costa et al. 2004, Costa et al. 2005). However, studies do show trace amounts of DA in consumable tissues. Animal feeds that consist of whole fish captured during *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms can be contaminated and sicken animals far from coasts or toxic blooms (Naar et al. 2002). However, DA in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) feed containing fish meal made from contaminated anchovies did not affect fish health nor lead to contaminated trout (Hardy et al. 1995). Hence, differential distribution of DA in vector tissues can be important for processing of commercially harvested species.

Packaging and handling procedures have an effect on which tissues are toxic. During storage, for example, DA can transfer from the digestive system into surrounding tissues (Smith et al. 2006). Freezing and thawing can affect distribution of DA within crab tissues (Hatfield et al. 1995, Costa et al. 2003). Storage in pickling brine or frozen storage can cause DA to leach into the surrounding medium (Leira et al. 1998). Removal or flushing of the digestive tract or hepatopancreas can decrease DA in bivalves (Leira et al. 1998, Campbell et al. 2003). Boiling of toxic animals before ingestion can also reduce DA body burdens by causing the toxin to leach into the boiling media (Costa et al. 2003). Many different types of organisms can have DA in their tissues; however, not all of these organisms are filter feeders or their predators. Scavengers and deposit feeders have also been found to contain DA (Goldberg 2003). Scavengers could become contaminated by eating DA contaminated remains. Deposit feeders could become contaminated by consuming flocs of *Pseudo-nitzschia* that sink to the benthos at the end of a bloom (Goldberg 2003). Some carnivores, like the swimming crab *Polybius henslowii*, can contain high levels of DA but there have been no recorded incidents of poisoning in their predator, the yellow-legged gull (*Larus cachinnans*) that feeds on them almost exclusively (Alvarez 1968, Munilla 1997, Costa et al. 2003). There may be a limit in the number of trophic transfers over which DA can still be present at high enough concentration to cause a toxic event: to date all recorded DAP and ASP events involved only three trophic levels, *Pseudo-nitzschia*, a bivalve or a planktivorous fish and a bivalve or fish predator.

Monitoring

Due to its variable toxicity and cosmopolitan distribution, *Pseudo-nitzschia* poses a unique management challenge worldwide. Monitoring via traditional microscopic (generally light) techniques for cell enumeration and identification can be too time consuming for regions with immediate ASP or DAP threats. Since the presence of *Pseudo-nitzschia* does not guarantee the presence of DA, abundance data alone are rarely a sufficient basis for management decisions. In addition, consumer illness is not from DA in plankton or in water; a

seafood vector must be involved. This means that an effective monitoring program will include *Pseudo-nitzschia* identification and enumeration, DA quantification and testing of potential vectors.

Traditional plankton sampling techniques are typically useful for *Pseudo-nitzschia* monitoring; however, there are situations when this sampling method may be inadequate. Physical and biological processes are known to concentrate *Pseudo-nitzschia* into subsurface layers from several meters (Ryan et al. 2005) to less than a meter thick (Rines et al. 2002). These cells can be transported long distances and inoculate unexpected blooms at the surface (Bates & Trainer 2006). *Pseudo-nitzschia* can also be missed when intermingled in colonies of *Chaetoceros socialis* (Rines et al. 2002) instead of free in the water column. Oceanographic characteristics of a region should be taken into account when developing a sampling program so that any heterogenous distributions of *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the water column can be defined.

Several days may pass from the time a water sample is collected to identification of *Pseudo-nitzschia* species via electron microscopy (generally not available to most routine monitoring programs). This can be too long and inadequate to separate toxic from non-toxic strains. Molecular probes have come into use to increase speed of identification and resolution between genetically distinct strains. Molecular probes are designed to adhere to a specific set of molecules associated with a particular algal group and can be used as a basis for detecting these groups in natural samples. There are three types of molecular probes: lectin-binding, antibodies or nucleic acid.

Lectin-binding probes have been used to discriminate between species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* with limited success. Trials with New Zealand derived cultures were able to discriminate between 6 of 7 *Pseudo-nitzschia* species tested; *P. delicatissima* and *P. pseudodelicatissima* could not be distinguished (Rhodes 1998a). All 7 species tested from Spain and all 3 species tested from Korea were successfully identified using lectin binding patterns, but there were differences among strains of the same species (Fraga et al. 1998, Cho et al. 1999). Lectin binding patterns can differ between strains of the same species depending on origin and possibly physiological condition and therefore are not broadly useful as a monitoring tool.

Antibodies can be designed to bind to molecules (antigens) like glycoproteins, peptides, N-containing carbohydrates or toxins. Antibodies have been developed and used for identification of *P. pungens* and *P. multiseries*, but immunoassays are much more commonly used to detect DA in shellfish and water samples (Bates et al. 1993b, Vrieling et al. 1996, Rhodes et al. 1998a).

DNA probes for detecting species have been targeted at small subunit (SSU), large subunit (LSU) and internal transcribed spacer (ITS) regions of rRNA. There are several types of rRNA targeted probes: whole-cell hybridization (labeling of intact cells), fluorescent in-situ hybridization (FISH), sandwich hybridization (measuring DNA in cell homogenate) and PCR methods (PCR replication of targeted genome). New Zealand is the first country to use molecular probes for routine harmful algal bloom (HAB) monitoring and risk assessment (Rhodes et al. 1998a). Design of these probes depends on obtaining rRNA sequences with

desired specificity. This can be a challenge for *Pseudo-nitzschia*, a group with high intra- and interspecific variability. Whole cell fluorescent LSU targeted probes have been developed for identifying P. australis, P. pungens, P. multiseries, P. heimii, P. fraudulenta, P. delicatissima, P. pseudodelicatissima and *P. americana* in cultures originating from the west coast of the United States (Miller & Scholin 1996). These probes were then used to develop whole cell and sandwich hybridization methods for detection of species in natural samples at near real-time (Scholin et al. 1997, Miller & Scholin 1998). Probes for P. multiseries, P. pungens, P. fraudulenta and P. delicatissima have been used successfully in the Gulf of Mexico, US west coast, the Wadden Sea and Korean waters (Miller & Scholin 1996, Vrieling et al. 1996, Miller & Scholin 1998, Parsons et al. 1999, Cho et al. 2002). However, not all rRNA probes work in all regions. The probe designed to work on *P. pseudodelicatissima* from the west coast of the United States did not work on P. pseudodelicatissima in samples from the Gulf of Mexico (Parsons et al. 1999). This could be because of high genetic variability within the *P. pseudodelicatissima* group, which was later divided into additional species based on morphological and molecular analysis (Lundholm et al. 2003). Designing *Pseudo-nitzschia* species-specific probes in some regions, like the Chesapeake Bay, are particularly challenging because of high variability within morphologically defined species (H. Bowers pers. comm). In some regions, like the Gulf of Naples, genus-specific probes based on clone libraries have been used to successfully separate species, with multiple probes used to identify *P. delicatissima* and *P. pseudodelicatissima*, two morphologically

defined species that probably include cryptic species (McDonald et al. 2007). RNA-based detection methods are particularly useful when strain differences and cryptic species are important.

After determining the abundance and species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* present, further management decisions can be made. Some countries use "trigger levels" of abundance to initiate shellfish sampling. In New Zealand, when Pseudo*nitzschia* is > 50% of total phytoplankton, a concentration of 5 X 10⁴ cells L⁻¹ will trigger shellfish sampling. When *Pseudo-nitzschia* is < 50% of total phytoplankton, a concentration of 10^5 cell L⁻¹ will trigger shellfish sampling. DA is quantified by HPLC and UV detection. If shellfish contain more than 20 mg kg⁻¹DA, harvesting is stopped until three consecutive samples spaced out over at least 2 weeks have $< 20 \text{ mg DA kg}^{-1}$ (Todd 2003). Countries with limits for DA in shellfish are Canada, USA, New Zealand, Chile, Peru and EU member states. The limit is 20 mg kg⁻¹ edible meat. A limit of 30 mg DA kg⁻¹ in cooked viscera of Dungeness crab has been set by the FDA in the United States. In order to minimize economic impact of DA contamination, the EU allows harvest of scallops with whole body burdens of DA between 20 and 250 mg kg⁻¹ if they are sold after total removal of the hepatopancreas (Fernandez et al. 2003).

Summary

Twenty years ago, an outbreak of food poisoning in Canada made *Pseudonitzschia* the first known toxic diatom. Since that time, our increased

understanding of DA and *Pseudo-nitzschia* has prevented additional ASP outbreaks and led to new ideas about diatom physiology. Molecular methods are promising new innovations in *Pseudo-nitzschia* taxonomy, biogeography and functional diversity. New DA quantification methods are decreasing analytical limits of detection and enabling detailed physiological studies. Management plans have been developed using these technologies to prevent ASP outbreaks with minimal economic loss. However, DAP events have occurred multiple times and show no sign of being controlled. Despite 20 years of research, further work is needed to fully understand *Pseudo-nitzschia* taxonomy, ecology and physiology.

Research Questions and Approaches

Detailed regional studies are an important source of information on *Pseudo-nitzschia* ecology and distribution. The Chesapeake Bay is one of the largest estuaries in the United States, which hosts a large human and water fowl population and multiple fisheries. Many types of harmful algae can be found in the Chesapeake, including *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Very little research has been conducted on mid-Atlantic estuarine *Pseudo-nitzschia* despite evidence of toxicity in regional isolates. Monitoring of potentially harmful algae by Maryland state government does not include examination by electron microscopy or toxin analysis. The first objective of this thesis was a regional survey of *Pseudo-nitzschia* species and DA in the Chesapeake Bay to fill a gap in knowledge and improve harmful algae monitoring in the area (Chapter 2).

Physiological studies testing many strains are important for assessing intra- and interspecies variation, genetic variation and functional diversity. Many *Pseudo-nitzschia* studies test only one strain and extrapolate results to all species and strains. Functional diversity between strains in growth rate, nutrient uptake and toxin production can vary widely. This functional diversity could indicate the presence of cryptic species or ecotypes within a regional population.

Understanding this variability is an important part of applying culture studies to natural populations and describing *Pseudo-nitzschia* ecology. Thus the second objective was characterization of inter- and intraspecies (strain) differences in growth rate and toxicity of *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Chapter 3).

An important, yet poorly understood part of *Pseudo-nitzschia* physiology is DA production. *Pseudo-nitzschia* is found globally, but is common and toxic during periods of low temperature and fluctuating irradiance such as spring, fall and in upwelling zones. Could *Pseudo-nitzschia* reduce nitrate as an adaptation to cold water environments similar to other diatoms found under similar conditions? How would this increase in NO₃⁻ reduction and change in photosynthetic energy flow affect DA production? An increased understanding of toxin production physiology would not only aid in the prediction and mitigation of toxic blooms, but add to knowledge of diatom biology and cellular processes. The third objective of this thesis was to test two hypotheses: that nitrogen metabolism in *Pseudo-nitzschia* can be used as an adaptation to rapid light fluctuations in a cold environment and that this adaptation affects DA production (Chapter 4).

A survey of *Pseudo-nitzschia* species and DA in the field, an assessment of intra- and interspecies differences and an investigation of DA production during periods of decoupled photosynthesis and growth are an important part of understanding the taxonomy and ecophysiology of *Pseudo-nitzschia* in an estuarine environment such as the Chesapeake Bay.

Species	Reference
Amphora coffeaeformis	Shimizu et al. 1989
Nitzschia navis-varingica	Kotaki et al. 2000
Pseudo-nitzschia australis	Fritz et al. 1992
P. calliantha	Martin et al. 1990
P. cuspidata	Bill et al. 2005
P. delicatissima	Smith et al. 1991
P. fraudulenta	Rhodes et al. 1998b
P. galaxiae	Cerino et al. 2005
P. multiseries	Bates et al. 1989
P. multistriata	Rhodes et al. 2000
P. psuedodelicatissima	Lundholm et al. 1997
P. pungens	Rhodes et al. 1996
P. seriata	Lundholm et al. 1994
P. turgidula	Rhodes et al. 1996

 Table 1.1 Diatoms with documented domoic acid production

Table 1.2: Species l	known to ingest Pseu	ido-nitzschia and/or becom	ne contaminated with domoic a	cid
Org	anism			
Common Name	Scientific Name	Location	Evidence	Kererence
Protists				
Dinoflagellate	Gyrodinium sp.	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules in fecal pellets	Buck et al. 2005
Dinoflagellate	Noctiluca scintillans	NW Spain	cells in food vacuoles	Escalera et al. 2007
Dinoflagellate	Protoperidinium spp.	Oslofjord, Norway	abundances of <i>Protoperidinium</i> spp. tracked abundances of <i>Pseudo-</i> <i>nitzschia</i>	Kjært et al. 2000
Echinoderms				
Sand dollar	Dendraster excentricus	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in tissue	Goldberg 2003
Mollusks				
Olive snail	Olivella biplicata	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in tissue	Goldberg 2003
Channeled basket whelk	Nassarius fossatus	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in tissue	Goldberg 2003
Mussel	Mytilus californianus	San Diego, CA	DA in tissue	Busse et al. 2006
Mussel	Mytilus galloprovincialis	Riá de Muros, Spain	DA in tissue	Blanco et al. 2002
Blue mussel	Mytilus edulis	New Brunswick, Canada; Nantucket Shoals; Georges Bank; Washington coast; Japan and Aviero Lagoon, Portugal	DA in tissue, fed on <i>Pseudo- nitzschia</i> in the lab and accumulated DA	Haya et al. 1991, Wohlgeschaffen et al. 1992, Douglas et al. 1997, Horner and Postel 1993, Kawatsu and Hamano 2000, Vale and Sampayo 2001

Table 1.2 cont.				
Org	nism	- ocation	Evidence	Deference
Common Name	Scientific Name	LOCALIOLI	EVIGENCE	
Mollusks				
Greenshell mussel	Perna canaliculus	New Zealand	fed on <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> in lab and accumulated DA	Mackenzie et al. 1993
Horse mussel	Modiolus modiolus	Atlantic Canada	DA in tissue	Gilgan et al. 1990
Rock mussels		Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2001
Mediterranean cockle	Acanthocardia tuberculatum	Algarve, Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2001
Common cockle	Cerastoderma edule	Mondego estuary and Aveiro Lagood, Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2001
King scallops	Pecten maximus	Scotland	DA in tissue	Smith et al. 2006, Campbell et al. 2003
Scallop	Placopecten magellanicus	New Brunswick, Canada	DA in tissue, fed on <i>Pseudo-</i> <i>nitzschia</i> in the lab and accumulated DA	Haya et al. 1991, Wohlgeschaffen et al. 1992, Douglas et al. 1997
Sea scallop		Eastport, Maine	DA in digestive gland	Shumway 1989
Soft-shell clams	Mya arenaria	New Brunswick, Canada; Atlantic Canada	DA in tissue	Haya et al. 1991, Gilgan et al. 1990
Razor clams	Siliqua patula	California/Washington/ Oregon coasts	DA in tissue	Horner et al. 1993, Horner and Postel 1993, Wekell et al. 1994
Razor clam	Ensis spp.	Aveiro Lagoon, Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2002
Clam	Ruditapes decussata	Aveiro Lagoon, Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2002

Orga	nism			
Common Name	Scientific Name	LOCALIOI	EVIGENCE	Veleience
Mollusks				
Carpet shell	Venerupis pullastra	Aveiro Lagoon, Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2002
European flat oyster	Ostrea edulis	Aveiro Lagoon, Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2002
Pacific Oyster	Crassostrea gigas	Puget Sound, WA	DA in tissue	Horner and Postel 1993
Common octopus	Octopus vulgaris	Portugese coast	DA in gut, digestive gland, brachial heart	Costa et al. 2004
Squid	Loligo opalescens	Monterey Bay, CA	DA is tissues, frustules in stomach	Bargu et al. 2007
Common cuttlefish	Sepia officinalis	Portugese coast	DA in digestive gland	Costa et al. 2005
Annelids				
Polychaete worm	Poebius meseres	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules found in gut	Uttal and Buck 1996, Buck et al. 1992
Echiurans				
Fat innkeeper worm	Urechis caupo	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in tissue	Goldberg 2003
Crustaceans				
Sand crab	Emerita analoga	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in tissue	Goldberg 2003
Swimming crab	Polybius henslowii	Portugese coast	DA in viscera, tissue	Costa et al. 2003
Blue band hermit crab	Pagurus samuelis	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in tissue	Goldberg 2003
Blue crab	Callinectes sapidus	US Pacific Coast	DA in tissue	Altwein et al. 1995

cont.
\mathcal{O}
7
le
ab
H

Orga	nism		7	
Common Name	Scientific Name	LOCATION	Evidence	Kelerence
Crustaceans				
Rock crab	Cancer pagurus	US Pacific Coast	DA in tissue	Altwein et al. 1995
Dungeness crab	Cancer magister	California/ Oregon/ Washington coasts	DA in tissue	Horner and Postel 1993, Wekell et al. 1994
Stone crab	Menippe adina	US Pacific Coast	DA in tissue	Altwein et al. 1995
Ghost shrimp	Callianassa californiensis	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in tissue	Goldberg 2003
Copepod	Acartia tonsa		grazed on and accumulated DA in the lab	Lincoln et al. 2001
Copepod	Acartia clausi		grazed on <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> in the lab, accumulated DA in tissues	Maneiro et al. 2005
Copepod	Temora longicornis		grazed on and accumulated DA in the lab	Lincoln et al. 2001, Windust 1992
Copepod	Calanus glacialis		grazed on <i>Pseudo-nitzschia</i> in the lab	Windust 1992
Krill	Euphausia pacifica	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules in gut and DA in tissue	Bargu et al. 2002, Bargu and Silver 2003
Spiny lobster	Palinurus elephas	US Pacific Coast	DA in tissue	Altwein et al. 1995
Gooseneck barnacles	Pollicipes pollicipes	Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2002
Fishes				
Northern Anchovey	Engraulis mordax	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in gut, DA in tissues	Fritz et al. 1992, Work et al. 1993a, Lefebvre et al. 1999, Lefebvre et al. 2002, Scholin et al. 2000, Wekell et al. 1994

cont.	
I.2	
Table	

1 4000 112 00111				
Orgá	anism			
Common Name	Scientific Name	- Location	Evidence	Kelerence
Fishes				
European anchovy	Engraulis encrasicolus	Portugal	DA in tissue	Vale and Sampayo 2002
Mackerel	Scomber japonicus	Cabo San Lucas, Mexico; Monterey Bay, CA, San Diego, CA	frustules and DA in gut	Sierra-Beltran et al. 1997, Lefebvre et al. 2002, Busse et al. 2006
Jack mackerel	Trachurus symmetricus	San Diego, CA	DA in viscera	Busse et al. 2006
Herring		Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in gut	Naar et al. 2002
Sardine	Sardinops sagax	Baja California peninsula	frustules and DA in gut	Sierra-Beltran et al. 1998, Lefebvre et al. 2002
Atlantic sardine	Sardina pilchardus	Portugese and Namibian coast	frustules and DA in gut, DA in tissues	Costa and Garrido 2004, Vale and Sampayo 2002, Doucette pers. comm.
Pacific sanddab	Citharichthys sordidus	Monterey Bay, CA, San Diego, CA,	DA in viscera and tissue	Lefebvre et al. 2002, Busse et al. 2006, Goldberg 2003
Albacore	Thunnas alalunga	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in viscera	Lefebvre et al. 2002
Jack smelt	Atherinopsis californiensis	Monterey Bay, CA	DA in viscera	Lefebvre et al. 2002
Longspine combfish	Zaniolepis Iatipinnus	San Diego, CA	DA in viscera	Busse et al. 2006

Table 1.2 cont.

I UDIE 1.2 CONI.				
Orge	anism			
Common Name	Scientific Name	- Location	Evidence	Kelefence
Birds				
Brown pelican	Pelecanus occidentalis	Monterey Bay, CA; Cabo San Lucas, Mexico	frustules and DA in gut, death, neurological disorder	Fritz et al. 1992, Work et al. 1993ab, Sierra-Beltran et al. 1997
Brandt's cormorant	Phalacrocorax penicillatus	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in gut, death, neurological disorder	Fritz et al. 1992, Work et al. 1993ab
Double-crested cormorant	Phalacrocorax auritus	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in gut, death, neurological disorder	Fritz et al. 1992, Work et al. 1993ab
Pelagic cormorant	Phalacrocorax pelagicus	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in gut, death, neurological disorder	Fritz et al. 1992, Work et al. 1993ab
Western gull	Larus occidentalis	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in gut, death, neurological disorder	Fritz et al. 1992, Work et al. 1993ab
King penguin	Aptenodytes forsteri	Kentucky Zoo	death, frustules and DA in their food	Naar et al. 2002
Common loon	Gavia immer	Baja California peninsula	death	Sierra-Beltran et al. 1998
Mammals				
Common dolphin	Delphinus capensis	Baja California peninsula	frustules in gut, DA in tissues, brain lesions, death	Sierra-Beltran et al. 1998
Humpback whale	Megaptera novaeangliae	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in feces	Lefebvre et al. 2002
Blue whale	Balaenoptera musculus	Monterey Bay, CA	frustules and DA in feces	Lefebvre et al. 2002
Right Whale	Eubalaena glacialis	North Atlantic	DA present in body	Bates and Trainer 2006
California Sea lion	Zalophus californianus	Monterey Bay, CA	death, neurological disorder, frustules and DA in feces, DA in body fluids	Scholin et al. 2000, Gulland et al. 2002

Table 1.2 cont.

1 4010 1.2 CUM.				
Orga	nism			
Common Name	Scientific Name		Evidence	Kelelence
Mammals				
Southern Sea Otter	Enhydra lutris nereis	California coast	DA in urine	Kreuder et al. 2003
Human	Homo sapiens	Prince Edward Island, Canada	death, neurological disorder, DA in food, brain lesions	Perl et al. 1990, Teitelbaum et al. 1990, Cendes et al. 1995

cont.	
1.2	
Table	
Figure 1.1 Diagram showing diatom frustule morphology: A) Broad girdle view and valve view. B) Cross-sectional view of *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. and *Nitzschia* spp. for comparison. Note the differences in the raphe. Created using information from Hasle and Syvertsen (1996).





Figure 1.2 World map showing the global distribution of *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. Symbols outlined in blue indicate the report was made before a major taxonomic revision of the species. References used to create map are listed in Appendix A.



Figure 1.3 Diagram showing DA biosynthesis inside the cell. Enzymes are in red. Products are in blue. The * indicates the enzyme contains Fe. Created using information from Pillay (2006), Douglas et al. (1994), Laycock et al. (1989), Ramsey et al. (1998) and Stryer (1995).



Chapter 2: Distribution, abundance and domoic acid analysis of the toxic diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* from the Chesapeake Bay

Abstract

Very little research has been conducted on mid-Atlantic estuarine populations of the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia* despite recent evidence of toxicity in regional isolates. We collected field samples from the Chesapeake Bay region from 2002 to 2006 for Pseudo-nitzschia enumeration and toxin analyses. Abundances of *Pseudo-nitzschia* were highest in the winter and spring at $\sim 10^3$ cells mL⁻¹. Domoic acid was detectable in 46% of samples tested, but concentrations were generally low, ranging from 4 to 1037 pg DA mL⁻¹. Although *Pseudo-nitzschia* populations were observed year round when salinity was \geq 5, populations were highest from February to May when temperatures were low (2-15°C) and salinity relatively high (\geq 10). Six species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* were identified via transmission electron microscopy of the samples: P. pungens (Grunow ex P. T. Cleve) Hasle, P. calliantha, P. subpacifica (Hasle) Hasle, P. cuspidata (Hasle) Hasle emend. Lundholm, Moestrup et Hasle, P. fraudulenta and P. multiseries. P. calliantha was the most common and not previously reported from the Chesapeake Bay. Of these species, P. pungens, P. calliantha, P. cuspidata, P. fraudulenta and P. multiseries are known to produce DA.

Introduction

Pseudo-nitzschia is a diatom genus known to produce the excitatory neurotoxin, domoic acid (DA), causing Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning (ASP) in humans and Domoic Acid Poisoning (DAP) in marine mammals and birds. *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms are common in coastal waters, but were recognized as being potentially toxic only 20 years ago (Bates et al. 1989). Although *Pseudo-nitzschia* is found world-wide, toxic events have been reported from only a few geographic regions, specifically: Atlantic Canada and the west coast of North America (Perl et al. 1990, Fritz et al. 1992, Sierra-Beltrán et al. 1998, Scholin et al. 2000). There have been numerous reports of domoic acid (DA) in shellfish above the regulatory limit of 20 μ g g⁻¹ from the Atlantic and the Pacific since 1987. It is not known if this is because toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* are becoming more abundant, conditions are becoming more conducive to DA production, or if DA was previously unrecognized or underreported in some regions.

Eight species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* have previously been identified in the Chesapeake Bay by light and electron microscopy (Hasle 1965, Marshall 1980, 1994, Marshall et al. 2005). In reports and databases from the Maryland Department of Natural Resources (MD DNR) phytoplankton monitoring program (where samples are analyzed by light microscopy only), *Pseudo-nitzschia* species are reported as either *P. seriata* or *P. pungens* (W. Butler, pers. comm.). *Pseudonitzschia* species in the Chesapeake were generally assumed to be non-toxic, and as a result there has been relatively little research on this genus in this region. However, data now demonstrate that regional isolates do produce domoic acid (Thessen et al. 2003).

Potentially toxic algae should be monitored in estuaries which have complex plankton dynamics and are subject to long term change and episodic events, even if these species have not previously caused a toxic event in the area. Seasonal variation in Chesapeake Bay planktonic communities is driven by

salinity, nutrients and light availability (Fisher et al. 1999, Roman et al. 2005). Interannual variation is in part a result of changes in freshwater discharge (Roman et al. 2005, Zhang et al. 2006). Both time scales of variation can be affected in the long term by eutrophication (Kemp et al. 2005) and climate change (Najjar et al. 2000) and by episodic events like hurricanes (Miller et al. 2006a).

Under the current climate regime and eutrophic conditions the chlorophyll *a* maximum in the Chesapeake occurs in spring (Harding 1994, Zhang et al. 2006). In the mesohaline and oligohaline region of the Bay this spring chlorophyll *a* peak represents an increase in diatoms, particularly *Skeletonema potamos, S. costatum, Cerataulina pelagica* and *Dactyliosolen fragilissimus* (Marshall et al. 2005). The spring diatom bloom can start as early as mid winter and continue into late spring with chlorophytes, cyanobacteria and cryptomonads increasing in abundance as the diatoms decline (Marshall et al. 2005). Eutrophication and climate forcing can change the spring bloom in the Chesapeake (Harding 1994, Miller & Harding 2007).

The Chesapeake Bay region's large human population, multiple fisheries and aquatic bird populations (Robbins & Bystrak 1977, Houde et al. 1999, Kemp et al. 2005) make it potentially vulnerable to ASP and DAP. It is important to document the occurrence of *Pseudo-nitzschia*, its spatial and temporal distribution and toxicity in order to assess the potential for toxic events in the region and where or when they might occur. We determined *Pseudo-nitzschia* species distribution, abundance, toxicity and relationship to season, salinity and temperature. These data are used to assess the potential for a toxic event in the Chesapeake Bay area, to present a better understanding of the ecology of *Pseudo-nitzschia* species in the Chesapeake Bay region and contribute to the knowledge of *Pseudo-nitzschia* biogeography.

Materials and Methods

Water samples were collected throughout the Chesapeake Bay and selected locations along the Delmarva Atlantic Coast during the fall, winter and spring from 2002 to 2007 for *Pseudo-nitzschia* enumeration, species identification and toxin analysis (Fig. 2.1). Samples were collected from the surface and below the pycnocline, if present. Most samples were collected by MD DNR as part of their routine monitoring program. Additional samples were collected by A. E. T. or D. K. S. (HPL; Table 2.1). Average freshwater flow per month was calculated from data collected by the United States Geological Survey at the Connewingo Dam on the Susquehanna River, a large tributary to the Chesapeake Bay (www.usgs.gov).

MD DNR routinely monitors water quality and phytoplankton throughout the year (www.chesapeakebay.net). During fall, winter and spring (2004-2007) additional samples were collected specifically for *Pseudo-nitzschia* enumeration, species identification and DA analysis. During summer, when historical MD DNR data has shown *Pseudo-nitzschia* species to be low in abundance, specific samples for *Pseudo-nitzschia* analyses were not collected. We relied on data from the MD DNR database for summer *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance. MD DNR collected water samples from all depths by pump for preservation in acid Lugol's

and enumeration with the Utermohl method (Hasle 1978). Salinity and temperature were measured with a Hydrolab sonde (Hach Company, Loveland, Colorado). Our laboratory collected surface samples with a bucket and samples at depth with a 10 L Niskin bottle either from a dock or small boat. Salinity and temperature data were collected with a CTD or a YSI 63.

The samples collected specifically for *Pseudo-nitzschia* analysis (100 mL; collected by MD DNR or the authors) were fixed with 0.5% gluteraldehyde (final concentration) for enumeration to genera via epifluorescence microscopy (Nikon Eclipse E800, excitation 450-490 nm, dichromatic beam splitter 500 nm, barrier filter 515 nm, Nikon filter set EF-4 B-2A; Guillard & Sieracki 2005) and morphological identification to species via transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Our limit of detection with epifluorescence was 4 cells mL⁻¹.

In 2003-2007, samples for DA analysis (300 mL) were collected and filtered through Whatman GF/F filters within a few hours. Both filter and filtrate were stored at -80°C in the dark. Only samples that were found to contain *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. via epifluorescent microscopy were processed for domoic acid via ELISA. Only samples that were shown to contain particulate DA were processed for dissolved DA. DA was quantified via an ASP cELISA test kit from Biosense Laboratories capable of processing a maximum of 36 samples per kit (Bergen, Norway; Garthwaite et al. 1998). Each assay has a limit of quantitation (LOQ) and a limit of detection (LOD = 1/3 LOQ). Values below the LOQ and above the LOD are considered positive for DA, but semi-quantitative.

Samples with *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances above 100 cells mL⁻¹ were processed for TEM. Frustules were too sparse for identification at lower abundances. For morphological identification, we used the following method from Lundholm et al. (2002a). A 10 mL aliquot was removed from the preserved sample and digested using 2 mL of 30% H₂SO₄ and 10 mL of a saturated KMnO₄ solution in a 100 mL Erlenmeyer flask. The flask was covered with parafilm and swirled periodically throughout the digestion. After 24 hours, a saturated oxalic acid solution was added until the sample became transparent. Samples were rinsed 3-4 times with distilled, deionized water and pelleted via centrifugation. The pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of water. One drop was placed on a 200 µm mesh Copper grid with a formvar film. TEM was used to identify species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* based on frustule morphology by taking measurements of images on photographic negatives (Skov et al. 1999; Lundholm et al. 2002a,b; Lundholm & Moestrup 2002; Hasle & Lundholm 2005).

Temperature, salinity, freshwater flow and *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance data from 2002 to 2006 were analyzed by Spearman's rank correlation at the 5% level (SPLUS®, version 6, Insightful Corporation, Seattle, WA, USA). Data was analyzed by season and year.

Results

We identified six species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* via TEM in field samples collected from 31 stations in Maryland, Virginia and Delaware waters: *P. calliantha*, *P. fraudulenta*, *P. pungens*, *P. subpacifica*, *P. cuspidata* and *P.*

multiseries (Table 2.1). The most common was *P. calliantha* which occurred at 15 out of 31 stations ranging in salinity from 32 on the Atlantic coast of Maryland (Station 29) to ~10 in the upstream portion of the Choptank River (Station 15; Table 2.1). The second most abundant taxon was *P. fraudulenta* which occurred at five out of 31 stations from the Atlantic coast of Maryland (Station 30, salinity 32) to the mesohaline Bay (Station 2, salinity 15; Table 2.1). *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* was also detected on the Atlantic Coast of Maryland and Delaware (Stations 25 and 29, salinity 32) and in the mesohaline portion of the Chesapeake Bay (Station 3, salinity 15; Table 2.1). *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* was detected on the Atlantic Coast of Maryland and Delaware (Station 3, salinity 15; Table 2.1). *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* was detected on the Atlantic Coast of Maryland and Delaware (Station 3, salinity 15; Table 2.1). *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* was detected on the Atlantic Coast of Maryland and Delaware (Station 3, salinity 15; Table 2.1). *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* was detected on the Atlantic Coast of Maryland (Station 30, salinity 32) and in the Choptank River (Station 16, salinity 20; Table 2.1). *Pseudo-nitzschia cuspidata* and *P. subpacifica* were both found near Tangier Sound in the mesohaline portion of the Chesapeake Bay (Stations 9 and 10, salinity 15-20; Table 2.1).

Samples were collected during fall, winter and spring from 31 stations in three states and found *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. present at all but three stations however, not in a dense, monospecific bloom. In general, abundances were highest in early to mid-spring, corresponding to the annual diatom bloom (Malone et al. 1988). Maximum *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance was 6254 cells mL⁻¹ in the Pocomoke Sound in April of 2004 (Fig. 2.2; Station 20). *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances and species varied among stations (Table 2.1). Some stations (e.g. 5) had detectable *Pseudo-nitzschia* via epifluorescence microscopy, but had less than the 100 cells mL⁻¹ needed for morphological identification via TEM. The routinely sampled stations where *Pseudo-nitzschia* was present most frequently

were 14 (63%) at the mouth of the Patuxent River, 9 (56%) in Tangier Sound, 17 (55%) at the mouth of the Choptank River, 4 (32%) in the middle of the Chesapeake Bay and 7 (30%) near the mouth of the Potomac River (Table 2.1; Figure 2.1).

Although many of our samples contained *Pseudo-nitzschia*, most did not contain detectable and quantifiable DA (Fig. 2.3). DA concentrations in field samples that tested positive ranged from 3.9 pg DA mL⁻¹ in a Maryland coastal bay in November of 2004 (station 31) to 1037.2 pg DA mL⁻¹ on the Atlantic Coast of Maryland in March of 2004 (station 29). Sixty-two percent of the toxin samples processed from station 4 in mid-Chesapeake Bay were positive for DA as were 41% of the samples processed from station 3 in the upper Chesapeake Bay (Table 2.1; Fig 2.1). Species present in samples with detectable DA were *P. calliantha*, *P. fraudulenta*, *P. subpacifica* and *P. pungens*.

Salinity and temperature varied seasonally at all stations except 1, where salinity was 0 year round (Figs. 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8). Temperature dipped below 5°C in winter with a minimum in January or February and surpassed 25°C in summer with a peak in July or August. Salinity varied widely between stations from station 1 with a salinity of 0 to station 23 with salinity above 30. Winter was characterized by a period of relatively low temperature (\leq 5°C) and relatively high salinity (> 10) at stations where percent frequency of *Pseudo-nitzschia* was highest.

According to data collected by MD DNR, summer months had the lowest *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances. Only 25% of samples collected by MD DNR during summer months from 1984 to 1994 contained any *Pseudo-nitzschia* and only 3% of those samples had concentrations \geq 1000 cells mL⁻¹. From September to January, *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances gradually increased (Fig. 2.9). Abundances were highest from February to May (\geq 1000 cells mL⁻¹) with the highest value recorded in April. DA concentrations were highest from December to March with the highest value recorded in March (Fig. 2.9).

Spearman's rank correlation shows a statistically significant association of *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances with lower temperature and higher salinity during spring and fall and during the years 2002, 2004 and 2006. High *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances were correlated with higher salinity in winter and lower temperatures in 2005. *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances were not significantly correlated with salinity or temperature in 2003 or 2007 (Table 2.2). Seasonally, flow did not significantly correlate with *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance. In 2002 and 2007 flow was negatively correlated with abundance while in 2004 and 2005 the opposite was true. In 2003 and 2006 there was no significant relationship (Table 2.2).

Discussion

Pseudo-nitzschia is a potentially toxic diatom that occurs in the Chesapeake Bay and its abundance responds to temperature and salinity. These results are quite similar to previous distributions noted in other systems. The association of high *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances with low temperatures and high

salinity is similar to the pattern for *P. calliantha* in the Adriatic Sea (Caroppo et al. 2005) and *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. on the West Coast of the United States (Trainer et al. 2000). *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. in our study area were not found at salinity below 5 and temperature above 21°C (Fig. 2.10). This is consistent with laboratory growth experiments showing a lower salinity at ~6 (Thessen et al. 2005). Out of 533 samples collected, 132 (25%) fell outside these salinity (5) and temperature (21°C) limits. None of these samples contained *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. However, out of the other 401 samples collected above 5 salinity and below 21°C, only 32% contained *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. These results argue for a relatively broad tolerance of both salinity and temperature for *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the field. The statistical data (Table 2.2) indicate that low temperature and high salinity will favor high *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances, but the generally low (<0.5 or >-0.5) correlation coefficients (ρ) suggest a weak dependence on these environmental variables.

The temperature and salinity limits on *Pseudo-nitzschia* presence can be seen geographically in Chesapeake Bay circulation patterns. The percent frequency of *Pseudo-nitzschia* occurrence at regularly sampled stations along the mainstem of the Chesapeake Bay increased with salinity toward the mouth of the estuary (Table 2.1; Figure 2.1). *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances are higher on the saltier eastern shore of the Chesapeake than the western shore (Boicourt et al. 1999; Fig. 2.2). Annual variation in *Pseudo-*nitzschia abundance can partially be explained by temperature and salinity dynamics at the individual stations (Figs.

2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8) with high abundances occurring when and where temperatures are relatively low and salinity is relatively high.

The statistical relationships between flow and *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance indicate a more complicated relationship between these two factors than between abundance and temperature or salinity. The negative correlation in 2002 reflects the correlation between abundance and salinity, since lower freshwater flow means higher salinity in the Chesapeake. The positive correlations in 2004 and 2005 suggest a relationship between abundance and nutrient loading from the Susquehanna River since *Pseudo-nitzschia* is known to respond to increased nutrients (Dortch et al. 1997). There is no significant relationship between flow and abundance in 2003 or 2006 (Table 2.2). Those are also years in which the range of flow did not exceed 1700 m³sec⁻¹ in consecutive months unlike the other years when the range of flow was as much as 2100 to 3100 m³sec⁻¹ (Fig. 2.11).

In general, *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance is greater near the mouth of a tributary and declines upriver (Fig. 2.2). However, this relationship was not observed in the Choptank River (Stations 15, 6, 16 and 17) where the maximum *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance at station 15 (intuitively, the station with lower salinity because it is farther upriver) is higher than the next downstream station 6 (Fig. 2.2). Since station 15 was sampled from 2002 to 2004 and station 6 was sampled from 2004 to 2007 we believe the data reflect salinity differences between the two sampling periods. A severe drought occurred during the 2002-2004 sampling period, so freshwater flow was less and therefore salinity was higher at station 15 from 2002-2004 than at station 6 from 2004-2007 (Reaugh et

al. 2007; Figs. 2.6 and 2.11). These data demonstrate the high potential for variability in the Chesapeake *Pseudo-nitzschia* population from one year to the next and the effect of precipitation and thus salinity on natural *Pseudo-nitzschia* populations.

Our survey found *P. calliantha*, a new species previously unreported in the Chesapeake Bay since its description from a redefinition of *P. pseudodelicatissima* (Lundholm et al. 2003). Therefore, reports of *P. pseudodelicatissima* in the Chesapeake Bay before 2003 could have been *P. calliantha* (Marshall 1994). Unfortunately, there are no micrographs available to support this hypothesis. Other previously reported species include *P. delicatissima*, *P. pungens*, *P. seriata*, *P. fraudulenta*, *P. subpacifica*, *P. cuspidata* and *P. multiseries* (Hasle 1965, Marshall 1980, 1994, Marshall et al. 2005).

DA detection in field water samples throughout the Chesapeake Bay was generally low; however, some of the same species reported here contain higher DA elsewhere (Bates et al. 1989, Martin et al. 1990, Rhodes et al. 1998b). Reasons for these differences include genetic differences (strain differences) and differing environmental controls. A comprehensive genetic characterization of populations in regions that frequently have high DA producing *Pseudo-nitzschia* and regions that have low or non-toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* would provide a valuable comparison. Further, once elucidated genetically, laboratory experiments with varying environmental conditions on these genotypes might provide insights into functional differences in the strains (Chapter 3, this thesis). Environmental control of DA content in the Chesapeake has several possibilities. The turbid waters of the Chesapeake Bay could block sufficient light energy for DA synthesis or the salinity regime in the Chesapeake could affect DA production. During spring and winter, when *Pseudo-nitzschia* are most likely to be abundant, irradiances in the mixed layer are below 100 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ necessary for maximum DA production (Bates 1998, Chapter 5 this thesis). Laboratory cultures of one strain of *P. multiseries* produced maximum levels of DA in salinities above 20 (Doucette et al. in press) which, in our study, are present only near the mouth of the Chesapeake. It is noteworthy that most ASP or DAP episodes have occurred in oceanic or near-oceanic environments (i.e., Prince Edward Island, California coast) and the highest DA levels per mL observed in our study occurred in higher salinity areas. These data suggest that *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances and toxicity could increase in the Chesapeake Bay during periods of low rainfall and increased salinity.

Climate change projections for the mid-Atlantic include an increase in temperature and freshwater discharge (Najjar 1999, Najjar et al. 2000). The increased freshwater flow is predicted to decrease salinity by as much as 27.5% near the mouth of the Susquehanna River and shift the current isohalines down bay by as much as 55 km (Gibson & Najjar 2000). While diatoms are favored during periods of high flow and low residence times (Paerl et al. 2006), a decrease in salinity and increase in temperature could reduce *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances in the Chesapeake. However, due to gravitational circulation (Boicourt et al. 1999), an increase in freshwater flow on the surface would cause saltier oceanic water, and presumably *Pseudo-nitzschia*, to be transported farther up estuary at depth.

The lack of a documented toxic event in the Chesapeake argues against making *Pseudo-nitzschia* a monitoring priority; however, having historical data on abundance and toxicity could prove valuable in the future. Current environmental conditions in the Chesapeake Bay area appear to be unfavorable to toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms, but these conditions may not remain constant due to cultural eutrophication and climate change. In addition, there is a possibility that toxic events or sublethal effects have occurred but are undocumented. Preliminary work suggests that subacute doses of domoic acid in infants and children have an adverse affect on mental development and memory, suggesting that doses too low to cause acute symptoms can still have an effect (Grattan et al. 2002). In addition, many of the over-wintering water fowl in the Chesapeake are seaducks, which are known to consume marine invertebrates, potential DA vectors (Perry et al. 2004). A rare or small toxic event involving these birds could be easily missed and go unreported (Shumway et al. 2003).

Our study did not include an assessment of DA accumulation and persistence in shellfish exposed to *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms (in field or laboratory), but that would be a logical next step since humans and animals have not become ill from DA in water or algae but are intoxicated through a shellfish or fish vector (Perl et al. 1990, Fritz et al. 1992, Scholin et al. 2000). Additionally, our data suggest that more saline coastal bay environments, like the Maryland, Virginia and Delaware coastal bays, a series of coastal lagoons

between the Chesapeake and the Atlantic, may be at greater risk for DAproducing *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms and potential shellfish contamination.

Chesapeake Bay *Pseudo-nitzschia* populations are dynamic, consisting of several species and exhibiting seasonal patterns and variation in their abundance from year to year that can be partially explained by changes in temperature and salinity. Some of this *Pseudo-nitzschia* produces DA although not at levels high enough to cause a toxic event. There have been no documented ASP or DAP events in the Chesapeake to date, but because of the dependence of *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances and toxicity on changing environmental conditions, current monitoring data could be useful in the future.

n ₂ ^c Samples with DA	0 0	2 2*	, 7 2*	14 9*	5 5*	2 0	8 0	0 0	22 9*	1 0	1 SL ^e	0 0	1 1	3 3*	0 0	,	3 1
Species present	none	P. calliantha, P. fraudulenta	P. pungens, P. calliantha	P. calliantha	ND^{d}	ND	P. calliantha	none	P. calliantha, P. subpacifica	P. cuspidata	P. calliantha	none	ND	P. calliantha	P. calliantha	P calliantha P multiseries	T UMMUMUM, I. I. MUMUMUM
Samples with Pn	0	3	6	16	٢	2	15	0	28	1	1	0	S	15	S	13)
n ₁ ^b	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	32	50	1	Τ	23	26	24	45	47	
Collected By	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	MD DNR	HPL	HPL	HPL	HPL	HPL	
Years Sampled	eptember 2004-May 2007	September 2004-May 2007	September 2004-May 2007	September 2004-May 2007	September 2004-May 2007	September 2004-May 2007	September 2004-May 2007	September 2004-May 2006	September 2004-May 2007	April 2005	April 2005	February 2002-June 2004	February 2002-June 2004	February 2002-June 2004	February 2002-June 2004	February 2002-June 2004	•
	\mathcal{I}		• •														

Table 2.1 Pseudo-nitzschia (Pn) and domoic acid sampling in the Chesapeake Bay region.

Station ^a	Years Sampled	Collected By	n ₁ ^b 5	Samples with Pn	Species present	n2 ^c	Samples with DA
19	November 2004	HPL	1	1	P. calliantha	1	0
20	April 2004	MD DNR	1	1	ND	1	1
21	October 2003	HPL	1	1	P. calliantha	1	0
22	November 2004	HPL	1	1	P. calliantha	1	1
23	November 2004	HPL	1	1	P. calliantha	1	SL
24	February 2006	HPL	1	1	ND	1	1*
25	February 2006	HPL	1	1	P. pungens	1	1*
26	February 2006	HPL	1	1	ND	1	0
27	February 2006	HPL	1	1	ND	1	1*
28	February 2006	HPL	1	1	P. fraudulenta	1	1*
29	March 2003	HPL	1	1	P. calliantha, P. pungens	1	1
30	March 2003	HPL	1	1	P. multiseries, P. fraudulenta	1	SL
31	November 2004	HPL	1	1	ND	1	1
^a Station locati	ons are given in Figure 2.1.						

^bn₁ is the total number of samples taken at that station.

^cn₂ is the total number of samples analyzed for DA. Only samples with *Pseudo-nitzschia* species abundances detectable with epifluorescent microscopy (limit of detection 4 cells mL⁻¹) were tested for domoic acid.

^dND indicates that none of the samples from that station contained *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances above the 100 cells mL⁻¹ needed for morphological identification via TEM.

^eSL indicates a sample lost during toxin analysis.

*Indicates stations with samples containing detectable domoic acid below the limit of quantitation

Table 2.1 cont.

	ten	np	sali	nity	flow		
	ρ	p value	ρ	p value	ρ	p value	
winter	-0.0045	0.9554	0.4108*	0.0000	0.0683	0.4032	
spring	-0.1743*	0.0067	0.2692*	0.0000	-0.0766	0.2343	
fall	-0.1864*	0.0309	0.1787*	0.0386	0.1284	0.2310	
2002	-0.6094*	0.0002	0.3601*	0.0265	-0.4312*	0.0078	
2003	-0.0733	0.6385	0.2446	0.1175	0.2548	0.1029	
2004	-0.2309*	0.0401	0.3194*	0.0045	0.2432*	0.0306	
2005	-0.2640*	0.0019	0.1586	0.0625	0.3215*	0.0002	
2006	-0.2951*	0.0002	0.3077*	0.0001	0.0644	0.5048	
2007	-0.1855	0.1081	0.1875	0.1045	-0.2470*	0.0348	

Table 2.2 Spearman's rank coefficient (ρ) for *Pseudo-nitzschia* species abundance and temperature (temp, °C), salinity or flow (m³s). Data were grouped and analyzed by season and year.

* Indicates significance at 0.05 level.



Figure 2.1 Map of the Chesapeake Bay region showing the 31 sampling stations.

Figure 2.2 Maximum abundances (cells mL⁻¹) of *Pseudo-nitzschia* species from 2002-2007 in the Chesapeake Bay region.



Figure 2.3 Maximum total concentrations of domoic acid in the particulate and dissolved fraction (pg DA mL⁻¹) from 2003-2007 in the Chesapeake Bay region.



Figure 2.4 Monthly surface temperature (open circles, °C) and salinity (closed squares) data for stations in the northern and mainstem Chesapeake Bay. Shaded areas indicate months when water samples were specifically collected for *Pseudo-nitzschia* enumeration and identification. Arrows indicate when samples contained >100 cells mL⁻¹ *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Station numbers are given in upper right corner and correspond to Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.5 Monthly surface temperature (open circles, °C) and salinity (closed squares) data for stations in tributaries of the Chesapeake Bay other than the Choptank and Patuxent Rivers. Shaded areas indicate months when water samples were collected for *Pseudo-nitzschia* enumeration and identification. Arrows indicate when samples contained >100 cells mL⁻¹ *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Station numbers are given in upper right corner and correspond to Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.6 Monthly surface temperature (open circles, °C) and salinity (closed squares) data for stations in the Choptank River. Shaded areas indicate months when water samples were collected for *Pseudo-nitzschia* enumeration and identification. Arrows indicate when samples contained >100 cells mL⁻¹ *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Station numbers are given in upper right corner and correspond to Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.7 Monthly surface temperature (open circles, °C) and salinity (closed squares) data for stations in the Patuxent River. Shaded areas indicate months when water samples were collected for *Pseudo-nitzschia* enumeration and identification. Arrows indicate when samples contained >100 cells mL⁻¹ *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Station numbers are given in upper right corner and correspond to Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.8 Monthly surface temperature (open circles, °C) and salinity (closed squares) data for stations in the Atlantic coast and coastal bays. Shaded areas indicate months when water samples were collected for *Pseudo-nitzschia* enumeration and identification. Arrows indicate when samples contained >100 cells mL⁻¹ *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Station numbers are given in upper right corner and correspond to Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.9 (A) Abundances (cells mL⁻¹) of *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. at all stations year-round. Data from September to May 2002-2007 are from our collections. Data in June, July and August were taken from MD DNR (www.chesapeakebay.net). (B) DA concentrations (pg mL⁻¹) at all stations year-round. In both panels, each filled circle represents one sample.



Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug



Month

Figure 2.10 Plot of temperature (°C) and salinity data collected from 2002 to 2007 during fall, winter and spring at stations throughout the Chesapeake Bay area. Size of filled diamond indicates abundance of *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. in orders of magnitude. Lines indicate minimum salinity limit and maximum temperature limit beyond which *Pseudo-nitzschia* do not occur in this study.



Figure 2.11 Plot of average monthly flow from the Susquehanna River through the Connewingo Dam (m³sec⁻¹) during the sampling period (January 2002 to May 2007). Vertical lines separate years.



Chapter 3: Intra- and interspecies differences in *Pseudo-nitzschia* growth and toxicity while utilizing different nitrogen sources

Abstract

Clonal cultures of plankton are widely used in laboratory experiments and have contributed greatly to knowledge of microbial systems. However, many physiological characteristics vary drastically between strains of the same species, calling into question our ability to make ecologically relevant inferences about populations based on studying one or a few strains. This study included nineteen strains of three species of the diatom Pseudo-nitzschia isolated primarily from the mid-Atlantic coastal region of the United States. Toxin (domoic acid) production and growth rates were measured in cultures using different nitrogen sources (NH_4^+, NO_3^-) and urea) and growth irradiances. The strains exhibited broad differences in growth rate and toxin content even between strains isolated from the same water sample. Both P. multiseries clones produced toxin, yet preferentially utilize different nitrogen sources. Only some of the P. calliantha and P. fraudulenta isolates were toxic and domoic acid content varied by orders of magnitude. All three species had variable intraspecies growth rates on each nitrogen source, but *P. fraudulenta* strains had the broadest range. Light-limited growth rate and maximum growth rate in P. fraudulenta and P. multiseries varied with species. These findings show the importance of defining intra- and interspecies variability in ecophysiology and toxicity. Ecologically relevant functional diversity in the form of ecotypes or cryptic species appears to be present in the genus Pseudo-nitzschia.

Introduction

Much of what we know about plankton physiology comes from experiments using laboratory cultures. Most *Pseudo-nitzschia* culture studies focus on *P. multiseries* with the results extrapolated to other species and strains (Bates 1998). However, broad species and strain differences have been well documented (Gallagher 1980, 1982, Elrifi & Turpin 1985, Goldman & Dennett 1985, Holmes et al. 1991, Wood & Leatham 1992, Larsen & Bryant 1998) and draw into question the validity of making conclusions about microalgal species physiology based on one or a few strains.

Such high variability between strains casts doubt on the species concept in microalgae in general. While the creation of a species is the result of a biological reality, secondary characteristics are used (frustule morphology, ribosomal genes) to detect and define them. Manhart and McCourt (1992) stated that:

"Practicing phycologists often seem to strive to delineate biological species while basing descriptions solely upon morphological data. The assumption is that morphological species closely approximate biological species of algae, but only rarely is this hypothesis tested. If species assignment is a hypothesis of relationship, then many (perhaps most) implicitly described biological species of algae represent untested hypotheses."

This implies a basic fault in microalgal species definitions which could explain high strain variability. However, Wood and Leatham (1992) argue that difficulties arise when culture studies involving only a few clones attempt to
define interspecies differences without assessing within species variation, not necessarily as the result of a fault in the species definition. The seemingly enormous number of isolates necessary to accurately define within species variation restricts the number of studies able to include such an analysis.

The alternative, making conclusions about a species based on one strain, would likely lead to erroneous results. Toxin production in 17 strains of Alexandrium tamarense showed broad differences in toxin production, the lowest approximating zero mouse units (MU) per 10^4 cells and the highest at 1.1 MU per 10^4 cells (Ogata et al. 1987). No one strain was representative of the species. Taking the analysis one step further, 15 sub-strains taken from one strain had a 0.6 MU per 10⁴ cells range in toxin production. An analysis of PSP toxin composition in two strains of A. tamarense showed one strain, SB31, produced mostly a sulfocarbamoyl derivative C2 while the other strain, SB32, produced mostly GTX3 and GTX4 (Cembella et al. 2002). Studies such as these show broad differences among strains and argue that finding one "representative" strain is highly unlikely if not impossible. Yet, an analysis of recent publications shows only 40% of studies that use culture experiments consider the possibility of significant strain differences when making conclusions (Burkholder & Glibert 2006).

Genetic variability in field populations and strains of *Pseudo-nitzschia* has been widely documented; however, physiological variability has not been as thoroughly investigated (Evans et al. 2004, Orsini et al. 2004). Many *Pseudonitzschia* culture studies present results from one strain (Bates et al. 1991,

94

Douglas & Bates 1992, Hillebrand & Sommer 1996, Pan et al. 1996a, b, Fehling et al. 2004, Armstrong Howard et al. 2007). Others compare one strain of multiple species (Jackson et al. 1992, Hargraves et al. 1993, Wang et al. 1993, Maldonado et al. 2002, Fehling et al. 2005). Most studies comparing multiple cultures of one species have focused on toxin production in *P. australis*, *P. seriata* or *P. multiseries* (Bates et al. 1989, Garrison et al. 1992, Douglas et al. 1993, Villac et al. 1993a, Lundholm et al. 1994, Bates et al. 1999) with one study investigating toxicity in *P. pseudodelicatissima* (Pan et al. 2001). Only four studies used multiple strains of the same species to investigate other physiological processes in addition to toxicity. With four strains of *P. multiseries* and two strains of *P. pungens*, Bates et al. (1993) analyzed the effect of NO_3^- and NH_4^+ on growth and toxin production. Lundholm et al. (2004) employed two strains of *P. multiseries* to study the effect of pH on growth and toxin production. Bates et al. (1995) used three strains of *P. multiseries* to examine the role of bacteria in domoic acid (DA) production. Thessen et al. (2005) studied two strains of P. delicatissima, two strains of *P. multiseries* and three strains of *P. pseudodelicatissima* to assess the effect of salinity on growth rate.

The meaning of high intraspecific genetic diversity in natural populations is controversial (Fenchel 2005, Foissner 2006). High genetic diversity in some protist taxa has been considered an indicator of cryptic species and functional diversity (Dolan 2005, Foissner 2006, Scheckenbach et al. 2006). Others argue that variation in rRNA is an accumulation of neutral mutations that does not correlate with physiology or show biogeographic patterns (Fenchel 2005). However, there have been populations of microalgae comprised of distinct physiological or genetic groupings which showed dynamic seasonal abundances. The presence of multiple ecotypes has been demonstrated in populations of *Skeletonema costatum* in Narragansett Bay (Gallagher 1980, 1982). These ecotypes have different physiological characters, making them better adapted to different environmental conditions resulting in a succession of ecotypes throughout the year. Similar results have been found with *Ditylum brightwellii* in Puget Sound (Rynearson et al. 2006). Reproductively isolated cryptic variants within *P. delicatissima* and *P. pseudodelicatissima* have been identified using morphology, genetic sequences and mating experiments (Amato et al. 2007). The ecological significance of this diversity is not well understood.

This paper is a presentation of strain differences between three species of *Pseudo-nitzschia*: *P. multiseries*, *P. fraudulenta* and *P. calliantha* for growth rate, toxin production, nitrogen use and saturating growth irradiance. It is also the first presentation of genetic and toxin data from Chesapeake Bay area *Pseudo-nitzschia* strains.

Materials and Methods

Culture isolation, identification and maintenance

Pseudo-nitzschia were isolated from field samples via micropipetting (Andersen & Kawachi 2005) and incubated as separate cultures in an inorganic nutrient enriched seawater medium for diatoms, f/2* (Andersen et al. 1997), at a temperature and salinity close to ambient conditions at the time and place of

collection and a 14:10 L:D cycle (Table 3.1). Morphological identification was performed using a derivation of methods in Lundholm et al. (2002a). A 10 mL aliquot of culture was preserved in 1% gluteraldehyde and digested using 2 mL of 30% H₂SO₄ and 10 mL of a saturated KMnO₄ solution in a 100 mL Erlenmeyer flask. The flask was covered with parafilm and swirled periodically throughout the digestion. After 24 h, a saturated oxalic acid solution was added until the sample became transparent. Samples were rinsed 3-4 times with distilled, deionized water and pelleted via centrifugation. The pellet was resuspended in approximately 1 mL of water. One drop was placed on a 200 µm mesh copper grid with a formvar film. Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) was used to identify species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* based on frustule morphology from measurements of cell properties in photographic negatives (Skov et al. 1999, Lundholm et al. 2002a,b, Lundholm & Moestrup 2002, Hasle & Lundholm 2005).

Genetic and phylogenetic analysis

DNA extractions from cultures were performed using the Puregene[®] DNA Isolation Kit (Gentra Systems, Minneapolis, MN). Samples were centrifuged at 4000 g and the supernatants decanted. Pellets were resuspended in 300 μ l of cell lysis buffer supplied with the kit and the manufacturer's protocol was followed for the remainder of the extraction procedure. Eluted DNA was stored at -20° C until analyzed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

The nuclear encoded large subunit (D1-D3 region of the LSU; 28S) locus was amplified from *Pseudo-nitzschia* cultures using two primer sets. Primers

97

D1R forward (Scholin et al. 1994; 5'-ACCCGCTGAATTTAAGCATA-3') and LSUSeqRev (5'-AGTGCTAGCAACAGACATCAACT-3') resulted in a 517 base pair amplicon, and D3Ca reverse (Scholin et al. 1994; 5'-ACGAACGATTTGCACGTCAG -3') and LSUSeqFor (5'-CTGAAACGGAAGCGAAGGAAA-3') resulted in a 434 base pair amplicon. The two amplicons overlapped by 144 base pairs.

The nuclear encoded internal transcribed region (ITS1-5.8S-ITS2) was amplified using two primer sets. Primers 1815F (Bowers et al. 2006; 5'-GGAAGTTGGGGGGCAATAACAGG-3') and ITS Rev (Bowers et al. 2006; 5'-CATCGTTGTGGGAACCWAGACAT-3') were used to generate an amplicon from the first half of the ITS region, while ITS For (reverse complement of ITS Rev) and D1R Rev (reverse complement of D1R For mentioned above) were used to generate the second half. Amplicon sizes varied based on the species amplified. These two amplicons did not overlap, so species-specific primers were designed upstream of the ITSFor/Rev primer region to be used in conjunction with D1R Rev in order to generate overlapping sequences: *P. fraudulenta* For (5' – CGTTTGCCTCAAAAGTCAACTTG – 3'); *P. calliantha* For (5' – TTTGGCTCGTGACTTTTGTTGC – 3'); and *P. multiseries* For (5' – TTGCCCGCCACTCTTTACGA – 3').

Each 50 µl PCR reaction contained 1.5 U of MegaFrag[™] Taq polymerase (Denville Scientific, Metuchen, NJ); 10X PCR buffer and 4 mM MgCl₂ supplied with Taq polymerase; 2 mM each dNTP (Invitrogen, Alameda, CA), 0.25 mg mL⁻¹ bovine serum albumin (Idaho Technology, Idaho Falls, ID), 0.8 μM each primer (Qiagen/Operon, Alameda, CA), 1 μl DNA template and molecular biology grade water to a final volume of 50 μl. Cycling was performed on the DNA Engine Dyad Peltier Thermocycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Waltham, MA) as follows: initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 min, followed by 45 cycles of 94°C for 10 s, annealing temperature ranging from 56°C to 60°C (based on primer pair used) for 30 s, extension step of 68°C for 30 s to 40 s (depending on amplicon size), and a final extension at 68°C for 6 min 20 s. PCR products were examined on a 1% ethidium bromide-stained agarose gel, and bands were extracted from the gel following the procedure supplied with the MinElute kit (Qiagen, Alameda, CA).

All primers outlined above were used for sequencing amplicons. Gelextracted bands were sequenced using the DYEnamic[™] ET Terminator Cycle Sequencing kit (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ). The sequencing reactions contained the following: 2 µl dye (diluted 1:5), 1 µl of desired primer (0.4 µM final concentration), 0.5 - 1 µl of gel purified product, and sterile H₂O to 5 µl. Cycling parameters were as follows: 25 cycles of 95°C for 20 s, 55°C for 15 s and 60°C for 1 min. After cycling, sequencing reactions were centrifuged through Sephadex G50 to remove unincorporated dye (Amersham Biosciences, Uppsala, Sweden). Sequencing was performed on the 3100 capillary sequencer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Sequences were aligned and inspected for nucleotide ambiguities using Sequencher (version 4.1.2, Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI) and then aligned to other *Pseudo-nitzschia* species available from GenBank utilizing the software MacClade (version 4.04; Maddison & Maddison; Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland, MA). The BLAST search program available through the National Center for Biotechnology Information website (www.ncbi.nih.gov/) was used to determine the closest sequence matches available in GenBank (Altschul et al. 1997). Parsimony analysis was performed using PAUP* 4.0b10 (Swofford 2002).

Toxin Content of Cultures

Potential toxicity of each culture was tested in $f/2^*$ medium with 53 μ M Si (to induce Si limitation during stationary phase of growth; Bates et al. 1991, Pan et al. 1991) with bubbling at an irradiance approximating 150 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ and a 14:10 L:D cycle in 15°C (Bates 1998). In vivo fluorescence of a subsample was measured at the same time daily to monitor growth phase and timing of toxin sample collection. An emphasis was placed on documenting DA concentrations in exponential and stationary phases at least one week after peak fluorescence to capture maximum intracellular toxin (Bates 1998). For the toxin sample, 50 mL of culture was removed and filtered through a Whatman GF/F filter. Both the filter and filtrate were stored at -80°C in the dark for determination of particulate (DA in the cell) and dissolved (DA in the filtrate) toxin by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC; Quilliam 2003) or the ELISA method (Garthwaite et al. 1998) using the ASP direct cELISA test kit (Biosense, Bergen, Norway). HPLC analysis was used to quantify particulate DA initially, but the limit of detection (375 pg DA mL⁻¹) was too high for many

samples. The ELISA method has lower limits of detection (9.5-388 pg mL⁻¹) and provided results for more samples. A preserved sample (1 % gluteraldehyde final concentration) for cell counts was taken with the toxin sample. An aliquot of each preserved sample was stained with 0.03% proflavin hemisulfate, filtered onto a 2 μ m polycarbonate filter, and mounted on a glass slide with immersion oil for enumeration via epifluorescent microscopy (excitation 450-490 nm, dichromatic beam splitter 500 nm, barrier filter 515 nm; Nikon filter set EF-4 B-2A) at 400X magnification.

Varying Nitrogen Source

To test the effect of nitrogen on growth rate and toxin production, each strain was adapted to grow in $f/2^*$ with NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺, urea and Si at f/20 (88 µmol N, 11 µmol Si) concentrations at 15°C with 150 – 200 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ (14:10 L:D cycle) through two batch culture generations. When the cultures were adapted, 5 replicate 125 mL flasks were inoculated. Chlorophyll *a* was measured at the same time daily by *in vivo* fluorescence of a subsample of the flasks and used to calculate specific growth rates (Wood et al. 2005). Toxin and preserved samples were taken one week after the beginning of stationary phase to compare toxin production and cell abundance. Dissolved DA cell⁻¹ was calculated by dividing dissolved DA by cell abundance.

Differences in growth rates on each nitrogen source were determined for each strain by one-way ANOVA using Tukey's studentized range test (SAS®, version 9.1, SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC, USA) at the 5% level. Overall

101

differences among all treatments were analyzed with a model I one-way nested ANOVA with a type III sums of squares where replication was uneven (SPLUS®, version 6, Insightful Corporation, Seattle, WA, USA). Variation was determined within nitrogen source, species, strain and error by parsing the sum of squares. Identical statistical analysis was performed on the toxin data. Correlation between growth rate and toxin content was analyzed using Spearman's correlation coefficient (SPLUS®, version 6).

Growth versus Irradiance

Three strains of two species were adapted through two batch culture generations to the experimental temperature and irradiance. The experiment was performed in f/2* media at a salinity of 32 in five replicate 10 mL glass tubes at each discrete irradiance. Treatments started at 20 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ with a 14:10 L:D cycle and increased at approximately 50 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ intervals until growth rate saturation. Cultures were monitored daily using *in vivo* fluorescence. Growth rates were calculated as described above. Replicates were averaged and a standard deviation was calculated. The data were fitted to a non-linear least squares regression using an equation initially derived for photosynthesis (Platt et al. 1980) and modified to describe growth:

$$\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_{max}(1 - e^{((-E\alpha)/\mu max)})e^{((-E\beta)/\mu max)}$$

where μ_0 is the y intercept, μ_{max} is the maximum potential growth rate, α is the initial light-limited slope, E is the irradiance and β is the slope of the photoinhibited part of the curve. E_k, the irradiance saturating for growth, was

calculated for each temperature treatment by dividing μ_{max} by α . Significant difference between treatments for each regression parameter was calculated using a Gabriel Approximation (Sokal & Rohlf 1995).

Results

Identification of Cultures

All fifteen cultures were identified as one of three species: *P. multiseries*, *P. calliantha* or *P. fraudulenta* (Fig. 3.1; Table 3.1). Morphometric measurements of the frustules fall within previously reported values for each species (Table 3.2). ITS and LSU rRNA sequences of the cultures show identical or close relationships to sequences deposited on GenBank from strains of the same morphological species isolated globally. The *P. multiseries* culture Pn-1 had 100% LSU sequence similarity to three strains (NWFSC005 and NWFSC011 from Washington and OFPm984 from Japan) and had two base pairs difference from a California isolate CV19 (Fig. 3.2A). Pn-1 had 100% ITS sequence similarity to California strain mu3 and was two base pairs different from the Japanese strain OFPm984 (Fig. 3.2B). Table 3.1 provides GenBank accession numbers for LSU and ITS sequences derived from Chesapeake Bay isolate Pn-1.

Sequences for *P. fraudulenta* cultures Pn-9, Pn-10, Pn-11, Pn-12 and Pn-15 were identical for both the ITS and LSU loci. LSU sequences were identical to a strain from Spain, Limens1, and less than ten base pairs different from three strains (SZN-B21, SZN-B40 AND SZN-B22) from Italy (Fig. 3.2A). The ITS sequence

data revealed two base pairs difference from the Spain Limens1 isolate (Fig. 3.2B). Table 3.1 provides GenBank accession numbers for LSU and ITS sequences derived from Chesapeake Bay isolates Pn-9, Pn-10, Pn-11, Pn-12 and Pn-15.

LSU sequences for *P. calliantha* cultures Pn-2, Pn-3, Pn-4, Pn-6, Pn-7, Pn-8 and Pn-13 were identical to each other, while the ITS sequences exhibited polymorphisms at two positions. Although there were no *P. calliantha* sequence data available for the LSU locus on GenBank, BLAST results showed that the LSU sequence was closest to thirteen *P. pseudodelicatissima* isolates (P-11 from Portugal, NWFSC047, NWFSC040 and NWFSC006 from Washington and the remaining isolates from Italy). There was high genetic variability between all of these isolates, and our sequence showed approximately 0.7 - 5% divergence from those sequences (Fig. 3.2A). Our ITS sequences shared 99% sequence similarity to three *P. calliantha* isolates from Vietnam (Fig. 3.2B). Table 3.1 provides GenBank accession numbers for LSU and ITS sequences derived from Chesapeake Bay isolates Pn-2, Pn-3, Pn-4, Pn-6, Pn-7, Pn-8 and Pn-13.

Toxicity of Cultures

All batch cultures increased their abundance by at least one order of magnitude during this experiment. Lag phase, growth rate and time to onset of stationary phase varied. Out of 16 strains tested, seven produced domoic acid (Table 3.3). All three species cultured had at least two toxic isolates. The *P*. *multiseries* isolates had the two highest DA concentrations, per mL and per cell

(Figs. 3.3, 3.4). *P. calliantha* and *P. fraudulenta* isolates produced between 10^3 and 10^2 pg DA mL⁻¹ (between 1 and 10^{-4} pg DA cell⁻¹) with *P. calliantha* producing the least (Pn-3) and the most (Pn-8) toxin per mL (Fig. 3.3). Per cell, *P. fraudulenta* (Pn-12) produced the most (0.16 pg DA cell⁻¹) and *P. calliantha* (Pn-3) produced the least ($2.62X10^{-4}$ pg DA cell⁻¹) amount of toxin (Fig. 3.4). Growth rates and maximum abundances of strains that did not produce DA are not different from isolates that did produce DA (Table 3.3). Two of the three species cultured, *P. calliantha* and *P. fraudulenta*, had non-toxic isolates (Table 3.3). Three strains of *P. calliantha* (Pn-2, Pn-5 and Pn-18) died within months of isolation, before toxin content was investigated.

The highest total DA levels occurred during stationary phase in all strains. However, in *P. multiseries* and one *P. fraudulenta* strain (Pn-12), some DA was also present before stationary phase while the culture was still growing (Figs. 3.3, 3.4). The two *P. multiseries* strains (Pn-1, CLN47) show similar DA production patterns, with DA present throughout the entire growth cycle, gradually increasing as cell division slowed and reaching a maximum in stationary phase. The two *P. calliantha* strains (Pn-3, Pn-8) also show similar DA production patterns with DA produced only once the cultures had stopped growing. The two *P. fraudulenta* strains (Pn-12, Pn-9) show different DA production patterns. One strain (Pn-12) produces DA during late exponential phase while the other (Pn-9) does not produce toxin until stationary phase. High DA content of the first sample in some strains (Pn-1, CLN47 and Pn-12) is probably from the inoculum used to start the culture and does not signify any real production of DA in those cultures at the beginning of growth.

Varying Nitrogen Source and Growth Rate

Nitrogen source (NH_4^+ , NO_3^- and urea) affected growth rates in *Pseudo*nitzschia cultures, but not in a way that could be predicted based on nitrogen source and species (Fig. 3.5; Table 3.3). Statistical analysis revealed significant growth rate differences between nitrogen source, species and strain with strain being the highest source and replication the lowest source of variability (Table 3.4). The two *P. multiseries* strains had different nitrogen responses, with Pn-1 growing fastest on NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ (0.75 d⁻¹) while CLN47 grew equally well (0.6 d⁻¹) on all sources. The five *P. fraudulenta* strains showed three different growth responses with Pn-10 and Pn-12 growing fastest on NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ (0.74-0.88 d⁻ ¹), while Pn-11 and Pn-15 grew fastest on NH_4^+ (1.21 d⁻¹ and 1.16 d⁻¹ respectively) and Pn-9 grew fastest on urea (1.02 d^{-1}) . The two *P. calliantha* strains had different growth responses, but similar growth rates. Pn-13 grew fastest on NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ (0.7 d⁻¹). Pn-8 grew fastest on NO₃⁻ (0.86 d⁻¹). Nitrogen was an important source of variation in growth rate, but growth was also significantly affected by strain.

Strains of *P. multiseries* (Pn-1), *P. fraudulenta* (Pn-10) and *P. calliantha* (Pn-13), despite being different species, showed similar relative growth responses and growth rates. *P. fraudulenta* strains isolated from the same water sample (Pn-9, Pn-10, Pn-11 and Pn-12) have the largest differences in relative growth

response and growth rate. The only trend in all of these data is higher growth rates on NH_4^+ and lower growth rates on urea, with the exception of one *P*. *fraudulenta* culture (Pn-9).

Varying Nitrogen Source and Toxicity

DA concentrations were affected by nitrogen source just as unpredictably as growth rate (Figs. 3.6, 3.7; Table 3.3). Statistical analysis revealed significance in toxin content between nitrogen source, species and strain with strain being the highest source of variability in DA content cell⁻¹ and mL⁻¹, while for particulate $DA mL^{-1}$ the highest source of variability is species (Table 3.4). The only insignificant effect was that of nitrogen on total DA cell⁻¹. Two strains of *P*. *multiseries* produced the most DA while growing on NH_4^+ (Pn-1, 3984 fg cell⁻¹) and NO_3^- (CLN47, 369 fg cell⁻¹; Tables 3.3, 3.5; Figs. 3.6, 3.7) and contained the highest total toxin of all strains tested. DA concentration in one strain of P. calliantha (Pn-8) and one strain of P. fraudulenta (Pn-9) did not vary significantly with nitrogen source. One strain of P. fraudulenta (Pn-12) contained more DA while growing on NH_4^+ (23.7 fg cell⁻¹) and urea (43.3 fg cell⁻¹) than NO_3^- (3.1 fg cell⁻¹). The other *P. fraudulenta* strain (Pn-9) contained more particulate toxin when growing on NO_3^- (0.29 fg cell⁻¹). Only the two *P. multiseries* (Pn-1 and CLN47) strains always produced detectable DA. This is probably due to the P. *calliantha* and *P. fraudulenta* strains having low toxin content, near the detection limit of the assay, leading to a high error term in the results. Growth rates and toxin production did not track each other except in P. multiseries (Pn-1), where

the highest growth rate (0.75 d⁻¹) accompanied the highest toxin content (3984 fg cell⁻¹). Statistical analysis reveals no significant correlation between growth rate and toxin content for CLN47, Pn-8 and Pn-12 (Table 3.6). Growth rate is correlated with dissolved DA normalized to cell number and volume and total DA normalized to cell number in strain Pn-9. Growth rate in Pn-1 is strongly correlated with particulate, dissolved and total DA normalized to both cell number and volume.

Toxin content normalized to cell number and volume were nearly identical. CLN47, Pn-1 and Pn-8 show the same pattern in DA content per cell and per mL. One *P. fraudulenta* strain (Pn-12) contained more particulate DA per mL while growing in NH_4^+ and urea with no significant difference in dissolved DA (0.06-1.18 ng mL⁻¹). Per cell, there was no significant difference in particulate DA (0-0.78 fg cell⁻¹).

Growth versus Irradiance

Growth versus irradiance experiments were performed on three strains of two species at three temperatures (Fig. 3.8). *P. fraudulenta* (Pn-15) would not grow at all light levels at all temperatures; therefore the curve at 20°C is incomplete. Curve parameters α (d⁻¹[µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹)[†] and µ_{max} (d⁻¹) showed significant differences between species at the same temperature (Table 3.7). At 10°C, α (0.0263 d⁻¹[µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹) in *P. fraudulenta* was different from α in the *P. multiseries* strains (Pn-1 and CLN47) which were not

[†] Unit for α reduces to μ mol photons m⁻²*86400. While conceptually correct, this method uses unusual units because α is typically used to describe P vs. E curves instead of μ vs. E curves.

different from each other (0.0067, 0.0127 d⁻¹ $[\mu mol photons m^{-2} sec^{-1}]^{-1}$ respectively). At 15°C, α in *P. fraudulenta* (0.0239 d⁻¹[µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹) was different from only one of the *P. multiseries* strains (0.0047 d⁻¹ [umol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$]⁻¹, Pn-1) which were not different from each other (0.0109 d⁻¹[µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹, CLN47). At 20°, α was not significantly different between strains of *P. multiseries* (0.0094 - 0.0098 d^{-1} [µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹; Table 3.7). Alpha was not significantly different between temperatures within the same strain. At 10°C, μ_{max} (d⁻¹) did not show any difference between strains. At 15°C, however there was a difference in μ_{max} between *P. fraudulenta* (0.68) and one of the P. multiseries strains (0.33, CLN47). There was no statistically significant difference between μ_{max} at 20°C (0.78-2.0), probably due to the high variability in *P. multiseries* (Pn-1). None of the strains showed significant changes with temperature. Comparisons of β were not possible because not all strains were photoinhibited. Saturating irradiance (E_k) was calculated for each treatment where possible, but had such high variability that none of the data were significant (Table 3.7).

Discussion

Sequences for the LSU (large subunit of the ribosome) and ITS (internal transcribed spacer) regions were successfully combined with morphology to identify *Pseudo-nitzschia* strains to the species level. Both morphological and genetic data were conclusive and consistent for identification of *P. multiseries*, *P. fraudulenta* and *P. calliantha*, indicating an absence of cryptic species within

those groups. However, these isolates are probably only a small representation of a more genetically diverse *Pseudo-nitzschia* population in the Chesapeake Bay. In fact, real-time molecular assays designed against the three species isolated from the Bay only identified these species in a small percentage of environmental water samples where *Pseudo-nitzschia* had been identified using light microscopy (data not shown). Field studies using rRNA sequences and microsatellite markers have found high genetic diversity in *Pseudo-nitzschia* populations (Orsini et al. 2004, Evans et al. 2005). The lack of such variability in *Pseudo-nitzschia* cultures world-wide could be an artifact of the culturing process favoring strains with similar genetics. Alternate locus sequencing or microsatellite analysis could reveal more diversity in cultures. Physiological parameters tested in this study were not consistently related to species, suggesting the presence of ecotypes and high functional diversity in the species tested. Genetic and functional diversity among and within *Pseudo-nitzschia* species needs to be explored further in order to gain a better understanding of the strains present and how they are related to natural populations.

In batch culture, *Pseudo-nitzschia* typically produces DA when in stationary phase, once cell division has stopped and the culture is limited by P or Si, for example, with replete N and light (Bates 1998). This is seen in Pn-1, Pn-3, Pn-8 and Pn-9 as well as in other studies with *P. multiseries* (Subba Rao et al. 1990, Bates et al. 1991, 1993a, 1995, Douglas & Bates 1992; Wohlgeschaffen et al. 1992, Douglas et al. 1993, Whyte et al. 1995, Kotaki et al. 1999, Lundholm et al. 2004), *P. seriata* (Lundholm et al. 1994, Fehling et al. 2004) and *P. australis* (Cusack et al. 2002). In CLN47 and Pn-12, there is evidence of toxin production during late exponential phase, similar to results for *P. pseudodelicatissima* (Pan et al. 2001), *P. australis* (Garrison et al. 1992) and for *P. multiseries* (Pan et al. 1996a). A possible explanation for DA production in late exponential phase, before the culture has stopped growing, is that this phase may be a period of transition, when some cells have stopped dividing and are producing DA while others are still growing (Pan et al. 1996a, Bates 1998). High DA content during lag phase is probably from the inoculum used to start the culture; however, it is possible that the shock of being transferred led to DA production in lag phase cultures (Bates 1998). It is also generally assumed that particulate DA peaks about one week after the beginning of stationary phase, then decreases as dissolved DA increases (Bates 1998). Total DA content did not peak in any of our cultures within the 26 d duration of the experiment, with the exception of Pn-12.

Initially, samples were analyzed via HPLC. Toxin content in one strain of *P. multiseries* (Pn-1) and four strains of *P. calliantha* (Pn-4, Pn-6, Pn-7 and Pn-8) was determined with this method. After testing these cultures, it was determined that the limit of detection of the HPLC was too high for these studies and the ELISA method was subsequently employed. ELISA has a lower, but variable, limit of detection. Individual kits have their own quantitation limit (LOQ) and detection limit (LOD = 1/3 of LOQ) which, in the kits used in this study, varied from 28.4 to 1165 pg mL⁻¹ and 9.5 to 388 pg mL⁻¹, respectively. Concentrations that are below the LOQ, but above the LOD are considered semi-quantitative.

111

The test is positive for DA, but the accuracy is less than if the concentration had been above the LOQ. Since each test kit can process a maximum of 36 samples, not all samples from the same culture could always be processed on the same plate and therefore have the same LOD and LOQ. Working with very low amounts of DA on multiple plates could explain the unusual zero values in *P*. *fraudulenta* (Pn-12) and *P. calliantha* (Pn-8). Some *P. calliantha* strains (Pn-3, Pn-13 and Pn-14), all *P. fraudulenta* strains (Pn-9, Pn-10, Pn-11, Pn-12, Pn-15) and one *P. multiseries* strain (CLN47) were tested using ELISA. The possibility exists that some *P. calliantha* strains (Pn-4, Pn-6 and Pn-7) produced DA, but not enough to detect with HPLC.

It is generally thought that NH_4^+ is more readily taken up by phytoplankton than NO_3^- due to its inhibition of nitrate reductase and lower energy requirement for use (McCarthy et al. 1977, Losada & Guerrero 1979, Syrett 1981). However, studies have shown that inhibition of NO_3^- uptake is rarely as complete or as common as sometimes believed (reviewed in Dortch 1990). Uptake and reduction of NO_3^- can be uncoupled and diatoms in particular take up large amounts of NO_3^- especially under high light, low temperature conditions (DeManche et al. 1979, Dortch et al. 1979, Collos 1982, Lomas & Glibert 1999, 2000). Diatoms are known to grow equally well on NH_4^+ and NO_3^- (Eppley & Renger 1974) and studies on phytoplankton assemblages show utilization of whatever nitrogen source is readily available (McCarthy et al. 1977, Dortch 1990). Uptake rates of NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and urea by diatoms vary considerably and depend on the physiological state of the cell, but uptake of all three nitrogen species in diatoms has been documented (Eppley et al. 1969, McCarthy 1972). All of these findings are reflected in the current data by the ability of all strains to grow on all nitrogen sources given.

These results demonstrate the ability of *Pseudo-nitzschia* to grow and become toxic on multiple nitrogen sources. *P. multiseries* can grow on NH₄⁺, NO_3^- , urea, glutamine and NO_2^- with NH_4^+ supporting the slowest growth (Hillebrand & Sommer 1996). NH_4^+ concentrations above 200 μ M do not support growth due to NH_4^+ toxicity (Hillebrand & Sommer 1996), and only at NH_4^+ concentrations of 55 - 110 μ M were growth rates comparable to those in NO₃⁻ (Bates et al. 1993a). The present study used 88 μ M nitrogen. Growth rates (d⁻¹) for *P. multiseries* were slightly less $(0.36 - 0.33 \text{ for NH}_4^+, 0.42 - 0.55 \text{ for NO}_3^-)$ and 0.38 - 0.60 for urea) than those in our experiments (0.61 - 0.76 for NH₄⁺, 0.45 - 0.8 for NO₃⁻ and 0.3 - 0.68 for urea; Hillebrand & Sommer 1996). A study of cultured *P. australis* showed equal growth on NO_3^- and NH_4^+ , but reduced growth on urea, with the latter culture containing the highest DA (Armstrong Howard et al. 2007). This is unlike any of the present cultures, except Pn-12 (P. fraudulenta). Another study showed higher DA content in P. *multiseries* treated with NH_4^+ than NO_3^- (4.2 pg cell⁻¹ in NH_4^+ and ~1.6 pg cell⁻¹ in NO₃⁻; Bates et al. 1993a) which is comparable to the DA content in P. *multiseries* (Pn-1) in our study (4.0 pg cell⁻¹ when grown in NH_4^+ and 1.9 pg $cell^{-1}$ when grown in NO₃⁻). These data show that specific growth rate and toxin content of *Pseudo-nitzschia* can be affected by nitrogen source, but cannot be predicted based on nitrogen and species. There is clearly no strain in this study

that is representative of the growth response or toxin content of the genus or any of the three species.

There are two important concerns with the toxin samples for the nitrogen experiments. First, even though all cultures were sampled at the same time relative to their growth phase, one week after the fluorescence peak is not enough time for these strains to reach maximum DA content (Fig. 3.3). Some of the variation between treatment, species and/or strain could be due instead to time of sample collection relative to DA production cycle in batch culture. Second, the dissolved DA fraction could have been artificially increased by the filtering process. While the vacuum pressure used to filter samples was low (<130 mm Hg), weakened cells in stationary phase could have been lysed, artificially increasing the dissolved fraction. Future experiments might investigate gentler separation techniques such as use of dialysis tubing or gravity filtration.

Statistical analysis (ANOVA) revealed that most variation in toxin content and growth rate is due to strain (except particulate DA mL⁻¹) arguing that strain is more important than species in defining the physiology of *Pseudo-nitzschia*. However, species was the second most important source of variation. If more species were included in this study, especially more toxic species, this relative importance could shift so that species is more important than strain. The actual treatment, nitrogen source, resulted in the lowest source of variation in toxin content and growth rate, sometimes lower than the replicate cultures (particulate DA and total DA cell⁻¹), but it was responsible for a higher proportion of variation in growth rate than in toxin content. Nitrogen source had more of an effect on

114

particulate and total DA mL⁻¹ than DA cell⁻¹, suggesting that the affect of nitrogen source on toxin content is an indirect effect of growth rate on cell abundance. Most of the variation in toxin content between the set of strains used in this study can be attributed to strain differences, indicating that intraspecies variation is larger than interspecies variation especially among low toxin-producing species.

Toxin content of the present strains was just as variable as growth rate, but the fastest growing cultures were not necessarily the most toxic or vice versa (Figs. 3.9, 3.10). Total DA, particulate DA and dissolved DA varied with nitrogen source in both of the P. multiseries strains (CLN47, Pn-1) and one of the P. fraudulenta strains (Pn-12), with no real pattern or relationship to growth rate. For example, the highest DA content in CLN47 (371 fg cell⁻¹) occurred in the NO₃⁻ treatment, but growth rate was neither the highest nor the lowest on this nitrogen source. This suggests that nitrogen source has an affect on DA production besides the direct effect on growth rate. Previous studies showed a relationship between growth rate and DA content using one strain of P. *multiseries* in continuous and batch culture (Pan et al. 1996a,b). As growth rate increased in continuous cultures, DA content decreased. This study found an inverse relationship between growth rate and toxin content only in Pn-9 (Table 3.6). Growth rate and toxin content in Pn-1 was found to be positively correlated and no relationship was found in the other strains. However, these experiments were performed on stationary phase batch cultures, which are different from slowly growing continuous cultures.

The growth versus irradiance curves seem to show differences in α and μ_{max} among temperature treatments (Fig. 3.8). However, high variability associated with the 20°C treatments render these differences statistically insignificant (Table 3.7). Using a turbidostat to calculate a growth vs. irradiance curve (Falkowski et al. 1985) instead of using replicate batch cultures at discrete irradiances could result in less error. Replication could be achieved by collecting data for multiple curves instead of replicates of points on a single curve. Only one other study contains µ vs. E data for *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Pan et al. 1996b), where an α of 0.0027 d⁻¹ [µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹ was observed at 10°C in the P. multiseries culture NPBIO, but the curve is not very well described below 200 μ mol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹, the light-limiting part of the curve in that study (Fig. 3.8). Nevertheless, the α is within the range observed for *P. multiseries* in the present experiments (Table 3.7). The incomplete curve at 20°C for Pn-15 (Fig. 3.8) can be explained by intolerance of this strain to higher temperatures; this strain would not adapt to 20°C at low irradiance. Pn-15 was isolated from cold waters (Table 3.1) and could represent an ecotype that is adapted to survive at low temperatures. Pn-15 had its highest growth rates at 10°C (Fig. 3.8). A cold-water strain of P. granii also did not grow below 100 µmol photons m⁻²sec⁻¹ at 20°C. Chlorophyll in these P. granii cells decreased above 14°C suggesting that the decline in growth rate at lower irradiance may have been due to an inability to capture adequate light to support increased enzyme activity associated with higher temperatures (El-Sabaawi & Harrison 2006).

Both bacteria and culture age can influence toxicity of cultures. We did not address variation in epibiotic bacteria, a potential source of variation in toxin levels. For example, two cultures of the same strain (CLN-1 and CLN-1 NRC) of *P. multiseries* that had been maintained in separate laboratories for 2 years differed in their epibiotic bacteria and toxin production (Kaczmarska et al. 2005). The culture with more diverse bacterial flora produced the most DA (CLN-1). Therefore, it is possible that bacteria play an important role in DA content variation between strains. There was also concern that results might be affected by differences over time in culture as many physiological properties have been known to change with culture age, especially *Pseudo-nitzschia* toxin production (Bates et al. 1999). However, most of the cultures were approximately the same age (one year) during this study (Table 3.9).

Results do support the following: Defining diatom species based on morphology alone can be inadequate. A more thorough approach is required which includes morphological investigations, genetic sequencing, mating experiments and physiological experiments (Mann 1999). Numerous *Pseudonitzschia* spp. have been described by combinations of morphology and gene sequences (Lundholm et al. 2002a,b, 2003, 2006, Lundholm & Moestrup 2002). Only one *Pseudo-nitzschia* study combines morphology, genetic sequencing and mating experiments (Amato et al. 2007). As the impact of strain differences is recognized, diatom studies should include an investigation of the biological and phylogenetic species concepts in addition to the more traditional morphological species concept (e.g., Behnke et al. 2004, Mann et al. 2004). The ability of *Pseudo-nitzschia* to grow under multiple nitrogen, light and temperature conditions indicates a broad ecological niche. Not all strains were able to grow optimally under all treatments, but at least one strain did grow optimally under all conditions tested. This, in combination with high genetic variability in natural populations (Evans et al. 2005), suggests that *Pseudo-nitzschia* is able to take advantage of multiple regimes in a changing environment. These data suggest the existence of multiple ecotypes in natural populations of *Pseudo-nitzschia*, similar to *Skeletonema costatum* and *Ditylum brightwellii* (Gallagher 1982, Rynearson et al. 2006). These ecotypes could undergo population succession throughout the year. Since all of the strains tested in this study came from the same region, nothing can be concluded about biogeography; however, it would be reasonable to investigate strains from multiple regions as *Pseudo-nitzschia* is a cosmopolitan diatom genus (Hasle 2002).

Clana	Emocios	GenBank A	Accession #	Collectio	n Site Infor	mation ^a	
Clone	Species	ITS	LSU	Station	Date	Temp (°C) S	Salinity
Pn-1	Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries	DQ445651	DQ445638	Choptank River	11/18/2002	11	17
Pn-2	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	DQ445652	DQ445639	Choptank River	4/28/2003	15	9
Pn-3	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	DQ445653	DQ445640	Choptank River	4/14/2003	10	11
Pn-4	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	DQ445654	DQ445641	Chesapeake Bay	10/3/2003	21	17
Pn-5	?			Chesapeake Bay	10/3/2003	21	17
Pn-6	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	DQ445655	DQ445642	Chesapeake Bay	10/4/2003	20	12
Pn-7	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	DQ445656	DQ445643	Patuxent River	10/13/2003	20	11
Pn-8	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	DQ445657	DQ445644	Choptank River	10/20/2003	17	10
Pn-9	Pseudo-nitzschia fraudulenta	DQ445659	DQ445645	Assateague Island	3/28/2004	6	32
Pn-10	Pseudo-nitzschia fraudulenta	DQ445660	DQ445646	Assateague Island	3/28/2004	6	32
Pn-11	Pseudo-nitzschia fraudulenta	DQ445661	DQ445647	Assateague Island	3/28/2004	6	32
Pn-12	Pseudo-nitzschia fraudulenta	DQ445662	DQ445648	Assateague Island	3/28/2004	6	32
Pn-13	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	DQ445658	DQ445649	Choptank River	5/17/2004	23	9
Pn-14	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha			Kiptopeke Virginia	11/11/2004	14	30
Pn-15	Pseudo-nitzschia fraudulenta	DQ445663	DQ445650	Asilomar California	10/7/2005	11	32
CLN47	Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries			CL147 X CL191 ^b	6/16/2005		
Pn-16	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	EF621757	EF621754	Tangier Sound	11/14/2006	13	15
Pn-17	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	EF621758	EF621755	Tangier Sound	11/14/2006	13	15
Pn-18	Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha	EF621759	EF621756	Tangier Sound	11/14/2006	13	15

 Table 3.1 Cultures of Pseudo-nitzschia spp. used in the present study.

^aCollection site information column contains data on water samples from which cultures were isolated. ^bStrain CLN47 was isolated after sexual reproduction between strains CL147

and CL191.

Strain	Species	Length (µm)	Width (µm)	Central interspace	Poroids (in 1 µm)	Striae (in 10 µm)	Fibulae (in 10 μm)	Band striae (in 10 μm)	Rows of poroids
*	P. multiseries	55-169	2.8-5.3	Absent	4-7	9-16	9-16	19-30	3-4 (5)
Pn-1	P. multiseries	55-82 (66.3) {9.0} [6]	2.4-4 (3.2) {0.5} [8]	Absent	4-8 (5.7) {1.7} [4]	10-16 (11.9) {1.7} [10]	10-16 (12.5) {2.0} [8]	18-26 (21) {3.6} [4]	3-4
CLN47	P. multiseries	52-76 (64.0) {10.0} [4]	3.3-3.8 (3.6) {0.2} [4]	Absent					
*	P. calliantha	41-98	1.3-2.6	Present	4-6	34-39	15-22	42-48	1.0
Pn-2	P. calliantha	55-61 (57.8) {4.8} [5]	1.5-3.0 (2.4) {0.6} [6]	Present	6-7 (6.75) {0.5} [4]	32-40 (36) {5.6} [2]	10-11 (10.5) {0.7} [2]	40 (40) {0} [1]	1
Pn-3	P. calliantha	62-66 (64.5) {2.3} [4]	1.7-2.3 (2.0) {0.2} [5]	Present	4-6 (5.3) {1.2} [3]	34-42 (38) {5.7} [2]	15-22 (18.5) {5} [2]		1
Pn-4	P. calliantha	29-37 (31.7) {4.6} [3]	2-2.5 (2.2) {0.2} [4]	Present	5-6 (5.2) {0.7} [3]	35-38 (36.3) {1.2} [7]	16-19.2 (18) {1.1} [6]	34-49.6 (43.2) {8.2} [3]	1
Pn-6	P. calliantha	43-71 (56.1) {14.7} [4]	1.9-2.8 (2.3) {0.4} [5]	Present	5-6 (5.5) {0.7} [2]	39-40 (39.5) {0.7} [2]	20-22 (21) {1.4} [2]		1
Pn-7	P. calliantha	22-33 (26.7) {4.2} [5]	1.7-3.5 (2.5) {0.6} [6]	Present	4-6 (5) {1.4} [2]	32-34 (33) {1.4} [2]	12-13 (12.5) {0.7} [2]		1
Pn-8	P. calliantha	46-55 (48.7) {3.6} [6]	1.8-2.5 (2.0) {0.3} [4]	Present	5-6 (5) {0.4} [5]	36.6-40 (38.8) {1.4} [5]	17.1-21.7 (19.2) {2.0} [5]	37.7-40 (39.2) {1.3} [3]	1
Pn-13	P. calliantha	84-87 (85.3) {1.5} [3]	1.9-2.7 (2.3) {0.3} [7]	Present	4-5 (4.3) {0.6) [3]	24-27 (25.6) {1.1} [8]	10-14 (12.3) {1.3} [8]	30-35 (31.8) {2.4} [4]	1
Pn-14	P. calliantha	42-60 (50.7) {6.3} [5]	2-2.3 (2.1) {0.1} [3]	Present	5-6 (5.7) {0.6} [3]	34-42 (37.3) {4.2} [3]	20-24 (22) {2} [3]	44 (44) {0} [1]	1
Pn-16	P. calliantha	73-81 (77.7) {3.1} [6]	2.1-2.8 (2.4) {0.3} [5]	Present	4 (4) {0} [1]	32 (32) {0} [1]	17 (17) {0} [1]	38 (38) {0} [1]	1
Pn-17	P. calliantha	53-70 (58.4) {6.8} [9]	2.1-3.0 (2.5) {0.3} [9]	Present	4 (4) {0} [1]	36 (36) {0} [1]	19 (19) {0} [1]		1
Pn-18	P. calliantha	86.9 (86.9) {0} [1]	2.6 (2.6) {0} [1]	Present	4 (4) {0} [1]	35 (35) {0} [1]	17 (17) {0} [1]		1
*	P. fraudulenta	50-164	4.0-10	Present	4-7	17-26	12-26	35-40	2-3
Pn-9	P. fraudulenta	71-78 (74.4) {3.2} [5]	3-4 (3.8) {0.5} [4]	Present	5.6-7 (6.1) {0.8} [3]	21-24 (22.4) {1.0} [9]	18-20.6 (19.5) {0.8} [8]	33-40 (37.3) {2.6} [7]	2-3
Pn-10	P. fraudulenta	52-70 (60.0) {6.0} [6]	3-4 (3.4) {0.6} [3]	Present	6 (6) {0.6} [2]	20-24 (21.6) {2.0} [4]	16 (16) {0} [1]	36-40 (38) {2.0} [3]	2-3
Pn-11	P. fraudulenta	62-66 (64.3) {2.1} [3]	3-4 (3.7) {0.6} [3]	Present		20-23 (21.7) {1.2} [4]	20.8-22 (21.5) {0.6} [4]	36 (36) {0} [1]	2-3
Pn-12	P. fraudulenta	61-71 (64.5) {3.9} [5]	3.8-5.2 (4.6) {0.6} [4]	Present	6-6.4 (6.2) {0.3} [2]	20-24 (22.1) {2.0} [3]	22-24 (22.9) {1.0} [3]	$28.8(28.8){0}{1}$	2-3
Pn-15	P. fraudulenta	69-89 (80.2) {10.0} [4]	4.9-6 (5.6) {0.6} [3]	Present	5-6 (5.3) {0.6} [3]	20-23 (21.4) {1.1} [5]	11-20 (17) {3.5} [5]	32 (32) {0} [1]	2-3
The	ata ie ain	m for for of m	n) thement (n	rean) (stande	nd daviation	lranlinatael ;	k Indicates maas	uramante ara ra	Parancad
	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1			indui) (Jualiud		(chindina).	IIIULUALUS IIIVAS		
in oth	ner studies	(Hasle 1965; K	Jvera 1985; Ha	asle et al. 199	6; Skov et a	. 1999; Stonik (et al. 2001; Luno	tholm et al. 200	÷.
Carol	ppo et al. 2	2005).							

y.
stud
ant s
rese
le p
n th
i bi
use
res
ultu
a ci
schi
-nitzs
op1
seu
of <i>P</i>
ry c
ma
um
ic s
letr
nor
lqro
М
2
le 3
abj
Γ

Strain	Species	Salinity	Culture	Nitrogen	dissolv	ed DA	particula	tte DA	growth	Maximum
			Volume (L)	Source -	$(ng mL^{-1})$	(fg cell ⁻¹)	(ng mL ⁻¹)	(fg cell ⁻¹)	, μ (d ⁻¹)	Abundance
Pn-2	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO_{3}^{-}	ND^{a}	ND	ND	ND		
Pn-3	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO_{3}^{-}	ND	ND	0.27	0.26	0.58	1.78 X 10 ⁶
Pn-4	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO ³⁻	ND	ND	QN	ND	0.45	7.47 X 10 ⁵
Pn-6	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO ₃ -	ND	ND	QN	ND	0.61	1.04 X 10 ⁶
Pn-7	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO_{3}^{-}	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.82	2.72 X 10 ⁵
Pn-8	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO ₃ -	1.7	0.86	6.3	5.7	0.42	1.97 X 10 ⁶
Pn-8	P. calliantha	15	0.065	NO ³⁻	0.4 ± 0.49	2.0 ± 2.82	0.101 ± 0.0239	1.8 ± 2.51	$\textbf{0.55}\pm\textbf{0.047}$	
Pn-8	P. calliantha	15	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	0.3 ± 0.22	3.5 ± 5.41	0.14 ± 0.050	4. 7 ± 7.7	0.87 ± 0.154	
Pn-8	P. calliantha	15	0.065	urea	1.2 ± 2.67	19.8 ± 44.26	0.17 ± 0.057	3.5 ±2.66	0.42 ± 0.056	
Pn-13	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO ₃ -	۹+ +	+	+	+	0.68	3.64 X 10 ⁵
Pn-13	P. calliantha	15	0.065	N0 ₃ -					0.72 ± 0.071	
Pn-13	P. calliantha	15	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$					0.71 ± 0.064	
Pn-13	P. calliantha	15	0.065	urea					0.44 ± 0.028	
Pn-16	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO ₃ -	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.0	1.41 X 10 ⁵
Pn-17	P. calliantha	15	1.5	NO_{3}^{-}	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.0	4.61 X 10 ⁵
Pn-9	P. fraudulenta	32	1.5	NO_{3}^{-}	ND	ND		0.667	0.56	7.33 X 10 ⁵
Pn-9	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	NO_{3}^{-}	0.6 ± 0.71	32 ± 43.3	0.009 ± 0.011	0.29 ± 0.389	0.75 ± 0.051	
Pn-9	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	0.9 ± 0.55	20 ± 11.0	ŊŊ	ND	0.62 ± 0.038	
Pn-9	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	urea	0.2 ± 0.21	4.7 ± 5.95	ND	ND	1.02 ± 0.137	
Pn-10	P. fraudulenta	32	1.5	NO_{3}^{-}	ON	ND	ND	ND	0.6	2.49 X 10 ⁵
Pn-10	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	NO ³⁻					$\textbf{0.84} \pm \textbf{0.035}$	
Pn-10	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$					$\textbf{0.85}\pm\textbf{0.058}$	
Pn-10	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	urea					$\textbf{0.58} \pm \textbf{0.067}$	

Table 3.3 Growth and toxicity of *Pseudo-nitzschia* cultures used in the present study.

Strain	Species	Salinity	Culture	Nitrogen	dissolv	ed DA	particula	te DA	growth	Maximum
			V olume (L)	Source	$(ng mL^{-1})$	(fg cell ⁻¹)	$(ng mL^{-1})$	(fg cell ⁻¹)	(, р) п	Abundance
Pn-11	P. fraudulenta	32	1.5	NO ₃ -	ND	ΟN	ND	ND	0.46	2.18 X 10 ⁵
Pn-11	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	NO ₃ -					0.73 ± 0.036	
Pn-11	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$					1.22 ± 0.177	
Pn-11	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	urea					$\textbf{0.55} \pm \textbf{0.103}$	
Pn-12	P. fraudulenta	32	1.5	NO ₃ -	0.525	4.6	0.057	1.6	0.37	1.59 X 10 ⁵
Pn-12	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	NO ₃ -	0.06 ± 0.139	2.7 ± 5.92	0.015 ± 0.0092	0.42 ± 0.257	0.75 ± 0.039	
Pn-12	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	0.8 ± 0.38	30 ± 17.0	ND	QN	0.88 ± 0.048	
Pn-12	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	urea	1.2 ± 0.24	53 ± 19.7	0.019 ± 0.0269	0.8 ± 1.03	$\textbf{0.58} \pm \textbf{0.181}$	
Pn-15	P. fraudulenta	32	1.5	NO ₃ -	ND	ŊŊ	ND	Ŋ	1.2	2.27 X 10 ⁵
Pn-15	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	NO ₃ -					1.05 ± 0.033	
Pn-15	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$					$\boldsymbol{1.16 \pm 0.020}$	
Pn-15	P. fraudulenta	32	0.065	urea					$\boldsymbol{1.05 \pm 0.030}$	
CLN47	P. multiseries	32	1.5	NO ₃ -	3.76	57.2	69.69	1059	0.8	1.14 X 10 ⁵
CLN47	P. multiseries	32	0.065	NO ₃ -	1.2 ± 0.33	8.9 ± 2.98	48 ± 29.1	362 ± 254.3	0.65 ± 0.018	
CLN47	P. multiseries	32	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	0.19 ± 0.039	1.8 ± 0.35	5.0 ± 2.77	48 ± 23.6	0.61 ± 0.054	
CLN47	P. multiseries	32	0.065	urea	0.16 ± 0.094	1.0 ± 0.54	3.9 ± 5.53	24 ± 32.6	0.68 ± 0.070	
Pn-1	P. multiseries	15	1.5	NO ₃ -	17.3	20	398	458	0.45	$1.14 \ge 10^{6}$
Pn-1	P. multiseries	15	0.065	NO ₃ -	30 ± 3.7	584 ± 169.4	65 ± 11.2	1250 ± 351.8	$\textbf{0.76} \pm \textbf{0.104}$	
Pn-1	P. multiseries	15	0.065	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	103 ± 11.5	2134 ± 154.2	87 ± 25.1	406 ± 53.7	$\textbf{0.76} \pm \textbf{0.175}$	
Pn-1	P. multiseries	15	0.065	urea	2.9 ± 1.10	61 ± 16.8	19 ± 3.5	1807 ± 514.3	0.30 ± 0.100	
^a ND inc	licates that DA	was not	t found.							
^b + indic	ates that toxin	was fou	nd, but not	quantifie	.pq					

Table 3.3 cont.

Growth (Fig. 3.5)	df	SS	MS	F	Р
nitrogen	2	1.22	0.611	77.1	<0.001
species nested in nitrogen	6	1.79	0.298	37.6	<0.001
strain nested in species nested in nitrogen	18	3.39	0.188	23.7	<0.001
replicate cultures	106	0.84	0.008		
Dissolved DA cell ⁻¹ (Fig. 3.7)	df	SS	MS	F	Р
nitrogen	2	1751435	875717	216.7	<0.001
species nested in nitrogen	6	6875495	1145916	283.5	<0.001
strain nested in species nested in nitrogen	6	12139455	2023243	500.6	<0.001
replicate cultures	56	226342	4042		
Dissolved DA mL ⁻¹ (Fig. 3.6)	df	SS	MS	F	Р
nitrogen	2	4038	2019	180.5	<0.001
species nested in nitrogen	6	16393	2732	244.3	<0.001
strain nested in species nested in nitrogen	6	28338	4723	422.3	<0.001
replicate cultures	56	626	11		
Particulate DA cell ⁻¹ (Fig. 3.7)	df	SS	MS	F	Р
nitrogen	2	935125	467562	13.8	<0.001
species nested in nitrogen	6	8974923	1495821	44.3	<0.001
strain nested in species nested in nitrogen	6	10097263	1682877	49.8	<0.001
replicate cultures	58	1958029	33759		
Particulate DA mL ⁻¹ (Fig. 3.6)	df	SS	MS	F	Р
nitrogen	2	3522	1761	15.5	<0.001
species nested in nitrogen	6	31698	5283	46.5	<0.001
strain nested in species nested in nitrogen	6	18149	3025	26.6	<0.001
replicate cultures	58	6595	114		
Total DA cell ⁻¹ (Fig. 3.7)	df	SS	MS	F	Р
nitrogen	2	136266	68133	1.7	0.200
species nested in nitrogen	6	21394034	3565672	87.8	<0.001
strain nested in species nested in nitrogen	6	28286001	4714333	116.1	<0.001
replicate cultures	60	2436325	40605		
Total DA mL ⁻¹ (Fig. 3.6)	df	SS	MS	F	Р
nitrogen	2	11648	5824	67.3	<0.001
species nested in nitrogen	6	85654	14276	165.0	<0.001
strain nested in species nested in nitrogen	6	90050	15008	173.5	<0.001
replicate cultures	56	4845	87		

Table 3.4 Nested ANOVA tables for growth and toxicity experiments using different nitrogen sources.

CLN47 a	re <i>P. m</i>	ultiseı	ries. I	Pn-8 is	P. cal	liantha	Pn-9	and P	n-12 aı	ce P. fru	andule	nta.						
					per ml									er cel				
Strain	pa	rticula	nte	p	issolve	p		total		pa	rticula	ite	di	ssolve	q		total	
	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	NO ₃ ⁻	urea	\mathbf{NH}_4^+	NO ₃ ⁻	urea	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	NO ₃ ⁻	urea	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	NO_{3}^{-}	urea	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	NO ₃ -	urea	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	NO ₃ ⁻	urea
Pn-1	\mathbf{A}^*	\mathbf{A}^*	в	\mathbf{A}^{*}	В	С	\mathbf{A}^*	в	С	\mathbf{A}^{*}	\mathbf{A}^*	в	\mathbf{A}^{*}	в	C	\mathbf{A}^*	В	С
Pn-8	A	¥	A	¥	V	Ł	V	V	V	¥	V	V	V	V	A	V	A	V
Pn-9	A	V	A	V	V	A	A	V	A	A	\mathbf{B}^*	A	V	A	A	V	A	A
Pn-12	\mathbf{A}^*	B	\mathbf{A}^*	A	V	¥	\mathbf{A}^*	В	\mathbf{A}^*	A	A	A	AB	В	\mathbf{A}^*	A	A	A
CLN47	AB	\mathbf{A}^*	B	AB	\mathbf{A}^{*}	В	AB	\mathbf{A}^*	B	В	\mathbf{A}^{*}	В	B	\mathbf{A}^*	B	В	\mathbf{A}^{*}	B
Data (in	Figure	s 3.6 ai	nd 3.7) for th	e parti	culate f	raction	n, disse	olved f	raction	and tc	tal DA	(disso	lved +	- partic	sulate)	conten	t
was teste	d sepa	rately.	Treat	ments	with d	ifferent	letters	indic	ate sigi	nificant	tly diff	erent n	neans.	*Indi	cate tre	eatmen	ts with	
higher to	xin col	ntent.																

content	q	
ic acid (Pn-1 an	
or domo	d urea.	
0.05) f	IH4 ⁺ an	
(α (α) ₃ -, N	
test	n NC	1.
isons	wn o	alenta
mpar	ns gro	raudi
ole cc	strair	e P. 1
multij	schia	-12 ar
ange 1	o-nitz,	nd Pn-
ized r	seud	n-9 ar
Identi) in <i>F</i>	ıa. P
/`s stu	umber	liantk
Fukey	ell nu	^D . cal
and	and c	8 is <i>1</i>
NA VA	ume a	Pn-
ANC	e vol	eries.
ults of	cultur	nultis
Resi	d to	P. 1
3.5	ıalize	t7 ar€
able	norn	TN

	Particu	late DA	Dissolv	ed DA	Tota	I DA	Particu	late DA	Dissolv	ed DA	Total	DA
Strain	(ng r	nL ⁻¹)	n gn)	ոԼ ⁻¹)	u gn)	лL ⁻¹)	(fg c	ell ⁻¹)	(fg c	ell ⁻¹)	(fg ce	II ⁻¹)
	β	p value	β	p value	ρ	p value	ρ	p value	β	p value	β	p value
CLN47	-0.1210	0.6569	-0.1430	0.6006	-0.1210	0.6569	-0.1210	0.6569	-0.2332	0.396	-0.1210	0.6569
Pn-1	0.7377*	0.0059	0.6571*	0.0142	0.6893*	0.0101	0.6893*	0.0101	0.6231*	0.0201	0.6643*	0.0132
Pn-8	-0.4554	0.0989	0.0916	0.7471	0.1826	0.5154	-0.2860	0.2987	0.2138	0.4455	-0.1293	0.6474
Pn-9	-0.0974	0.7196	-0.5479*	0.0473	-0.5385	0.0513	-0.1046	0.7002	-0.5868*	0.0337	-0.5868*	0.0337
Pn-12	-0.2426	0.3953	-0.0530	0.8469	-0.0578	0.8339	-0.1944	0.4947	-0.1757	0.5364	-0.1788	0.5294

Ŀ.
aii
str
by
gl
Ze
aly
an
pq
ar
ed
dn
lto
e S
/er
۲ ۲
até
Ω
ìť.
ter
on
O I
DA
[p]
an
(m
e (µ)
rate (μ)
th rate (μ)
wth rate (μ)
growth rate (μ)
r growth rate (μ)
for growth rate $(\boldsymbol{\mu})$
(p) for growth rate (μ)
nt (p) for growth rate (μ)
tient (p) for growth rate (μ)
ficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
sefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
nk coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
1's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
1an's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
ırman's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
<code>pearman's</code> rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
Spearman's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
.6 Spearman's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
: 3.6 Spearman's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
ble 3.6 Spearman's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)
$\Gamma able \ 3.6$ Spearman's rank coefficient (p) for growth rate (μ)

indition	111 T .com		1 11 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -		
Strain	temp (°C)	α (d ⁻¹ [µmol photons m ⁻² sec ⁻¹] ⁻¹) f	(d ⁻¹ [µmol photons m ⁻² sec ⁻¹] ⁻¹)	$\mu_{\max}(d^{-1})$	E_k (µmol photons m ⁻² sec ⁻¹)
Pn-1	10	$0.0067 \ (0.0016)^{\Lambda}$	$2.4 \mathrm{X10}^{-4} \ (0.0002)$	0.24 (0.045)	36 (15)
	15	0.0047 (0.0016) ^C	0	0.32 (0.148)	70 (55)
	20	0.0098 (0.0026)	0.003 (0.0107)	2.0 (3.4)	200 (410)
CLN47	10	$0.0127 \ (0.0030)^{ m B}$	$2 \mathrm{X10}^{-4} (0.00047)$	0.33 (0.071)	26 (12)
	15	0.0109 (0.0025)	0	0.33 (0.057) ^A	30 (12.0)
	20	0.0094 (0.0052)	0	¢.	ċ
Pn-15	10	$0.0263 (0.0001)^{AB}$	0	¢.	ċ
	15	$0.0239 (0.0047)^{\rm C}$	0.0004~(0.0003)	0.68 (0.072) ^A	28 (9)
	20	5	?	0.78 (0.04)	?
Values differer	for α , β , μ_n ice between	$_{\text{nax}}$ and E_k are given with standard n parameters at the 0.05 level. Ph	error in parentheses. Identical otoinhibition (β) was not tested	letter supersc l statistically c	ripts indicate significant ue to missing values. Data
are in F	igure 3.8.	1		1	

hia grown in three	
of Pseudo-nitzscl	
of two species (idulenta
for three strains	$Dn_1\xi is D from$
urve parameters	A D multisorios
vs. irradiance c	and CI N47 an
Table 3.7 Growth	temperatures Dn_1

Strain	Species	toxin			growth		
		NO ₃	$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	urea	NO ₃	$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	urea
Pn-1	P. multiseries	5 ^a /5 ^b	5/5	5/5	5	5	5
Pn-3	P. calliantha				4	5	5
Pn-8	P. calliantha	5/5	5/5	5/5			
Pn-9	P. fraudulenta	5/5	3/5	4/4	5	5	5
Pn-10	P. fraudulenta				5	5	4
Pn-11	P. fraudulenta				5	5	5
Pn-12	P. fraudulenta	5/5	5/4	5/5	5	5	5
Pn-13	P. calliantha				5	5	5
Pn-15	P. fraudulenta				5	5	5
CLN47	P. multiseries	5/5	5/5	5/5	5	5	5

Table 3.8 Replicates (n) for experiments testing growth and toxin production in cultures grown on different nitrogen sources. Data is in Figures 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7.

^areplicates for the particulate fraction ^breplicates for the dissolved fraction

<u> </u>	Species	Culture Age (year)			
Strain		Toxin ^a	Nitrogen ^b	Irradiance ^c	
Pn-1	P. multiseries	1.5	2.5	2.2	
Pn-3	P. calliantha	1			
Pn-4	P. calliantha	0.3			
Pn-6	P. calliantha	0.3			
Pn-7	P. calliantha	0.5			
Pn-8	P. calliantha	0.5	1.5		
Pn-9	P. fraudulenta	0.25	1.2		
Pn-10	P. fraudulenta	0.75	1.2		
Pn-11	P. fraudulenta	0.75	1.2		
Pn-12	P. fraudulenta	0.75	1.3		
Pn-13	P. calliantha	0.6	1		
Pn-15	P. fraudulenta	0.25	0.2	0.5	
CLN47	P. multiseries	1.2	1.3	1.5	
Pn-16	P. calliantha	0.2			
Pn-17	P.calliantha	0.2			

Table 3.9 Age of cultures in years at the time of experimentation.

^aResults in Figures 3.3 and 3.4 ^bResults in Figures 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7 ^cResults in Figure 3.8.

Panel	Number	parti	culate	disso	dissolved		
		LOQ	LOD	LOQ	LOD		
Α	1	375		345	115		
В	1	163.2	54.4	1020	340		
	2	28.8	9.6	1020	340		
	3	792	264	1020	340		
	4	792	264	396	132		
С	1	375		420	140		
	2	375		1020	340		
	3	375		1165	388.3		
D	1	111.2	37	1165	388.3		
	2	28.4	9.47	420	140		
Ε	1	55.2	18.4	345	115		
	2	44.8	14.9	345	115		
	3	55.2	18.4	1020	340		
	4	28.8	9.6	1020	340		
F	1	111.2	37	420	140		
	2	34	11.3	420	140		

Table 3.10 Limit of quantitation and limit of detection for ELISA method used to analyze data presented in Figs. 3.3 and 3.4. Particulate DA for Panel A and Panel C were obtained via HPLC, thus no LOD is presented.
Fig. 3.1 TEM micrographs of digested frustules of *Pseudo-nitzschia* cultures. A, B and C (scale bar = 1 μ m) show arrangement of poroids. D, E and F (scale bar = 5 μ m) show presence or absence of central interspace and transapical axis. A and F are *P. fraudulenta* (Pn-12), B and E are *P. calliantha* (Pn-13) and C and D are *P. multiseries* (Pn-1).



Fig. 3.2 Parsimony tree inferred for the D1-D3 variable region of LSU (A; 720 positions included) and for the ITS1-5.8S-ITS2 region (B; approx. 990 positions included) from Chesapeake Bay isolates of *Pseudo-nitzschia* (in bold) and sequence data available on GenBank. Analysis was performed using heuristic searches (25X random addition of sequences) with TBR (tree bisection and reconnection) branch swapping. Gaps were treated as a fifth character state in figure 3.2A, and the approximate number of character changes are shown on branches. Each species includes culture identification, location and GenBank accession number.



Fig. 3.2 cont.



Fig. 3.3 Abundance (open squares) and DA concentration normalized to culture volume (diamonds) over time in six *Pseudo-nitzschia* strains of three species grown in silicate-limited medium with NO₃⁻ as a nitrogen source. DA concentrations represent the sum of particulate and dissolved fractions. Open diamonds represent semi-quantitative data (<LOQ, but >LOD). Closed diamonds represent quantitative values (>LOQ). Numbers shown within diamonds indicate LOD and LOQ for each sample in pg mL⁻¹ which can be found in Table 3.10. Zero values were plotted as values of one. (A) Pn-1, *P. multiseries*. (B) CLN47, *P. multiseries*. (C) Pn-8, *P. calliantha*. (D) Pn-3, *P. calliantha*. (E) Pn-12, *P. fraudulenta*. (F) Pn-9, *P. fraudulenta*.



Fig. 3.4 Abundance (open squares) and DA concentration normalized to cell number (diamonds) over time in six *Pseudo-nitzschia* strains of three species. DA concentrations represent the sum of particulate and dissolved fractions. Closed diamonds represent quantitative values (definitions as in Fig. 3.3). LOD and LOQ for each sample are given in Table 3.10. Zero values were plotted as values of 1. (A) Pn-1, *P. multiseries*. (B) CLN47, *P. multiseries*. Open diamonds indicate samples where dissolved fraction was below LOQ. (C) Pn-8, *P. calliantha*. (D) Pn-3, *P. calliantha*. (E) Pn-12, *P. fraudulenta*. (F) Pn-9, *P. fraudulenta*.



Fig. 3.5 Specific growth rates (μ) for strains of *Pseudo-nitzschia* grown on NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and urea. Error bars represent one SD. Means with identical letters above bars are not significantly different at 0.05 using Tukey's studentized range test for each strain. Strain designations are given along the x axis and species names are given at the top of the figure. Replication is shown in Table 3.8.



Fig. 3.6 DA content (ng mL⁻¹) one week after fluorescence peak in strains of *Pseudo-nitzschia* grown on NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and urea in silicate-limited media. Filled bars show particulate DA and open bars show dissolved DA. Error bars represent one SD. Letters showing significant difference are in Table 3.5. Replication is shown in Table 3.8. Note the differences in scale. (A) Pn-1, *P. multiseries* (B) CLN47, *P. multiseries*. Mean dissolved DA in NH₄⁺ and urea treatments contain semi-quantitative data (<LOQ, but >LOD). (C) Pn-8, *P. calliantha*. Mean dissolved DA in the NH₄⁺ treatment contains semi-quantitative data. (D) Pn-12, *P. fraudulenta*. Mean dissolved DA in the NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ treatments and particulate DA in the NO₃⁻ and urea treatments contain semi-quantitative data. (E) Pn-9, *P. fraudulenta*. Mean dissolved DA in all treatments and particulate DA in the NO₃⁻ treatment contain semi-quantitative data.



Fig. 3.7 DA content (fg cell⁻¹) one week after fluorescence peak for strains of *Pseudo-nitzschia* grown on NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and urea in silicate limited media. Filled bars show particulate DA and open bars show dissolved DA. Error bars represent one SD. Letters showing significant difference are in Table 3.5. Replication is shown in Table 3.8. Note the difference in scale. (A) Pn-1, *P. multiseries* (B) CLN47, *P. multiseries*. Mean dissolved DA in NH₄⁺ and urea treatments contain semi-quantitative data (<LOQ, but >LOD). (C) Pn-8, *P. calliantha*. Mean dissolved DA in the NH₄⁺ treatment contains semi-quantitative data. (D) Pn-12, *P. fraudulenta*. Mean dissolved DA in the NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ treatments and particulate DA in the NO₃⁻ and urea treatments contain semi-quantitative data. (E) Pn-9, *P. fraudulenta*. Mean dissolved DA in all treatments and particulate DA in the NO₃⁻ treatment contain semi-quantitative data.



Fig. 3.8 Growth vs. irradiance curves for three strains of two species of *Pseudo-nitzschia* at three temperatures (10°, 15°, 20°C) in nutrient replete medium. (A) Pn-1, *P. multiseries* (B) CLN47, *P. multiseries* (C) Pn-15, *P. fraudulenta*. Photosynthetic parameters derived from curves are summarized in Table 3.7.



Figure 3.9 Growth rates in exponential phase (shaded bars) and total DA content (ng mL⁻¹; open bars) one week after fluorescence peak in strains of *Pseudo-nitzschia* grown in batch culture on NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and urea in silicate-limited media. Error bars represent one SD. Spearman's correlation coefficients are in Table 3.6. Replication is shown in Table 3.8. Note the difference in scale. (A) Pn-1, *P. multiseries* (B) CLN47, *P. multiseries*. (C) Pn-8, *P. calliantha*. (D) Pn-12, *P. fraudulenta*. (E) Pn-9, *P. fraudulenta*.



Figure 3.10 Growth rates in exponential phase (shaded bars) and total DA content (fg cell⁻¹; open bars) one week after fluorescence peak in strains of *Pseudo-nitzschia* grown in batch culture on NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and urea in silicate-limited media. Error bars represent one SD. Spearman's correlation coefficients are in Table 3.6. Replication is shown in Table 3.8. Note the difference in scale. (A) Pn-1, *P. multiseries* (B) CLN47, *P. multiseries*. (C) Pn-8, *P. calliantha*. (D) Pn-12, *P. fraudulenta*. (E) Pn-9, *P. fraudulenta*.



Chapter 4: The effect of a rapid increase in irradiance on domoic acid production and nitrate uptake by *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*

Abstract

Pseudo-nitzschia are diatoms that can be found worldwide, but are common and often toxic during periods of low temperature and rapid fluctuations in irradiance such as spring and fall and in upwelling zones. It has previously been shown that diatoms differ from flagellates and green algae in their carbon and nutrient assimilation and their ability to cope with rapid increases in irradiance. These differences could explain the dominance of diatoms in cool, high nutrient, well-mixed environments. A batch culture of Pseudo-nitzschia *multiseries* was exposed to a 10-fold increase in light (from 20 to 200 µmol photons m⁻²sec⁻¹) at 15°C during exponential and stationary growth phase to investigate the relationship between high light stress, NO₃⁻ reduction and DA production. Of the nitrogen taken up as NO_3^- from the surrounding media, 3.3% was released as NO_2^- and 4.8% was released as NH_4^+ . There was no change in cellular carbon or nitrogen. DA was not produced in the high light treatment, but was produced at a rate of $1.18 \times 10^{-4} \text{ pg DA cell}^{-1}\text{hr}^{-1}$ in the low light controls. Stationary phase cultures did not take up NO₃⁻ or release NO₂⁻ and NH₄⁺. *Pseudo-nitzschia* does increase NO₃⁻ uptake during periods of low temperature and high irradiance, but subsequent NH_4^+ release and electron consumption is very low. These results may be due to xanthophyll cycling preventing a rapid increase in light harvesting.

Introduction

Marine diatoms often form large blooms during periods of low temperature, turbulent mixing and high, pulsed NO₃⁻ delivery, such as spring, fall turnover and in upwelling zones. Often under these conditions, the mixed layer depth exceeds the depth of the euphotic zone, exposing these diatom-dominated populations to rapidly and widely changing irradiance levels from darkness to full sunlight. The dominance of diatoms under these conditions has been explained ecologically as the result of high growth rates or ability to compete for pulsed nutrients (Margalef 1978). Physiological adaptations allowing for diatom dominance under these conditions have been investigated but are not well understood. For example, field studies show diatoms have a higher photosynthetic efficiency than green algae under fluctuating light conditions (Wagner et al. 2006). Laboratory studies of the xanthophyll cycle in diatoms show that a rapid increase in light intensity can be dissipated quickly by nonphotochemical quenching (Lavaud et al. 2004). Some studies propose a physiological model linking NO₃⁻ uptake in excess of growth, light fluctuation and low temperature (Lomas & Glibert 1999, Lomas et al. 2000).

Cells exposed to rapid and wide fluctuations in light can experience transient energy stress due to imbalances between light harvesting and energy utilization. This stress can be increased by temperature limitation of metabolic enzymes such as RUBISCO (Lomas & Glibert 1999). In order to be successful in these cool, well mixed environments, cells would need a strategy to cope with irradiance widely fluctuating on short time scales. One possible means of coping with such stress is luxury uptake and subsequent reduction of NO₃⁻. Previous studies found a negative relationship between NO₃⁻ uptake and temperature in natural assemblages dominated by diatoms during short-term periods of rapid light increase (Lomas & Glibert 1999). Laboratory experiments also showed NO₃⁻ uptake in diatom cultures exposed to a rapid increase in irradiance (from 40-120 µmol photons m⁻²sec⁻¹ to 300-750 µmol photons m⁻²sec⁻¹) at low temperature (Lomas et al. 2000). If diatoms are reducing NO₃⁻ to modulate electron flow during periods of rapid irradiance shifts that could explain the dominance of diatoms in regions of cool temperatures, high NO₃⁻ and turbulent mixing. In fact, experimentally derived temperature optima for nitrate reductase in diatoms ranged from 10-22.2°C (Kristiansen 1983, Lomas & Glibert 2000) and diatom cultures that took up NO₃ under low temperature high light conditions also released NO₂⁻⁻ and NH₄⁺ (Lomas et al. 2000).

Flagellates exhibit a different nitrogen uptake and release pattern under similar low temperature high light conditions. While cultured diatoms take up large amounts of NO_3^- and subsequently release NO_2^- and NH_4^+ , cultured flagellates took up NO_3^- and NH_4^+ without release of NO_2^- or NH_4^+ (Lomas & Glibert 2000, Lomas et al. 2000). The experimentally derived temperature optimum for nitrate reductase in flagellates is 19.9-30.1°C (Lomas & Glibert 2000), higher than nitrate reductase in diatoms. These results show a difference in nitrogen uptake between flagellates and diatoms that could explain diatom dominance of cool, high NO_3^- and turbulent waters such as during seasonal turnover and upwelling events. *Pseudo-nitzschia* is one of the diatom genera that often blooms during the spring and fall and in upwelling zones, suggesting that this genus also has a cold-water adaptation. Since *Pseudo-nitzschia* is known to produce the amino acid-based neurotoxin, domoic acid (DA), changes in nitrogen metabolism such as those described above could play an important role in DA production. If *Pseudo-nitzschia* reduces NO_3^- as a cold water adaptation, could the reduced form of nitrogen later released be DA instead of NH_4^+ ? DA concentrations in natural samples can be higher under low temperature, turbulent conditions, suggesting such an effect on toxin production (Trainer et al. 2000). In addition, DA production is a very energy intensive process that could be used to consume electrons.

Some of the direct effects of light and temperature on DA production have already been investigated. Cells need at least 100 μ mol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ to produce maximal amounts of DA (Bates 1998). Laboratory studies have shown that DA production slows at lower temperatures, but *P. multiseries* can still produce DA at 0°C (Bates et al. 1991, Smith et al. 1993). Previous studies on the effects of light and temperature on DA production allow time for adaptation before sampling, thereby missing any potential stress response. The effect of rapid increases in irradiance at low temperatures on DA production has not been investigated.

Materials and Methods

Growth vs. Irradiance Parameters

Before experimental irradiances could be chosen, growth versus irradiance parameters had to be determined. The experimental strain (*P. multiseries*, CLN47) was adapted through two batch culture generations to the experimental temperature and irradiance. The experiment was performed in $f/2^*$ (Andersen et al. 1997) media at a salinity of 32 in five replicate 10 mL glass tubes at each discreet irradiance. Treatments started at 20 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ and increased at approximately 50 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ intervals until growth rate saturation. Chlorophyll *a* was monitored at the same time daily by *in vivo* fluorescence and used to calculate specific growth rates (Wood et al. 2005). Replicates were averaged and a standard deviation was calculated. The data were fitted to a nonlinear least squares regression using an equation initially derived for photosynthesis (Platt et al. 1980) and modified to describe growth:

$$\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_{max}(1 - e^{((-E\alpha)/\mu max)})e^{((-E\beta)/\mu max)}$$

where μ_0 is the y intercept, μ_{max} is the maximum potential growth rate (d⁻¹), α is the initial light-limited slope (d⁻¹ [µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹), E is the irradiance (µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹) and β (d⁻¹ [µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹]⁻¹) is the slope of the photoinhibited part of the curve. E_k, the irradiance saturating for growth, was calculated for each temperature treatment by dividing µ_{max} by α (Fig. 4.1; Table 4.1).

Culture Maintenance

One strain of *P. multiseries*, CLN47, was maintained in natural seawater media amended with $f/2^*$ at 15°C at the irradiance which was half saturation for growth, 20 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ (Fig. 4.1; Table 4.1) set to a 14:10 L:D cycle for several months. Cells were grown in batch culture and growth phase was monitored at the same time daily via *in vivo* fluorescence of a subsample. Culture volumes were increased for experimentation by adding a volume of stationary phase inoculum that was 7-8% of the volume of the fresh media at each transfer (30 mL to 50 mL to 700 mL to 10 L). Media for the 10 L experimental culture was supplemented with f/2* levels of all nutrients except NO₃⁻, which was added to the medium to obtain 88 µM total NO₃⁻ concentration. The flask was air bubbled and growth was monitored at the same time daily via *in vivo* fluorescence of a subsample. All glassware used in culturing was acid washed in 10% HCl overnight and rinsed with distilled deionized water before use.

Experimental Procedure

Two experimental 10 L cultures were used sequentially, one during exponential phase and another during stationary phase of growth. All glassware, graduated cylinders, sample collection vials and the sample collection apparatus were acid washed in 10% HCl and rinsed with distilled deionized water prior to the experiment and then rinsed with culture just before use. For the exponential phase experiment, when there was approximately 20 μ M NO₃⁻ left in the growth media, 600 mL was removed using a graduated cylinder, poured into a 1 L glass Erlenmeyer flask and kept in 20 umol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹. This was repeated for 6 replicate flasks. Preserved samples (15 mL, 1% gluteraldehyde) were collected from each flask by pipette before the start of the experiment. At t = 0, all flasks were spiked with NO₃⁻ to bring concentrations to 75 μ M (exponential) or 35 μ M (stationary). Three control flasks were left in low irradiance while three treatment flasks were immediately placed in 200 μ mol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ irradiance, which is higher than E_k and a ten-fold increase above the adapted, half-saturation irradiance (Fig. 4.1; Table 4.1). All flasks were sampled for NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺, CHN (to quantify particulate carbon and nitrogen) and DA analysis at t = 0. Dissolved and particulate nitrogen samples were filtered using a light vacuum (<100 mm Hg) and precombusted (450°C for 1 h) Whatman GF/F glass fiber filters. DA samples were gravity filtered onto Whatman GF/F filters. Both the filter and the filtrate were frozen. Samples for NO_2^- , NH_4^+ and DA were collected at t = 30 min and t = 60 min and at time t = 180 min, the NO_3^- and CHN samples were again collected. Another preserved sample was removed from each flask after the t = 180 min sampling. An additional DA sample was taken at t =390 min. The procedure was repeated in its entirety for the culture in stationary phase of growth.

Sample Analysis

Samples were analyzed for inorganic nitrogen (NO_3^- , NO_2^- and NH_4^+) using a Technicon AutoAnalyzer II (USEPA 1979, Lane et al. 2000). Particulate carbon and nitrogen were quantified using a CE-440 Elemental Analyzer (Exeter

148

Analytical Inc. Chelmsford, Massachusetts). Analytical resolution and limit of detection for each analysis can be found in Table 3.2. DA samples were analyzed using an ELISA ASP test kit (Biosense, Norway) for particulate (DA within the cell and therefore on the filter) and dissolved (DA released from the cell and therefore in the media) fractions. Particulate and dissolved DA were summed to get total DA. Preserved samples were filtered onto a 2 µm polycarbonate filter and placed onto a glass microscope slide with immersion oil and cover slip for enumeration of *Pseudo-nitzschia* using an epifluorescence microscope (excitation 450-490 nm, dichromatic beam splitter 500 nm, barrier filter 515nm; Nikon filter set EF-4 B-2A).

Statistical Analysis

Differences between treatments and controls and changes over time were determined by one way ANOVA using Fisher's LSD test for multiple comparisons at the 5% level (SigmaStat ver. 3.1, Systat Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Separate one way ANOVAs were performed on the DA data, testing differences in the treatment and control flasks at t = 0, treatment flasks at t = 0and t = 390 min and control flasks at t = 0 and t = 390 min. When data were not normally distributed a Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA on ranks was performed.

Results

Exponential Phase

After the 180 min exposure to higher irradiance, NO₃⁻ concentrations in treatment flasks were reduced by $14 \pm 8 \ \mu\text{M}$ and increased by $10 \pm 4 \ \mu\text{M}$ in the control (Fig. 4.2). NO₂⁻ concentrations increased by $0.6 \pm 0.3 \ \mu\text{M}$ in the experimental media while NO₂⁻ in the control flasks remained unchanged over 180 min (Fig. 4.3). NH₄⁺ concentrations in treatment flasks increased by $0.7 \pm$ 0.3 μ M after 30 minutes and decreased by $0.5 \pm 0.3 \ \mu\text{M}$ in control flasks after 180 min (Fig. 4.4). Carbon and nitrogen within the cells were the same in treatments and controls and remained unchanged throughout the course of the experiment (Figs. 4.5, 4.6)

DA was present in the culture before initiation of the experiment. The cells were in late exponential phase, a time when this culture can produce DA (Chapter 3, this thesis). Particulate, dissolved and total DA were not different in treatment and control flasks at t = 0 (p > 0.05). Particulate and total DA increased over the course of the experiment in control flasks only; dissolved DA did not (p = 0.013, 0.014 and 0.450, respectively). At the end of the experiment, cells in the control flasks increased particulate DA by 0.05 ± 0.003 pg cell⁻¹ with a production rate of 1.18 X 10⁻⁴ pg DA cell⁻¹hr⁻¹ (Fig. 4.7).

Stationary Phase

During stationary phase, treatment flasks did not have different NO_3^- concentrations after 180 min of exposure to high light (Fig. 4.2). NO_2^- and NH_4^+

concentrations did not increase in treatment flasks (Figs. 4.3 and 4.4). Carbon and nitrogen within the cells also did not change over time (Figs. 4.5 and 4.6). Since this experiment was conducted during stationary phase of growth, DA levels were higher than in the exponential phase experiment (p = 0.002) and increased in the dissolved fraction. At the end of the experiment, particulate and total DA had not changed in the treatments nor the controls (p > 0.05) and dissolved DA had increased in the treatment flasks (p = 0.008; Fig. 4.7).

Discussion

Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen Release

Exponentially growing cells in the treatment flasks reduced the NO₃⁻ in the media by 20%. Release of NO₂⁻ as a percentage of NO₃⁻ uptake was 3.3% and release of NH₄⁺ as a percentage of NO₃⁻ uptake was 4.8%. More than 90% of the nitrogen taken up as NO₃⁻ in the treatment flasks was unaccounted for by the NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺, CHN and DA samples collected. Lack of a statistically significant increase in nitrogen within the cell suggests that the nitrogen was released, but not as NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺ or DA. However, if the statistical result is ignored and an increase in particulate nitrogen is calculated using the average nitrogen content of the cells at t = 0 and t = 180 min (Fig. 4.6), the result is an increase in cellular nitrogen by ~3 pg N cell⁻¹. This could account for the 90% of the nitrogen taken up as NO₃⁻, but not released as NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺ or DA, if the increase in cellular nitrogen is real.

151

This experiment was designed to be comparable to the irradiance shift experiments in Lomas et al. (2000). Both studies exposed diatoms adapted to an irradiance that is half-saturation for growth of the specific strain to an immediate 10 fold increase in irradiance at 15°C. The diatoms used in Lomas et al. (2000) were *Thalassiosira weissflogii* (CCMP1047), *Skeletonema costatum* (CCMP1332) and a *Chaetoceros* sp. with half-saturating irradiances from 40-120 µmol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$, which is higher than the half-saturating irradiance for the *P. multiseries* strain used in this experiment, CLN47. The Lomas et al. (2000) study used 50-70 µmol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$ in the control and 500-700 µmol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$ in the treatment, which is much higher than the treatment irradiances used in this study (200 µmol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$). However, PAR (photosynthetically available radiation) in the Chesapeake Bay in winter and spring can be > 1000 µmol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$ at the surface (www.chesapeakebay.net) which is much higher than the light levels used in either experiment.

All diatom strains used in this study and the Lomas et al. (2000) study took up NO₃⁻ after the irradiance shift up. The important difference between the Lomas et al. (2000) study and these results is the NH₄⁺ release. Release of NO₂⁻ as a percentage of NO₃⁻ uptake is slightly higher in this study (3.3%) than for *Chaetoceros* sp. (2.2%), the same as release in *T. weissflogii* and slightly less than for *S. costatum* (3.9%). Release of NH₄⁺ as a percentage of NO₃⁻ uptake is much lower in this study (4.8%) than for *T. weissflogii* (76.8%) and *S. costatum* (49.6%) but higher than for *Chaetoceros* sp. which did not release NH₄⁺. These differences have important consequences energetically. Lomas et al. (2000) calculated that 1-62% of the electrons harvested in the experimental irradiance were consumed to support the observed increase in NO_2^- and NH_4^+ . The strains that released the most NH_4^+ consumed the most electrons. A similar calculation was performed for *P. multiseries* in this study using the equation:

Electrons produced = ETa*0.5

Where E is the irradiance (mol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$), T is time (s), a* is the chlorophyll-specific absorption (m² mg⁻¹ Chl a) and 0.5 is a constant (Falkowski & Raven 1997). Chlorophyll-specific absorption has not been measured for Pseudo-nitzschia, so a high (0.028) and a low (0.004) a* value for other diatoms in the literature were used (Falkowski et al. 1985, Sakshaug et al. 1991). Electrons consumed were calculated by multiplying the cell specific NO₂⁻ and NH_4^+ release by 4 and 10, respectively (Lomas et al. 2000), representing the relative number of electrons needed for transport and reduction. Electrons consumed to reduce NO_3^- to NO_2^- and NO_2^- to NH_4^+ , to produce the concentrations found in the media at t = 180 min, were a negligible fraction (<<1%) of the electrons harvested in 200 μ mol photons m⁻²sec⁻¹ irradiance over 3 h. While *P. multseries* took up NO_3^- and released NO_2^- and NH_4^+ , the amount of NH₄⁺ released and the amount of electrons consumed were much less than the diatoms in Lomas et al. (2000). This argues against the reduction of NO₃⁻ into NO_2^- and NO_2^- into NH_4^+ as an adaptive energy dissipation pathway in *P*. multiseries strain CLN47 under these experimental conditions.

When grown in a specific irradiance for long periods of time, photosynthetic cells have the capability to photoacclimate to the given light regime. This means changing either the size or number of photosynthetic units (Falkowski & Raven 1997). In microalgae, chlorophyll per cell can increase 5 – 10 fold in low irradiance (Falkowski 1980, Richardson et al. 1983). An increase in pigments could have enabled the cells in this study to dissipate excess light energy via the xanthophyll cycle instead of via nitrate reduction (Hagar & Stransky 1970). This process, whereby accessory carotenoid pigments absorb energy (specifically diadinoxanthin), effectively reduces the size of the photosynthetic unit at high light, i.e., E_k increases (Falkowski & Raven 1997). Specifically, photons are absorbed by the pigment diadinoxanthin and used to convert to diatoxanthin instead of participating in photosystem II. This type of photoprotective mechanism has been documented in laboratory cultures and natural populations of diatoms. For example, field studies in Baffin Bay show that at low temperatures, phytoplankton in the high light surface waters had increased pools of diadinoxanthin cycle pigments and higher nonphotochemical quenching than phytoplankton at depth (Kashino et al. 2002).

The amount of xanthophyll cycle pigments available for use can depend on the light regime to which a cell is acclimated. Diatoms grown in the laboratory in a high irradiance (100 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹) have larger pools of diadinoxanthin cycle pigments than diatoms grown in low irradiance (7 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹; Schumann et al. 2007) and diatoms acclimated to multiple light cycles in a 24 h period have larger pools of diadinoxanthin cycle pigments than diatoms acclimated to a single diel light cycle (40 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹; Lavaud et al. 2002). This suggests that a cell acclimated to constant low light would

154

contain lower quantities of diadinoxanthin cycle pigments and would be less able to dissipate electrons via this mechanism. However, a study of five species of diatoms acclimated to 40 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ showed de-epoxidation of diadinoxanthin within minutes of being exposed to 2000 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ (Lavaud et al. 2004). This suggests that diatoms acclimated to constant low light can dissipate excess energy via the xanthophyll cycle. It is unclear if the low light acclimated cells in this study contained enough diadinoxanthin to dissipate a rapid 10 fold increase in irradiance. Xanthophyll cycling could have been occurring in the treatments, which would confound measurement of nitrate reduction as an energy dissipation pathway. Pigments in the low light adapted *Pseudo-nitzschia* in this experiment were not analyzed.

Increased dissolved inorganic nitrogen release by diatoms during periods of cool temperatures, high NO_3^- availability and high water column turbulence can have important ecological implications. Diatoms have been observed to release nitrogen both as NO_2^- (Collos 1998, Lomas et al. 2000, Singler & Villareal 2005) and NH_4^+ (Lomas et al. 2000, Singler & Villareal 2005) in laboratory experiments and in natural populations. NO_2^- excretion by phytoplankton in the field is important for the creation of the primary $NO_2^$ maximum (Al-Qutob et al. 2002, Lomas & Lipschultz 2006) and supporting new production in some areas (Singler & Villareal 2005). In the field, NO_2^- excretion can vary from 4% to 63% of NO_3^- uptake (Miyazaki et al. 1975, Olson et al. 1980) and depends on NO_3^- concentration (Wada & Hattori 1971, Collos & Slawyk 1983) and light (Wada & Hattori 1971, Miyazaki et al. 1973, Miyazaki et al. 1975, Olson et al. 1980, Losada et al. 1981). NO_2^- release can also be stimulated by Fe limitation due to the need for ferrodoxin in nitrite reductase (Milligan & Harrison 2000, Singler & Villareal 2005). In laboratory cultures, NO_2^- release varies from 0 to 50% of NO_3^- uptake in the light and 0 to 96% in the dark (Collos 1998). Greater NO_2^- excretion in the dark can be explained by the light requirement for ferrodoxin synthesis (Losada et al. 1981). NO_2^- release in this study was a small fraction of NO_3^- uptake (3.3%) which is consistent with increased light promoting nitrite reductase activity.

Domoic Acid Production

In these experiments, the production of DA was lower in the treatments than in the controls. This suggests that a high light pulse in combination with low temperature can reduce DA production by affecting at least one of the following necessary processes: Citric Acid Cycle reactions in the mitochondria, Calvin Cycle reactions in the chloroplast and/or NO_3^- reduction. The 15 carbon DA molecule is synthesized from a 5 carbon glutamate and a 10 carbon geranyl phosphate with the help of several enzymes (Laycock et al. 1989, Douglas et al. 1992, Pan et al. 1998, Ramsey et al. 1998). One of those enzymes, nitrate reductase, in diatoms operates optimally at 10-22°C, which is lower than the temperature optimum for another enzyme, RUBISCO (Packard et al. 1971, Kristiansen 1983, Dohler 1991, Lomas et al. 2000). At cool temperatures this would provide plenty of NO_2^- for subsequent reduction by nitrite reductase to form NH_4^+ which could then be used in glutamate synthesis. However, RUBISCO drives the Calvin Cycle and, in diatoms, operates optimally at >30°C (Li et al. 1984, Smith & Platt 1985, Descolas-Gros & de Billy 1987, Lomas et al. 2000). This would limit DA biosynthesis in cool temperatures by reducing available geranyl phosphate, which is synthesized via the GAP/pyruvate pathway and requires glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate, a product of the Calvin cycle. In addition, a release of NH_4^+ into the media (as seen in the Lomas et al. 2000) experiments) could reduce the glutamate available within the cell for DA synthesis.

In the exponential phase experiments, the DA production rate was lower than those reported for other strains of *P. multiseries* in the laboratory under low Fe stress $(1.25 \times 10^{-2} \text{ pg DA cell}^{-1}\text{h}^{-1})$, toxic Cu stress $(3.27 \times 10^{-2} \text{ pg DA cell}^{-1}\text{h}^{-1})$ and Si stress in continuous culture $(0.13 \text{ pg DA cell}^{-1}\text{h}^{-1})$; Pan et al. 1996b, Maldonado et al. 2002). Reported production rates of *P. multiseries* strain NPBIO in batch culture under Si limitation $(1.26 \times 10^{-3} - 4.0 \times 10^{-5} \text{ pg DA} \text{ cell}^{-1}\text{h}^{-1})$ approximate the production rate in this study (Pan et al. 1996a). In stationary phase, DA concentrations were higher and increased in the dissolved fraction over time, which is similar to previous batch culture studies showing higher DA concentrations in stationary phase and release of DA into the media as cell membranes begin to fail (Bates 1998).

These experiments are a preliminary investigation into an adaptive mechanism for coping with high light pulses and low temperature in *Pseudo-nitzschia* and the relationship to DA production. The results show that uncoupling growth and photosynthesis via high light pulses suppresses DA

production unlike uncoupling growth and photosynthesis through nutrient limitation in the laboratory. This could have important ecological implications for natural populations of *Pseudo-nitzschia*. Further work is necessary to confirm these results.

Table 4.1 Growth vs. Irradiance curve (Fig. 4.1) parameters for P.*multiseries* strain CLN47 grown at 15°C. Parameter values are givenwith standard error in parentheses.

Parameter	Value	Unit
α	0.0109 (0.0025)	d ⁻¹ [µmol photons m ⁻² sec ⁻¹] ⁻¹
β	0	d ⁻¹ [µmol photons m ⁻² sec ⁻¹] ⁻¹
μ_{max}	0.33 (0.057)	d ⁻¹
E _k	30 (12.0)	μmol photons m ⁻² sec ⁻¹

Analysis	Analytical resolution ^a	Limit of detection ^b	Unit
Dissolved ammonium	0.06	0.21	μM
Dissolved nitrite and nitrate	<0.01	0.01	μM
Dissolved nitrite	0.01	0.03	μM
Particulate carbon	0.02	0.06	pg cell ⁻¹
Particulate nitrogen	<0.01	0.003	pg cell ⁻¹

Table 4.2 Analytical resolution and limit of detection for dissolved inorganic nitrogen.

^aAnalytical resolution calculated as the standard deviation of seven replicates collected from one container

^bLimit of detection calculated as the standard deviation*3

Figure 4.1 Growth (μ) versus Irradiance (μ mol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹) curve for *P. multiseries* strain (CLN47) used in this experiment at 15°C.



Figure 4.2 Concentrations (μ M) of NO₃⁻ in (A) exponential and (B) stationary phase experiments in treatment (open bar) and control (closed bar) flasks after 180 minutes. * Indicates significant difference between treatment and controls (p < 0.05). Error bars represent one standard deviation.



Figure 4.3 Concentrations (μ M) of NO₂⁻ in (A) exponential and (B) stationary phase experiments in treatment (open bar) and control (closed bar) flasks after 180 minutes. * Indicates significant difference between treatment and controls (p < 0.05). Error bars represent one standard deviation.



Figure 4.4 Concentrations (μ M) of NH₄⁺ in (A) exponential and (B) stationary phase experiments in treatment (open bar) and control (closed bar) flasks after 180 minutes. * Indicates significant difference between treatment and controls (p < 0.05). Error bars represent one standard deviation.



Figure 4.5 Carbon (pg cell⁻¹) within the cell in (A) exponential and (B) stationary phase experiments in treatment (open bar) and control (closed bar) flasks after 180 minutes. * Indicates significant difference between treatment and controls (p < 0.05). Error bars represent one standard deviation. The ANOVA p value for A is 0.125 and B is 0.734.


Figure 4.6 Nitrogen (pg cell⁻¹) within the cell in (A) exponential and (B) stationary phase experiments in treatment (open bar) and control (closed bar) flasks after 180 minutes. * Indicates significant difference between treatment and controls (p < 0.05). Error bars represent one standard deviation. The ANOVA p value for A is 0.125 and B is 0.583.



Figure 4.7 Domoic acid (pg cell⁻¹) in exponential (A, C, E) and stationary (B, D, F) phase experiments in treatment (open bar) and control (closed bar) flasks after 390 min. Panels A and B give total DA. Panels C and D give particulate DA. Panels E and F give dissolved DA. *Indicates significant difference between the marked bars at t = 0 and t = 390 (p < 0.05). Error bars represent one standard deviation.



Summary: Chapter 5

General Findings and Expansion of Previous Knowledge

The research conducted for this dissertation was designed to permit explorations of *Pseudo-nitzschia* ecology in a dynamic estuary, the Chesapeake Bay. Preliminary work identifying species and toxicity of strains isolated from the Chesapeake (A. Thessen, unpubl.) was contrary to what state environmental agencies commonly believed about the genus. This led to field studies conducted to determine spatial and temporal dynamics of species and toxin production, which were highly variable and generally low (Chapter 2). This led to the following questions: What is the intra- and interspecies variability of this genus? Could the light regime in the Chesapeake affect DA production?

Pseudo-nitzschia in the Chesapeake Bay can be toxic; however, domoic acid in field samples was relatively low and uncommon. *Pseudo-nitzschia* is a cosmopolitan genus (Hasle 2002, Chapter 1, this thesis) often reported to produce DA in many environments. To date, the highest toxin concentrations in nature have been reported from high salinity, upwelling zones and coastal embayments (Bates et al. 1989, Scholin et al. 2000, Trainer et al. 2000, Vale et al. 2007). Toxin concentrations in the Chesapeake Bay, a low salinity, estuarine environment, have been generally low to date and prior to this study were thought non-existent. However, many of the species present in the Chesapeake are toxic elsewhere (Bates et al. 1989, Martin et al. 1990, Rhodes et al. 1998b). Nutrients in the Chesapeake are rarely limiting at the times *Pseudo*-nitzschia is most abundant (winter-spring; Fig. 5.1), which could partially explain the low DA. Cells in the field are rarely exposed to the nutrient-limiting conditions in the field that stimulate DA production in the laboratory. The presence of low levels of DA in the Chesapeake has raised the following questions: What are the effects of repeated, subacute doses of toxin on humans and animals? How widespread is DA in Chesapeake food webs? Why are Chesapeake *Pseudo-nitzschia* low toxin producers?

The most common species is P. calliantha. Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha is a relatively new species, described in 2003 using a combination of morphological and molecular evidence (Lundholm et al. 2003). It is difficult to be sure about the historic range and toxicity of this species due to the absence of micrographs in many historical reports. Current reports are of *P. calliantha* in Europe, North America and Australia with little to no toxicity (Martin et al. 1990, Lundholm et al. 1994, 1997, Lundholm et al. 2003, Chapter 1). Since the most common species of *Pseudo*-nitzschia in the Chesapeake produces little to no DA, the lack of toxin in the field is not unusual. Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha has not been previously reported from the Chesapeake Bay (Marshall et al. 2005); however, it could have been present prior to 2003 as Marshall (1994) reported P. *pseudodelicatissima* (the species which was split to form *P. calliantha*) in samples collected from 1963-1993. The phytoplankton monitoring database by the Maryland Department of Natural Resources lists all *Pseudo-nitzschia* as either *P*. *pungens* or *P. seriata* without confirmation via electron microscopy. It is not

clear if this represents a species shift or limited taxonomic resolution for the Chesapeake populations.

Pseudo-nitzschia abundances in the Chesapeake are related to low temperatures and high salinities. Abundances of *Pseudo-nitzschia* are highest in winter and early spring in saltier water, but broad tolerances in this genus prevent complete exclusion from warmer, fresher areas. Similar patterns have been documented in the Adriatic (Caroppo et al. 2005) and the Gulf of Mexico (Dortch et al. 1997). Fluctuations in temperature and precipitation in the Chesapeake Bay area can influence *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundances annually, through the thermal limits identified here and freshwater discharge which governs salinity, clarity and nutrient distributions (e.g., Malone et al. 1988, Harding 1994, Fisher et al. 1999, Roman et al. 2005). Overall phytoplankton dynamics in the Chesapeake are related to the effect of winter climate variability on river discharge and nutrient loads (Miller et al. 2006b, Miller & Harding 2007). These temperature and salinity effects likely influence where and when *Pseudo-nitzschia* occur in the Chesapeake (Chapter 2) and results in seasonal and annual fluctuation in abundances.

Intra- and interspecies variation in physiological responses in culture experiments was wide; there was no characteristic response from the genus or from any species. Species could be easily and consistently resolved using morphological and molecular data; however, species, defined in this way, was not a good predictor of physiology (Chapter 3). Within species variation in growth rate and DA production shows the inadequacy of traditional morphological species definitions in describing physiology and emphasizes the importance of working with multiple strains. Furthermore, many physiological characters that are commonly applied to the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* from mostly single strain experiments may not be as widely applicable as first thought. High functional diversity within species of Chesapeake *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Chapter 3) suggests the presence of multiple ecotypes as in Narragansett Bay populations of *Skeletonema costatum* (Gallagher 1982, Gallagher et al. 1984) and Puget Sound populations of *Ditylum brightwellii* (Rynearson et al. 2006) or cryptic species as proposed in European populations of *P. delicatissima* and *P. pseudodelicatissima* (Amato et al. 2007).

Pseudo-nitzschia grew and produced DA on all nitrogen sources tested.

Previous research on diatoms shows many species have the ability to utilize multiple nitrogen sources (Eppley et al. 1969, McCarthy 1972), typically, the nitrogen source that is most readily available (McCarthy et al. 1977, Dortch 1990). *Pseudo-nitzschia* is not unique in this regard (Chapter 3). Previous studies have shown growth and toxicity on multiple nitrogen sources (Bates et al. 1993a, Hillebrand & Sommer 1996, Armstrong Howard et al. 2007), but these studies do not compare strains. These results (Chapter 3) show that intraspecies variation in growth rates and toxin production on a given nitrogen source can be high. At least one strain grew optimally and produced toxin on all nitrogen sources tested

172

(Chapter 3). The high intra- and interspecies variability noted for *Pseudonitzschia* suggests that no detectable difference in abundance or toxin should result from change in relative abundance of nitrogen species in the Chesapeake, such as through increased use of urea fertilizer (Glibert et al. 2006).

Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries took up 20% of available dissolved nitrate and released only 10% of this as nitrite or ammonia during a high light pulse at low temperature. As a temperate estuary, cool springs and seasonal turnover typify the Chesapeake. A model has been proposed to explain the dominance of diatoms in cool environments with high nutrients and high water column turbulence in reference to nitrate reduction (Lomas & Glibert 1999). Hence, the effective use of nitrate by *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Chapter 4) might prove beneficial in cool well-mixed environments where this genus is often found. Slight differences between *Pseudo-nitzschia* and other diatoms exposed to a high light pulse in low temperatures exist (Lomas et al. 2000), e.g., that *Pseudo-nitzschia* takes up large quantities of nitrate, but does not release very much nitrite or ammonia, as suggested by the aforementioned model. Either *Pseudo-nitzschia* does not possess the same cold water adaptation or is using a different mechanism to protect itself from high irradiance pulses in low temperatures.

A rapid increase in irradiance in combination with other factors, likely including temperature limitation of enzymes, reduces DA production in the laboratory. Previous studies on the effects of temperature and light on DA production do not focus on parameter shifts or periods of adaptation. Typically higher irradiances will result in higher DA production (Bates et al. 1991); however, in this experiment, a rapid increase in light actually decreased DA production. The exact mechanisms for this decrease are unknown and require further experimentation.

Domoic Acid in Chesapeake Bay Food Webs and Potential Impacts

Why are there no documented incidents of ASP or DAP in the Chesapeake Bay region despite the large human and waterfowl populations and multiple fisheries? From previous work (Perl et al. 1990, Work et al. 1993a,b, Scholin et al. 2000), three simultaneous requisite conditions for a toxic event must be in place: abundant toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia*, a planktivorous vector feeding on the *Pseudo-nitzschia*, and a higher trophic level feeding on the vector. Due to the water soluble nature of DA, unless all three circumstances occur at the same time, a toxic event will not occur. In addition, appropriate conditions must be met for maximum DA production by the cell. These situations rarely occur globally, but have become common in areas such as the west coast of North America.

Abundances of *Pseudo-nitzschia* can fluctuate widely seasonally and annually depending on factors such as nutrients, salinity and temperature. Potentially toxic species are present in the Chesapeake Bay, but field samples from the area do not contain high levels of domoic acid. *Pseudo-nitzschia* can grow at the low salinities found in the Chesapeake and can produce toxin at salinities as low as 10 (Thessen et al. 2005, Doucette et al. in press). However, maximum toxin production occurs at salinities above 20 due to the cell's inability to provide energy for DA production while maintaining a high growth rate under osmotic stress, even when adapted to low salinities (Doucette et al. in press).

In addition to salinity effects, available light in the turbid waters of the Chesapeake Bay is often below the 100 μ mol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ required to saturate DA production (Bates 1998; Table 5.1). Calculation of mean PAR in the mixed layer by month for the Chesapeake Bay using published values of modal surface PAR on sunny days, mixed layer depth (Fisher et al. 2003) and diffuse attenuation coefficients (Harding et al. 1985) show that late spring and summer (April through August) is the only time when irradiances exceed 100 µmol photons $m^{-2} \sec^{-1}$ in the water column. Most of that time, during the summer, Pseudo-nitzschia is less abundant or absent. The month with the highest percentage of samples positive for DA in our study is April (Table 5.1), which is the month where temperatures are likely to be cool and irradiances are likely to be above 100 μ mol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹. It is important to note, that the modal PAR represents the irradiance that cells are most often exposed to, not necessarily the highest irradiance. Instantaneous surface measurements of PAR in the Chesapeake can exceed 1000 μ mol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ (www.chesapeakebay.net). In the Chesapeake, when temperature is optimal for *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance, irradiance would be limiting to DA production. Light and salinity are two highly variable factors in the Chesapeake that can have an impact on DA production and provide a partial explanation for low DA in field samples.

One of the factors necessary for an intoxication event was not investigated in the current study: there was no assessment of DA content in potential vectors such as bivalves or planktivorous fish and this remains a potential focus for future research. There are several types of bivalves in the Chesapeake either harvested for human consumption or prey for system predators. The eastern oyster *Crassostrea virginica* has been the primary suspension feeding bivalve since colonial times (Kennedy 1996) and is harvested for human consumption. This species is known to feed on a wide range of plankton, including diatoms. Due to disease and over harvesting most C. virginica are located in the mesohaline (salinities of 10-20) portions of the Chesapeake and are therefore less likely to be exposed to maximal concentrations of DA. Laboratory feeding experiments show C. virginica grazing does not differ between toxic and nontoxic strains of Pseudo*nitzschia*, but grazing is less and pseudofeces production is higher when given *Pseudo-nitzschia* than other diatoms. Smaller oysters show a reduced capability for grazing on *Pseudo-nitzschia* by producing large amounts of pseudofeces and no feces (Thessen et al. in prep). Possibly cell size and shape, rather than the DA, make *Pseudo-nitzschia* less palatable than many other diatoms (Tenore & Dunstan 1973).

Hard clams (*Mercenaria mercenaria*) are produced in aquaculture operations in upper mesohaline and polyhaline areas of the Chesapeake for human consumption (Roegner & Mann 1991). Since higher salinity favors maximum toxin production (Doucette et al. in press), DA contamination in these clams is possible because of their location, but not documented. To date, no experiments

176

have been published investigating hard clam grazing on *Pseudo-nitzschia*. However, hard clams decrease their grazing when given other types of toxic algae (Pate et al. 2006, Shumway et al. 2006).

In addition to bivalves, planktivorous fish are potential vectors of DA and plentiful in the Chesapeake. In other areas, many small, schooling fish like sardines and anchovies have caused DAP events or had DA in their tissues, but this has not happened in the Chesapeake despite the presence of many similar types of fish. Atlantic menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*) are an abundant fish species that feed primarily on phytoplankton as an adult (Durbin & Durbin 1983) and in turn are an important food source for predatory fish and birds (Hartman & Brandt 1995). Most of the menhaden in the Chesapeake are juveniles that feed on zooplankton; adults remain in saltier waters near the Atlantic coast. They are harvested commercially for their oil, a major ingredient in many pet and human food products. Since DA is a water soluble molecule, the likelihood of the toxin being transferred to these products in the oil is low. However, eating menhaden whole (including the digestive tract) would pose a DAP risk to animals on the Atlantic coast. Other small fish such as the bay anchovy (Anchoa mitchilli) and the Atlantic silverside (Menidia menidia) are an important food source in the Chesapeake, but are secondary consumers themselves. This does not mean they cannot contain DA passed to them by their zooplankton prey, but it does decrease the likelihood of subsequent passage of DA to the next trophic level. Anchovies in other areas (*Engraulis mordax*) that have caused DAP events directly feed on large diatoms in addition to zooplankton, unlike the bay anchovy or the atlantic

silverside which feed on zooplankton exclusively (www.fishbase.org; Robins & Ray 1986, Whitehead et al. 1988). Other herbivorous fish such as the eastern silvery minnow (*Hybognathus regius*), the gizzard shad (*Dorosoma cepedianum*) and the spot tail shiner (*Notropis hudsonius*) are present in the Chesapeake, but only in low salinity waters, which decreases the likelihood of exposure to DA-producing *Pseudo-nitzschia* (www.fishbase.org).

Hence, the overall DAP and ASP risk in the Chesapeake is low. The "ideal vector" species would live in a high salinity part of the Chesapeake during the winter and early spring, eat primarily phytoplankton and serve as a primary food source for another consumer. Of the species discussed above, Mercenaria *mercenaria* is a possible candidate for causing ASP in humans, but data are sparse on *M. mercenaria* grazing on *Pseudo-nitzschia* and DA content. The hooked mussel (Ischadium recurvum) is a possible vector of DA to the seaducks that feed on them while over wintering in the Chesapeake (Perry et al. 2004). Hooked mussels can survive over a wide range of salinities and are typically found living on oyster reefs in the region; however, their grazing and toxin accumulation is not known. The only fish species that could act as a vector is atlantic menhaden, but only the adults, and primarily to animals that would eat the entire fish. The restricted number of potential vectors combined with environmental conditions that restrict DA production make the risk of DAP or ASP in the Chesapeake Bay low.

Ecological Meaning of Intra- and Interspecies Differences

In the rapidly and widely changing environment of the coastal ocean, maintaining a functionally diverse population (whether phytoplankton or other) would be advantageous, allowing at least some individuals to do well under nearly any given set of conditions. Instead of multiple narrow niches and diatom evolution proceeding toward more species, the niche is wide and diatom evolution would proceed toward fewer species with high functional diversity, or intraspecies variation. Laboratory studies conducted as a part of this thesis and field studies support this idea (Gallagher 1982, Evans et al. 2005, Chapter 3). Variation of this sort will thwart attempts to characterize a diatom species by a strict set of physiological responses, especially when only one strain is considered. Variation previously attributed to differences in species or genera could actually represent differences between strains. However, some of this variation could represent differences between reproductively isolated cryptic species resulting from sympatric speciation (Beszteri et al. 2005). Comprehensive studies comparing morphology, phylogeny, physiology and mating compatibility are necessary to characterize diatom species.

Until relatively recently, diatom taxonomy has remained linked to the study of the silica frustule. Many frustule characteristics are used in taxonomy without any insight into their adaptive significance or how they may have evolved. Evolutionary pressures that change physiology may or may not also affect frustule morphology and *vice versa*. However, since diatoms are sexually reproducing organisms, there should be a reliable species-level taxonomy based

179

on variation in phenotype. Now, genetic sequencing is being used in conjunction with frustule morphology to evaluate species (Lundholm et al. 2003, Lundholm et al. 2006). Molecular data can give new insights into morphologically based taxonomic characters, but are particularly useful when related to biological processes.

Recent studies examining molecular and morphological characters to better describe diatom taxonomy have made significant headway; however, a truly exhaustive study should include mating and physiological experiments to look for cryptic species and functional diversity. ITS (internal transcribed spacer) and LSU (large subunit) rRNA sequences did not provide insight into functional diversity in this study, but sequencing more physiologically relevant genes may prove useful. The whole genome sequencing of *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* currently underway (DOE Joint Genome Institute

http://www.jgi.doe.gov/sequencing/DOEmicrobes2006.html) will be an asset to investigations of functional diversity by enabling researchers to measure regulation of genes for specific cellular processes and to develop an EST (expressed sequence tag) library. Microsatellites have been used to describe variation in natural populations of *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Evans et al. 2005) and could be useful in describing functional diversity and biogeography on a more detailed level than ribosomal RNA.

This thesis provides information on Chesapeake Bay *Pseudo-nitzschia* populations, strain variability and toxin production physiology. Many questions about taxonomy, toxin production and ecophysiology were answered, yet many

180

more questions concerning the effect of high light pulses on DA production, the prevalence of DA in Chesapeake food webs and the ecological meaning of intraspecies differences remain unanswered. Future research on Chesapeake *Pseudo-nitzschia* should focus on assessing the extent of DA in primary consumers, comparing mid-Atlantic strains of *Pseudo-nitzschia* using mating experiments and further probing the effects of decoupling photosynthesis and growth on DA production.

Table 5.1 Average PAR in the mixed layer, modal surface PAR and the
percentage of samples positive for DA by month. Average PAR was
calculated using modal PAR values on a sunny day for each month found
in Fisher et al. (2003), a value of 5 m for mixed layer depth, 1 m ⁻¹ for
diffuse attenuation coefficient and an equation that can be used to express
the mean water column PAR for any aquatic system (Phlips et al. 1995).

Month	average water	modal surface	% samples	
	column PAR	PAR	positive for DA	n
January	42.4	224	33	6
February	59.1	314	68	19
March	84.1	446	40	20
April	111	589	78	9
Мау	126	671	46	13
June	126	670	ND	
July	124	654	ND	
August	113	596	ND	
September	94.1	499	0	0
October	68.2	361	17	6
November	48.4	257	57	7
December	43.1	228	75	4

Figure 5.1 Dissolved nutrient concentrations in the Chesapeake Bay. Data were taken from the Maryland DNR database at <u>www.chesapeakebay.net</u> from 2002-2007, September through May.



Appendix A: References used to create Figure 1.2

Cerino, F., L. Orsini, D. Sarno, C. Dell'Aversano, L. Tartaglione and A. Zingone. 2005. The alternation of different morphotypes in the seasonal cycle of the toxic diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia galaxiae*. *Harmful Algae*. 4: 33-48.

Cho, E.S., H.J. Hur, H.S. Byun, S.G. Lee, L.L. Rhodes, C.S. Jeong and J.G. Park. 2002. Monthly monitoring of domoic acid producer *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Hasle) Hasle using species-specific DNA probes and WGA lectins and abundance of *Pseudo-nitzschia* species (Bacillariophyceae) from Chinhae Bay, Korea. *Bot. Mar.* 45: 364-372.

Crosbie, N.D. and M.J. Furnas. 2001. Net growth rates of picocyanobacteria and nano-/microphytoplankton inhabiting shelf waters of the central (17° S) and southern (20° S) Great Barrier Reef. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* 24: 209-224.

De Baar, H.J.W., P.W. Boyd, K.H. Coale, M.R. Landry, A. Tsuda, P. Assmy, D.C.E. Bakker, Y. Bozec, R.T. Barber, M.A. Brzezinski, K.O. Buesseler, M. Boye, P.L. Croot, F. Gervais, M.Y. Gorbunov, P.J. Harrison, W.T. Hiscock, P. Laan, C. Lancelot, C.S. Law, M. Levasseur, A. Marchetti, F.J. Millero, J. Nishioka, Y. Nojiri, T. van Oijen, U. Riebesell, M.J.A. Rijkenberg, H. Saito, S. Takeda, K.R. Timmermans, M.J.W. Veldhuis, A.M. Waite and C.S. Wong. 2005. Synthesis of iron fertilization experiments: From the iron age in the age of enlightenment. *J. Geophys. Res. Oceans.* 110: C09S16, doi:10.1029/2004JC002601.

Dortch, Q., R. Robichaux, S. Pool, D. Milsted, G. Mire, N.N. Rabalais, T.M. Soniat, G.A. Fryxell, R.E. Turner and M.L. Parsons. 1997. Abundance and vertical flux of *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 146: 249-264.

El-Sabaawi, R. and P.J. Harrison. 2006. Interactive effects of irradiance and temperature on the photosynthetic physiology of the pennate diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia granii* (Bacillariophyceae) from the northeast subarctic Pacific. *J. Phycol.* 42: 778-785.

Evans, K.M., S.F. Kuhn and P.K. Hayes. 2005. High levels of genetic diversity and low levels of genetic differentiation in North Sea *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* (Bacillariophyceae) populations. *J. Phycol.* 41: 506-514.

Evans, K.M., S.S. Bates, L.K. Medlin and P.K. Hayes. 2004. Microsatellite marker development and genetic variation in the toxic marine diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 40: 911-920.

Fehling, J., K. Davidson and S.S. Bates. 2005. Growth dynamics of non-toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* and toxic *P. seriata* (Bacillariophyceae) under simulated spring and summer photoperiods. *Harmful Algae*. 4: 763-769.

Forbes, J.R. and K.L. Denman. 1991. Distribution of *Nitzschia pungens* in coastal waters of British Columbia. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 48: 960-967.

Hasle, G.R. 1965. *Nitzschia* and *Fragilariopsis* species studied in the light and electron microscopes II. The group *Pseudo-nitzschia*. *Skrift*. *Norske Vidensk*. *Akad*. 18: 1-45.

Hasle, G.R. 1995. *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* and *P. multiseries* (Bacillariophyceae) - nomenclatural history, morphology, and distribution. *J. Phycol.* 31: 428-435.

Hasle, G.R. and N. Lundholm. 2005. *Pseudo-nitzschia seriata* f. *obtusa* (Bacillariophyceae) raised in rank based on morphological, phylogenetic and distributional data. *Phycologia*. 44: 608-619.

Hasle, G.R., C.B. Lange and E.E. Syvertsen. 1996. A review of *Pseudo-nitzschia*, with special reference to the Skagerrak, North Atlantic, and adjacent waters. *Helgolander Meeresun.* 50: 131-175.

Kaczmarska, I., M.M. LeGresley, J.L. Martin and J. Ehrman. 2005. Diversity of the diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* Peragallo in the Quoddy Region of the Bay of Fundy, Canada. *Harmful Algae*. 4: 1-19.

Lundholm, N., J. Skov, R. Pocklington and Ø. Moestrup. 1997. Studies on the marine planktonic diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia*. 2. Autecology of *P. pseudodelicatissima* based on isolates from Danish coastal waters. *Phycologia*. 36: 381-388.

Lundholm, N., G.R. Hasle, G.A. Fryxell and P.E. Hargraves. 2002. Morphology, phylogeny and taxonomy of species within the *Pseudo-nitzschia americana* complex (Bacillariophyceae) with descriptions of two new species, *Pseudo-nitzschia brasiliana* and *Pseudo-nitzschia linea*. *Phycologia*. 41: 480-497.

Lundholm, N., Ø. Moestrup, G.R. Hasle and K. Hoef-Emden. 2003. A study of the *Pseudo-nitzschia pseudodelicatissima/cuspidata* complex (Bacillariophyceae): What is *P. pseudodelicatissima*? *J. Phycol.* 39: 797-813.

Lundholm, N., Ø. Moestrup, Y. Kotaki, K. Hoef-Emden, C. Scholin and P. Miller. 2006. Inter- and intraspecific variation of the *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* complex (Bacillariophyceae) illustrated by rRNA probes, morphological data and phylogenetic analyses. *J. Phycol.* 42: 464-481.

Manhart, J.R., G.A. Fryxell, M.C. Villac and L.Y. Segura. 1995. *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* and *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Bacillariophyceae) - Nuclear ribosomal DNAs and species differences. *J. Phycol.* 31: 421-427.

Marchetti, A., V.L. Trainer and P.J. Harrison. 2004. Environmental conditions and phytoplankton dynamics associated with *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance and domoic acid in the Juan de Fuca eddy. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 281: 1-12.

Marshall, H.G. 1980. Seasonal phytoplankton composition in the lower Chesapeake Bay and Old-Plantation Creek, Cape-Charles, Virginia. *Estuaries*. 3: 207-216.

Marshall, H.G. 1994. Chesapeake bay phytoplankton I. composition. *Proc. Biol. Soc. Wash.* 107: 573-585.

Marshall, H.G., L. Burchardt and R. Lacouture. 2005. A review of phytoplankton composition within Chesapeake Bay and its tidal estuaries. *J. Plankton Res.* 27: 1083-1102.

Mercado, J.M., T. Ramirez, D. Cortes, M. Sebastian and M. Vargas-Yanez. 2005. Seasonal and inter-annual variability of the phytoplankton communities in an upwelling area of the Alboran Sea (SW Mediterranean Sea). *Sci. Mar.* 69: 451-465.

Miller, P.E. and C.A. Scholin. 1996. Identification of cultured *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) using species-specific LSU rRNA-targeted fluorescent probes. *J. Phycol.* 32: 646-655.

Miller, R.L. and D.L. Kamykowski. 1986. Effects of temperature, salinity, irradiance and diurnal periodicity on growth and photosynthesis in the diatom *Nitzschia americana*: light limited growth. *J. Plankton Res.* 8: 215-228.

Orsini, L., G. Procaccini, D. Sarno and M. Montresor. 2004. Multiple rDNA ITS-types within the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* (Bacillariophyceae) and their relative abundances across a spring bloom in the Gulf of Naples. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 271: 87-98.

Orsini, L., D. Sarno, G. Procaccini, R. Poletti, J. Dahlmann and M. Montresor. 2002. Toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata* (Bacillariophyceae) from the Gulf of Naples: morphology, toxin analysis and phylogenetic relationships with other *Pseudo-nitzschia* species. *Eur. J. Phycol.* 37: 247-257.

Parsons, M.L., C.A. Scholin, P.E. Miller, G.J. Doucette, C.L. Powell, G.A. Fryxell, Q. Dortch and T.M. Soniat. 1999. *Pseudo-nitzschia* species (Bacillariophyceae) in Louisiana coastal waters: Molecular probe field trials, genetic variability, and domoic acid analyses. *J. Phycol.* 35: 1368-1378.

Priisholm, K., Ø. Moestrup and N. Lundholm. 2002. Taxonomic notes on the marine diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the Andaman Sea near the island of Phuket, Thailand, with a description of *Pseudo-nitzschia micropora* sp. nov. *Diatom Res.* 17: 153-175.

Rhodes, L., C. Scholin and I. Garthwaite. 1998. *Pseudo-nitzschia* in New Zealand and the role of DNA probes and immunoassays in refining marine biotoxin monitoring programmes. *Nat. Toxins.* 6: 105-111.

Rhodes, L.L. 1998. Identification of potentially toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) in New Zealand coastal waters, using lectins. *New Zeal. J. Mar. Fresh.* 32: 537-544.

Rhodes, L.L., J. Adamson and C. Scholin. 2000. *Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata* (Bacillariophyceae) in New Zealand. *New Zeal. J. Mar. Fresh.* 34: 463-467.

Scholin, C.A., F. Gulland, G.J. Doucette, S. Benson, M. Busman, F.P. Chavez, J. Cordaro, R. DeLong, A. De Vogelaere, J. Harvey, M. Haulena, K. Lefebvre, T. Lipscomb, S. Loscutoff, L.J. Lowenstine, R. Marin, P.E. Miller, W.A. McLellan, P.D.R. Moeller, C.L. Powell, T. Rowles, P. Silvagni, M. Silver, T. Spraker, V. Trainer and F.M. Van Dolah. 2000. Mortality of sea lions along the central California coast linked to a toxic diatom bloom. *Nature*. 403: 80-84.

Skov, J., N. Lundholm, Ø. Moestrup and J. Larsen. 1999. Leaflet No. 185 Potentially toxic phytoplankton 4. The diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Diatomophyceae/Bacillariophyceae). *In*: Lindley, J.A. (Ed.), ICES Identification Leaflets for Plankton. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea, Copenhagen, Denmark, pp. 1-23.

Spatharis, S., D.B. Danielidis and G. Tsirtsis. 2007. Recurrent *Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha* (Bacillariophyceae) and *Alexandrium insuetum* (Dinophyceae) winter blooms induced by agricultural runoff. *Harmful Algae*. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2007.04.006.

Stehr, C.M., L. Connell, K.A. Baugh, B.D. Bill, N.G. Adams and V.L. Trainer. 2002. Morphological, toxicological, and genetic differences among *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) species in inland embayments and outer coastal waters of Washington State, USA. *J. Phycol.* 38: 55-65.

Tsuda, A., H. Kiyosawa, A. Kuwata, M. Mochizuki, N. Shiga, H. Saito, S. Chiba, K. Imai, J. Nishioka and T. Ono. 2005. Responses of diatoms to iron-enrichment (SEEDS) in the western subarctic Pacific, temporal and spatial comparisons. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 64: 189-205.

Vershinin, A.O., A.A. Moruchkov, T. Leighfield, I.N. Sukhanova, S.L. Pan'kov, S.L. Morton and J.S. Ramsdell. 2005. Potentially toxic algae in the coastal phytoplankton of the northeast Black Sea in 2001-2002. *Oceanology*. 45: 224-232.

Villareal, T.A., D.L. Roelke and G.A. Fryxell. 1994. Occurrence of the toxic diatom *Nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries* in Massachusetts Bay, Massachusetts, USA. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 37: 417-423.

Yuzao, Q., W. Ju and Z. Lei. 1994. The taxonomy and bloom ecology of *Pseudonitzschia* on the coasts of China. Proceedings IOC-WESTPAC Third International Scientific Symposium, Bali, Indonesia, November 22-26, pp. 88-95. Appendix B: Glossary of Terms

Aconitase iron-containing enzyme involved in the Krebs Cycle; transforms citrate into isocitrate See Chapter 1 Figure 3

Adductor muscle muscle present in bivalves that controls opening and closing of the shell

Agarose gel made from the polysaccharide agarose and used as a separation medium during electrophoresis

Amygdala part of the brain involved with fear and aggression

Amplicon small replicating DNA fragment

Annealing as used in PCR means the recombination of the two halves of DNA after temperature dissociation

Antihelminthic used to kill worms or removed internal parasites in animals or humans

Apical Plane Cross-sectional view of a cell showing the slice through the middle of the top and bottom valve faces

Appendicularan filter feeder with a primitive notochord; often found in the surface layers of the open ocean

Ataxia loss of muscle coordination

Auxospore Enlarged diatom cell that forms after sexual reproduction

Axenic without bacteria or other microorganisms besides the species being studied

Biogeography geographical distribution of living things

Blood-brain barrier a layer of tightly-packed cells in the walls of brain capillaries which prevent molecules from freely diffusing into the brain

cDNA microarray collection of single stranded DNA molecules synthesized in the laboratory using messenger RNA as a template and the enzyme reverse transcriptase which are then attached to a solid surface that will react with a known sequence; a tool to probe for up to thousands of genetic markers at a time

Central interspace interruption in the pattern of fibulae along the raphe canal near the midpoint of the length of a pennate diatom; also called a central nodule See Chapter 1 Figure 2

Cephalopod division of phylum Mollusca that contains octopuses and squids

Chronic of long duration; continuing

Chytrid algae-like fungus that infects microbes

Cingulum girdle bands associated with a single valve

Clade A group of organisms that share a common ancestor

Clonal Culture created by a single cell isolation in which all cells are a descendant or clone of one cell and no sexual reproduction has occurred

Coastal bay body of water located between a coastline and a barrier island; characterized by shallow depth, high salinity and little exchange

Conopea Fine silica structure spanning from the keel to the valve walls along both sides of the entire length of the raphe canal See Chapter 1 Figure 2

Cotyledon leaf of an embryonic plant

Cryptic species species that are reproductively isolated yet identical in appearance

Culture growth resulting from cultivation of microorganisms

Denaturation as used in PCR means the "unzipping" of the DNA strand into two halves comprised of the sugar/phosphate backbone and attached nucleotides

Deposit feeder organism that feeds on organic matter on the surface of the sediment

Digestive gland a gland that secrets digestive enzymes See Hepatopancreas

Ecotype subdivision beneath species in which cells are morphologically similar, but functionally different

ENSO acronym for El Nino Southern Oscillation; warming of the Pacific Ocean near the equator that occurs every 5-7 years and is associated with poor fisheries and unusual weather patterns

Enumerate to count

Epibiont cell that lives on the surface of another cell; a bacteria living on the surface of a diatom

EST acronym for expressed sequence tag; short sequence of DNA used to determine gene expression

Exponential Growth period of growth in a batch culture when cell numbers are increasing exponentially; characterized by balanced growth, replete nutrients in growth media and sufficient light Also referred to as exponential phase

Fibula (pl. fibulae) silica structure spanning the raphe canal inside the valve See Chapter 1 Figure 2

Formvar resin used to coat grids and provide support for samples to be viewed by electron microscopy

Frustule whole diatom box composed of two valves

Genotoxic chemical or other agent that damages DNA, resulting in mutations

Gluconic acid acid formed by the oxidation of glucose

Gluconolactone cyclic form of gluconic acid; forms equilibrium mixture with gluconic acid in water

Glucuronate a derivative of glucuronic acid

Glucuronic acid acid of glucose found in the liver; used to detoxify compounds

Glutamate agonist a chemical that binds to a glutamate receptor to illicit a physiological response

Glutamate receptor a receptor located on neuron membranes that binds with glutamate and can cause a neuron to depolarize

Glutamic acid nonessential amino acid commonly occurring in plant and animal cells; important for nitrogen metabolism in plants; neurotransmitter

Glutamine synthetase enzyme used to add ammonium to α -ketoglutarate and make glutamate See Chapter 1 Figure 3

Glutaraldehyde colorless chemical used as a biological fixative

Glycoprotein a protein with a carbohydrate component

Hepatopancreas gland that functions as a liver and a pancreas in crustaceans and mollusks

See Digestive gland

High voltage paper electrophoresis analytical method used to identify and quantify amino acids using an electrified paper strip

HNLC acronym for High Nutrient Low Chlorophyll;describes regions in the ocean characterized by high nitrogen and low chlorophyll where autotrophic growth is limited by iron

Hypocotyl part of an embryonic plant that pushes the cotyledons above ground and eventually becomes part of the stem

Intraperitoneal within the body cavity that contains the organs

Ion exchange chromatography analytical method allowing separation of molecules based on their charge

IR spectroscopy analytical method based on detection of a chemical by its absorption of infrared light

ITS acronym for internal transcribed spacer; sequence of ribosomal RNA that is present in the initial transcript from DNA, but is removed when the strand is processed into an actual ribosome

Kainic acid glutamate derived amino acid that can be extracted from macroalgae and has excitotoxic potential; similar to domoic acid

Lag phase period of time in batch culture, typically immediately after the start of a new culture and before exponential growth, in which little to no growth occurs

Lectin proteins on a cell surface that are not antibodies, but bind specifically

Limit of detection lowest amount of test substance that can be detected in an analytical sample below which it is considered absent

Limit of quantitation lowest amount of test substance that can be detected in an analytical sample where the accuracy is within acceptable levels; below this point data is semiquantitative

LSU acronym for large subunit; sequence that makes up the large subunit of the ribosomal RNA

Lugols iodine solution used as a preservative and stain for protists in water samples

Mantle part of the valve at the margin of the valve face which is set off at an angle

Mass spectroscopy analytical method using magnetic and/or electrical fields to identify molecules based on their charge

Mesohaline water of medium salinity; approximately 5 to 18 salinity

Metazoan animal comprised of many cells organized into tissues and organs

Micrograph photograph taken using a microscope

Microsatellite markers short segments of non-coding DNA that have a repeated sequence

Monospecific consisting of one species

Nitrate reductase enzyme used to reduce nitrate to nitrite See Chapter 1 Figure 3

Nucleotide any of a group of organic molecules used as building blocks of DNA and RNA, they are made of a sugar, phosphate group and nitrogenous base

Oomycete fungus-like protist that can infect microbes

Parsimony tree phylogenetic tree diagram structured so that species with similar sequences are closer together

PCR anacronym for polymerase chain reaction; process for replicating DNA fragments for analysis

Phylogeny evolutionary history of a taxonomic group of organisms

Poroid regularly repeated perforation in the valve wall; patterns formed by poroids are using to aid identification of species See Chapter 1 Figure 2

Primer a sequence of DNA that is complementary to DNA sequence to be analyzed and is needed to start a PCR reaction

Principle Components Analysis technique used to reduce multidimensional data sets into lower dimensions for analysis; data is reduced to the principle components

Proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectra analytical method based on the magnetic qualities of a nucleus that can identify individual atoms in a molecule

PSP acronym for Paralytic Shellfish Poisoning; food poisoning resulting from eating shellfish contaminated with algal toxins, characterized by paralysis which can lead to respiratory failure

Raphe canal feature of a diatom frustule that runs the length of a pennate cell See Chapter 1 Figure 2

rRNA ribosomal ribonucleic acid; a type of RNA functioning in protein synthesis as a ribosome

RUBISCO acronym for ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase; plant enzyme that fixes carbon during photosynthesis

Secondary metabolite product of cell machinery that is not directly related to cell growth or nutrient uptake

SSU acronym for small subunit; sequence that makes up the small subunit structure of the ribosomal RNA

Stationary growth period of growth in batch culture in which nutrients and/or light are not enough to sustain growth; characterized by high biomass and no cell division Also referred to as stationary phase

Strain all descendants of one cell

Stria (pl. striae) one or many rows of poroids See Chapter 1 Figure 2

Sublethal less than lethal

Upregulate process by which a pathway or product is increased in use or abundance; an increase in expression of a gene resulting in more of a product; increase in a physiological process either to preserve homeostatis or take advantage of beneficial conditions

Upwelling a coastal and oceanographic phenomenon where cold, nutrient-rich water from depth is brought to the surface often by wind moving surface water away from a coast line

Utermohl method used for counting cells that have been allowed to settle in a chamber

UV spectroscopy analytical method that detects chemicals based on absorption of UV light

Valve one half of the two-part silica frustule surrounding a diatom cell

Vector organism that transmits a pathogen or chemical

Voltammetric technique electroanalytical method where an analyte is observed by measuring changes in current while the electrical potential is varied

Literature Cited

Adams, N.G., M. Lesoing and V.L. Trainer. 2000. Environmental conditions associated with domoic acid in razor clams on the Washington coast. *J. Shellfish Res.* 19: 1007-1015.

Al-Qutob, M., C. Hase, M.M. Tilzer and B. Lazar. 2002. Phytoplankton drives nitrite dynamics in the Gulf of Aqaba, Red Sea. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 239: 233-239.

Altschul, S.F., T.L. Madden, A.A. Schaffer, J.H. Zhang, Z. Zhang, W. Miller and D.J. Lipman. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25(17): 3389-3402.

Altwein, D.M., K. Foster, G. Doose and R.T. Newton. 1995. The detection and distribution of the marine neurotoxin domoic acid on the Pacific Coast of the United-States 1991-1993. *J. Shellfish Res.* 14: 217-222.

Alvarez, R.Z. 1968. Iberian Decapod Crustaceans. Invest. Pesq. 32: 1-510.

Amato, A., L. Orsini, D. D'Alelio and M. Montresor. 2005. Life cycle, size reduction patterns, and ultrastructure of the pennate planktonic diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 41: 542-556.

Amato, A., W.H.C.F. Kooistra, J.H.L. Ghiron, D.G. Mann, T. Proschold and M. Montresor. 2007. Reproductive isolation among sympatric cryptic species in marine diatoms. *Protist.* 158: 193-207.

Armbrust, E.V., J.A. Berges, C. Bowler, B.R. Green, D. Martinez, N.H. Putnam, S.G.
Zhou, A.E. Allen, K.E. Apt, M. Bechner, M.A. Brzezinski, B.K. Chaal, A. Chiovitti,
A.K. Davis, M.S. Demarest, J.C. Detter, T. Glavina, D. Goodstein, M.Z. Hadi, U.
Hellsten, M. Hildebrand, B.D. Jenkins, J. Jurka, V.V. Kapitonov, N. Kroger, W.W.Y.
Lau, T.W. Lane, F.W. Larimer, J.C. Lippmeier, S. Lucas, M. Medina, A. Montsant, M.
Obornik, M.S. Parker, B. Palenik, G.J. Pazour, P.M. Richardson, T.A. Rynearson, M.A.
Saito, D.C. Schwartz, K. Thamatrakoln, K. Valentin, A. Vardi, F.P. Wilkerson and D.S.
Rokhsar. 2004. The genome of the diatom *Thalassiosira pseudonana*: Ecology,
evolution, and metabolism. *Science*. 306: 79-86.

Armstrong Howard, M.D., W.P. Cochlan, N. Ladizinsky and R.M. Kudela. 2007. Nitrogenous preference of toxigenic *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* (Bacillariophyceae) from field and laboratory experiments. *Harmful Algae*. 6(2): 206-217.

Andersen, R.A. and M. Kawachi. 2005. Traditional microalgae isolation techniques. *In*: Andersen, R.A. (Ed.), Algal Culturing Techniques. Acadamic Press, New York, pp. 83-100.

Andersen, R.A., S.L. Morton and J.P. Sexton. 1997. Provasoli-Guillard national center for culture of marine phytoplankton 1997 list of strains. *J. Phycol.* 33S: 1-75.

Banack, S.A. and P.A. Cox. 2003. Biomagnification of cycad neurotoxins in flying foxes – Implications for ALS-PDC in Guam. *Neurology*. 61: 387-389.

Bargu, S. and M.W. Silver. 2003. Field evidence of krill grazing on the toxic diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* in Monterey Bay, California. *B. Mar. Sci.* 72: 629-638.

Bargu, S., C.L. Powell, S.L. Coale, M. Busman, G.J. Doucette and M.W. Silver. 2002. Krill: a potential vector for domoic acid in marine food webs. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 237: 209-216.

Bargu, S., B. Marinovic, S. Mansergh and M.W. Silver. 2003. Feeding responses of krill to the toxin-producing diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia*. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 284: 87-104.

Bargu, S., K. Lefebvre and M.W. Silver. 2006. Effect of dissolved domoic acid on the grazing rate of krill *Euphausia pacifica*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 312: 169-175.

Bargu, S., C.L. Powell, Z. Wang, G.J. Doucette and M. Silver. 2007. Note on the occurrence of *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* and domoic acid in squid from Monterey Bay, CA (USA). *Harmful Algae*. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2007.05.008.

Bates, S.S. 1998. Ecophysiology and metabolism of ASP toxin production. *In*: Anderson, D.M., A.D. Cembella and G.M. Hallegraeff (Eds.), Physiological Ecology of Harmful Algal Blooms. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 405-426.

Bates, S.S. and N.A. Davidovich. 2002. Factors affecting the sexual reproduction of diatoms, with emphasis on *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. LIFEHAB: Life history of microalgal species causing harmful blooms Workshop Report. European Commission, pp. 31-36.

Bates, S.S. and V. Trainer. 2006. The ecology of harmful diatoms. *In*: Granéli, E. and J.T. Turner (Eds.), Ecology of Harmful Algae. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 81-88.

Bates, S.S., C.J. Bird, A.S.W. de Freitas, R. Foxall, M. Gilgan, L.A. Hanic, G.R. Johnson, A.W. McCulloch, P. Odense, R. Pocklington, M. Quilliam, J. Sim, J.C. Smith, D.V. Subba Rao, E.C.D. Todd, J.A. Walter and J.L.C. Wright. 1989. Pennate diatom *Nitzschia pungens* as the primary source of domoic acid, a toxin in shellfish from eastern Prince Edward Island, Canada. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 46: 1203-1215.

Bates, S.S., A. Freitas, J.F. Milley, R. Pocklington, M.A. Quilliam, J.C. Smith and J. Worms. 1991. Controls on domoic acid production by the diatom *Nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries* in culture: Nutrients and irradiance. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 48: 1136-1144.

Bates, S.S., J. Worms and J.C. Smith. 1993a. Effects of ammonium and nitrate on growth and domoic acid production by *Nitzschia pungens* in batch culture. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 50: 1248-1254.

Bates, S.S., C. Leger, B.A. Keafer and D.M. Anderson. 1993b. Discrimination between domoic acid producing and non toxic forms of the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* using immunofluorescence. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 100: 185-195.

Bates, S.S., D.J. Douglas, G.J. Doucette and C. Leger. 1995. Enhancement of domoic acid production by reintroducing bacteria to axenic cultures of the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*. *Nat. Toxins*. 3(6): 428-435.

Bates, S.S., D.L. Garrison and R.A. Horner. 1998. Bloom dynamics and physiology of domoic-acid-producing *Pseudo-nitzschia* species. *In*: Anderson, D.M., A.D. Cembella and G.M. Hallegraef (Eds.), Physiological Ecology of Harmful Algal Blooms. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 267-292.

Bates, S.S., M.F. Hiltz and C. Leger. 1999. Domoic acid toxicity of large new cells of *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* resulting from sexual reproduction. Proceedings of the Sixth Canadian Workshop on Harmful Marine Algae, Ottowa ON, Feb 1999, pp.21-26.

Bates, S.S., C. Leger, M. Satchwell and G.L. Boyer. 2000. The effects of iron on domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*. 9th International Conference on Harmful Algal Blooms, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia, pp. 320-323.

Bates, S.S., C. Leger, M.L. Wells and K. Hardy. 2003. Photodegradation of domoic acid. Proceedings of the Eighth Canadian Workshop on Harmful Marine Algae, 2003, pp. 30-35.

Bates, S.S., J. Gaudet, I. Kaczmarska and J.M. Ehrman. 2004. Interaction between bacteria and the domoic-acid-producing diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Hasle) Hasle; can bacteria produce domoic acid autonomously? *Harmful Algae*. 3: 11-20.

Behnke, A., T. Friedl, V.A. Chepurnov and D.G. Mann. 2004. Reproductive compatibility and rDNA sequence analyses in the *Sellaphora pupula* species complex (Bacillariophyta). *J. Phycol.* 40(1): 193-208.

Beszteri, B., E. Acs and L.K. Medlin. 2005. Ribosomal DNA sequence variation among sympatric strains of the *Cyclotella meneghiniana* complex (Bacillariophyceae) reveals cryptic diversity. *Protist.* 156: 317-333.

Bill, B.D., N. Lundholm, L. Connell, K.A. Baugh and V. Trainer. 2005. Domoic acid in *Pseudo-nitzschia cuspidata* from Washington State coastal waters. 3rd Symposium on Harmful Algae in the U. S., Asilomar, California, October 2-7, p. 77.

Bird, C.J. and J.L.C. Wright. 1989. The shellfish toxin domoic acid. *World Aquacult*. 20: 40-41.

Blanco, J., C.P. Acosta, M. Bermúdez de la Puente and C. Salgado. 2002. Depuration and anatomical distribution of the amnesic shellfish poisoning (ASP) toxin domoic acid in the king scallop *Pecten maximus*. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 60: 111-121.

Boicourt, W.C., M. Kuzmic and T.S. Hopkins. 1999. The inland sea: circulation of Chesapeake Bay and the Northern Adriatic. *In*: Malone, T.C., A. Malej, L.W. Harding, N. Smodlaka and E. Turner (Eds.), Ecosystems at the Land-Sea Margin: Drainage Basin to Coastal Sea. American Geophysical Union, Coastal and Estuarine Studies. pp. 81-129.

Boissonneault, K.R. 2004. Gene discovery and expression profiling in the toxinproducing marine diatom, *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Hasle) Hasle. Ph.D. Thesis, Massachusetts Inst Technol, Cambridge, MA, USA, 181 pp.

Bouillon, R.-C., T.L. Knierim, R.J. Kieber, S.A. Skrabal and J.L.C. Wright. 2006. Photodegradation of the algal toxin domoic acid in natural water matrices. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 51: 321-330.

Bowers, H.A., C. Tomas, T. Tengs, J. Kempton, A. Lewitus and D.W. Oldach. 2006. Raphidophyceae (Chadefaud ex Silva) systematics and rapid identification: sequence analyses and real time PCR assays. *J. Phycol.* 42(6): 1333-1348.

Brenner, E.D., N. Martinez-Barboza, A.P. Clark, Q.S. Liang, D.W. Stevenson and G.M. Coruzzi. 2000. *Arabidopsis* mutants resistant to S(+)-beta-methyl-alpha, beta-diaminopropionic acid, a cycad-derived glutamate receptor agonist. *Plant. Physiol.* 124: 1615-1624.

Brenner, E.D., D.W. Stevenson and R.W. Twigg. 2003. Cycads: evolutionary innovations and the role of plant-derived neurotoxins. *Trends. Plant Sci.* 8: 446-452.

Buck, K.R., L. Uttalcooke, C.H. Pilskaln, D.L. Roelke, M.C. Villac, G.A. Fryxell, L. Cifuentes and F.P. Chavez. 1992. Autecology of the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia australis*, a domoic acid producer, from Monterey Bay, California. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 84: 293-302.

Buck, K.R., R. Marin and F.P. Chavez. 2005. Heterotrophic dinoflagellate fecal pellet production: grazing of large, chain-forming diatoms during upwelling events in Monterey Bay, California. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* 40: 293-298.

Burkholder, J.M. and P.M. Glibert. 2006. Intraspecific variability: an important consideration in forming generalizations about toxigenic algal species. *Afr. J. of Mar. Sci.* 28(2): 177-180.

Busse, L.B., E.L. Venrick, R. Antrobus, P.E. Miller, V. Vigilant, M.W. Silver, C. Mengelt, L. Mydlarz and B.B. Prezelin. 2006. Domoic acid in phytoplankton and fish in San Diego, CA, USA. *Harmful Algae*. 5: 91-101.

Campbell, D.A., M.S. Kelly, M. Busman, E. Wiggins and T.F. Fernandes. 2003. Impact of preparation method on gonad domoic acid levels in the scallop, *Pecten maximus* (L.). *Harmful Algae*. 2: 215-222.

Caroppo, C., R. Congestri, L. Bracchini and P. Albertano. 2005. On the presence of *Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha* Lundholm, Moestrup et Hasle and *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* (Cleve) Heiden in the Southern Adriatic Sea (Mediterranean Sea, Italy). *J. Plankton Res.* 27: 763-774.

Cembella, A.D., M.A. Quilliam, N.I. Lewis, A.G. Bauder, C. Dell'Aversano, K. Thomas, J. Jellet and R.R. Cusack. 2002. The toxigenic marine dinoflagellate *Alexandrium tamarense* as the probable cause of mortality of caged salmon in Nova Scotia. *Harmful Algae*. 1: 313-325.

Cendes, F., F. Andermann, S. Carpenter, R.J. Zatorre and N.R. Cashman. 1995. Temporal lobe epilepsy caused by domoic acid intoxication: evidence for glutamate receptormediated excitotoxicity in humans. *Ann. Neurol.* 37: 123-126.

Cerino, F., L. Orsini, D. Sarno, C. Dell'Aversano, L. Tartaglione and A. Zingone. 2005. The alternation of different morphotypes in the seasonal cycle of the toxic diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia galaxiae*. *Harmful Algae*. 4: 33-48.

Cho, E.S., J.G. Park, H.G. Kim, C.H. Kim, L.L. Rhodes and C.S. Chung. 1999. The rapid differentiation of toxic *Alexandrium* and *Pseudo-nitzschia* species using fluorescent lectin probes. *J. Korean Soc. Oceanogr.* 34: 167-171.

Cho, E.S., Y. Kotaki and J.G. Park. 2001. The comparison between toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Hasle) Hasle and non-toxic *P. pungens* (Grunow) Hasle isolated from Jinhae Bay, Korea. *Algae*. 16: 275-285.

Cho, E.S., H.J. Hur, H.S. Byun, S.G. Lee, L.L. Rhodes, C.S. Jeong and J.G. Park. 2002. Monthly monitoring of domoic acid producer *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Hasle) Hasle using species-specific DNA probes and WGA lectins and abundance of *Pseudo-nitzschia* species (Bacillariophyceae) from Chinhae Bay, Korea. *Bot. Mar.* 45: 364-372.

Collos, Y., 1982. Transient situations in nitrate assimilation by marine diatoms: short-term uncoupling of nitrate uptake and reduction. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 62(3): 285-295.

Collos, Y. 1998. Nitrate uptake, nitrite release and uptake, and new production estimates. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 171: 293-301.
Collos, Y. and G. Slawyk. 1983. Ammonium and nitrate in the tropical and equatorial Atlantic: relations with the primary nitrite maximum. *Mar. Biol. Lett.* 4: 295-308.

Copani, A., P.L. Canonico and F. Nicoletti. 1990. Beta-N-Methylamino-L-Alanine (L-BMAA) is a potent agonist of metabolotropic glutamate receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 181: 327-328.

Costa, P.R. and S. Garrido. 2004. Domoic acid accumulation in the sardine *Sardina pilchardus* and its relationship to *Pseudo-nitzschia* diatom ingestion. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 284: 261-268.

Costa, P.R., S.M. Rodrigues, M.J. Botelho and M.A.U. Sampayo. 2003. A potential vector of domoic acid: the swimming crab *Polybius henslowii* Leach (Decapoda-Brachyura). *Toxicon*. 42: 135-141.

Costa, P.R., R. Rosa and M.A.M. Sampayo. 2004. Tissue distribution of the amnesic shellfish toxin, domoic acid, in *Octopus vulgaris* from the Portuguese coast. *Mar. Biol.* 144: 971-976.

Costa, P.R., R. Rosab, A. Duarte-Silva, V. Brotas and M.A.M. Sampayo. 2005. Accumulation, transformation and tissue distribution of domoic acid, the amnesic shellfish poisoning toxin, in the common cuttlefish, *Sepia officinalis*. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 74: 82-91.

Curtis, D.R. and J.C. Watkins. 1961. Analogues of glutamic and gamma-Amino-*n*-butyric acids having potent actions on mamalian neurones. *Nature*. 191: 1010.

Cusack, C.K., S.S Bates, M.A. Quilliam, J.W. Patching and R. Raine. 2002. Confirmation of domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* (Bacillariophyceae) isolated from Irish waters. *J. Phycol.* 38(6): 1106-1112.

D'Alelio, D., A. Amato, A. Lüdeking, M. Ribera d'Alcalà, D. Sarno, A. Zingone and M. Montresor. 2006. Life cycle traits and population dynamics of *Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata* in the Gulf of Naples (Mediterranean Sea). 12th International Conference on Harmful Algae, Copenhagen, Denmark, 4-8 September, p. 58.

Davidovich, N.A. and S.S. Bates. 1998. Sexual reproduction in the pennate diatoms *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* and *P. pseudodelicatissima* (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 34: 126-137.

De Baar, H.J.W., P.W. Boyd, K.H. Coale, M.R. Landry, A. Tsuda, P. Assmy, D.C.E. Bakker, Y. Bozec, R.T. Barber, M.A. Brzezinski, K.O. Buesseler, M. Boye, P.L. Croot, F. Gervais, M.Y. Gorbunov, P.J. Harrison, W.T. Hiscock, P. Laan, C. Lancelot, C.S. Law, M. Levasseur, A. Marchetti, F.J. Millero, J. Nishioka, Y. Nojiri, T. van Oijen, U. Riebesell, M.J.A. Rijkenberg, H. Saito, S. Takeda, K.R. Timmermans, M.J.W. Veldhuis, A.M. Waite and C.S. Wong. 2005. Synthesis of iron fertilization experiments: From the iron age in the age of enlightenment. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans. 110: C09S16, doi:10.1029/2004JC002601.

DeManche, J.M., H.C. Curl Jr., D.W. Lundy, P.L. Donaghay. 1979. The rapid response of the marine diatom *Skeletonema costatum* to changes in external and internal nutrient concentration. *Mar Biol*. 53(4): 323-333.

Descolas-Gros, C. and G. de Billy. 1987. Temperature adaptation of RuBP carboxylase: kinetic properties in marine Antarctic diatoms. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 108: 147-158.

Dizer, H., B. Fischer, A.S.A. Harabawy, M.C. Hennion and P.D. Hansen. 2001. Toxicity of domoic acid in the marine mussel *Mytilus edulis*. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 55: 149-156.

Dohler, G. 1991. Uptake of N-15-ammonium and N-15-nitrate by Antarctic diatoms - dependence on the daytime and effect of UVB radiation. *Biochem. Physiol. Pfl.* 187: 347-355.

Dolan, J.R., 2005. An introduction to the biogeography of aquatic microbes. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* 41(1): 39-48.

Dortch, Q. 1990. The interaction between ammonium and nitrate uptake in phytoplankton. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 61: 183-201.

Dortch, Q., S.I. Ahmed, T.T. Packard. 1979. Nitrate reductase and glutamate dehydrogenase activities in *Skeletonema costatum* as measures of nitrogen assimilation rates. *J. Plankton Res.* 1(2): 169-186.

Dortch, Q., R. Robichaux, S. Pool, D. Milsted, G. Mire, N.N. Rabalais, T.M. Soniat, G.A. Fryxell, R.E. Turner and M.L. Parsons. 1997. Abundance and vertical flux of *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 146: 249-264.

Doucette, G. J., K. L. King, A. E. Thessen and Q. Dortch. in press. The effect of salinity on domoic acid production by the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*. *Nova Hedwigia*.

Doucette, T.A., S.M. Strain, G.V. Allan, C.L. Ryan and R.A.R. Tasker. 2000. Comparative behavioral toxicity of domoic acid and kainic acid in neonatal rats. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 22: 863-869.

Douglas, D.J. and S.S. Bates. 1992. Production of domoic acid, a neurotoxic amino acid, by an axenic culture of the marine diatom *Nitzschia pungens f. multiseries* Hasle. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 49(1): 85-90.

Douglas, D.J., U.P. Ramsey, J.A. Walter and J.L.C. Wright. 1992. Biosynthesis of the neurotoxin domoic acid by the marine diatom *Nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries*, determined with [C-13] labeled precursors and nuclear magnetic resonance. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 714-716.

Douglas, D.J., S.S. Bates, L.A. Bourque, R.C. Selvin. 1993. Domoic acid production by axenic and non-axenic cultures of the pennate diatom *Nitzschia pungens f. multiseries. In:* Shimizu, Y. (Ed.), Toxic Phytoplankton Blooms in the Sea. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 595-600.

Douglas, D.J., D. Landry and S.E. Douglas. 1994. Genetic relatedness of toxic and nontoxic isolates of the marine pennate diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae): Phylogenetic analysis of 18S rRNA sequences. *Nat. Toxins*. 2: 166-174.

Douglas, D.J., E.R. Kenchington, C.J. Bird, R. Pocklington, B. Bradford and W. Silvert. 1997. Accumulation of domoic acid by the sea scallop (*Placopecten magellanicus*) fed cultured cells of toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 54: 907-913.

Drebes, G. 1977. Sexuality. *In*: Werner, D. (Ed.), The Biology of Diatoms. University of California Press, Berkeley, pp. 250-283.

Durbin, E.G. and A.G. Durbin. 1983. Energy and nitrogen budgets for the Atlantic Menhaden, *Brevoortia tyrannus* (Pisces, Clupeidae), a filter-feeding planktivore. *Fishery Bulletin.* 81: 177-199.

Elrifi, I.R. and D.H. Turpin. 1985. Transient photosynthetic responses of nitrogen limited microalgae to nitrogen addition. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 20(3): 253-258.

El-Sabaawi, R. and P.J. Harrison. 2006. Interactive effects of irradiance and temperature on the photosynthetic physiology of the pennate diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia granii* (Bacillariophyceae) from the northeast subarctic pacific. *J. Phycol.* 42(4): 778-785.

Eppley, R.W. and E.H. Renger. 1974. Nitrogen assimilation of an oceanic diatom in nitrogen-limited continuous culture. *J. Phycol.* 10(1): 15-23.

Eppley, R.W., J.N. Rogers and J.J. McCarthy. 1969. Half-saturation constants for uptake of nitrate and ammonium by marine phytoplankton. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 14(6): 912-920.

Escalera, L., Y. Pazos, A. Morono and B. Reguera. 2007. *Noctiluca scintillans* may act as a vector of toxigenic microalgae. *Harmful Algae*. 6: 317-320.

Evans, K.M., S.S. Bates, L.K. Medlin and P.K. Hayes. 2004. Microsatellite marker development and genetic variation in the toxic marine diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 40: 911-920.

Evans, K.M., S.F. Kuhn and P.K. Hayes. 2005. High levels of genetic diversity and low levels of genetic differentiation in North Sea *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* (Bacillariophyceae) populations. *J. Phycol.* 41: 506-514.

Falkowski, P.G. 1980. Light-shade adaptation in marine phytoplankton. *In*: Falkowski, P.G. Primary Productivity in the Sea. Plenum Press, New York, NY (USA) p. 99-119.

Falkowski, P.G. and J.A. Raven. 1997. Aquatic Photosynthesis. Blackwell Scientific Publishers, Oxford, 375 pp.

Falkowski, P.G., Z. Dubinsky and K. Wyman. 1985. Growth-irradiance relationships in phytoplankton. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 30(2): 311-321.

Fehling, J., K. Davidson, C.J. Bolch and S.S. Bates. 2004. Growth and domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia seriata* (Bacillariophyceae) under phosphate and silicate limitation. *J. Phycol.* 40(4): 674-683.

Fehling, J., K. Davidson and S.S. Bates. 2005. Growth dynamics of non-toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* and toxic *P. seriata* (Bacillariophyceae) under simulated spring and summer photoperiods. *Harmful Algae*. 4(4): 763-769.

Fenchel, T. 2005. Cosmopolitan microbes and their 'cryptic' species. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* 41(1): 49-54.

Fernandez, M.L., S.E. Shumway and J. Blanco. 2003. Mangement of shellfish resources. *In*: Cembella, A.D. (Ed.), Manual on Harmful Marine Microalgae. UNESCO Publishing, Paris, pp. 657-692.

Fisher, T.R., A.B. Gustafson, K. Sellner, R. Lacouture, L.W. Haas, R.L. Wetzel, R. Magnien, D. Everitt, B. Michaels and R. Karrh. 1999. Spatial and temporal variation of resource limitation in Chesapeake Bay. *Mar. Biol.* 133: 763-778.

Fisher, T.R., A.B. Gustafson, G.M. Radcliffe, K.L. Sundberg and J.C. Stevenson. 2003. A long-term record of photosynthetically available radiation (PAR) and total solar energy at 38.60 degrees N, 78.2 degrees W. *Estuaries*. 26: 1450-1460.

Foissner, W. 2006. Biogeography and dispersal of micro-organisms: a review emphasizing protists. *Acta Protozool*. 45(2): 111-136.

Fraga, S., M.J. Alvarez, A. Miguez, M.L. Fernandez, E. Costas and V. Lopez-Rodas. 1998. *Pseudo-nitzschia* species isolated from Galician waters: toxicity, DNA content and lectin binding assay. Harmful Algae: Eighth International Conference on Harmful Algae, Vigo, Spain, June 25-29, 1997, pp. 270-273.

Frenguelli, J. 1939. Diatomeas del Golfo de San Matias. Rev. Mus. Plata. 2: 201-226.

Fritz, L., M.A. Quilliam, J.L.C. Wright, A.M. Beale and T.M. Work. 1992. An outbreak of domoic acid poisoning attributed to the pennate diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia australis*. *J. Phycol.* 28: 439-442.

Fryxell, G.A., S.A. Garza and D. Roelke. 1991. Auxospore formation in an Antarctic clone of *Nitzschia subcurvata* Hasle. *Diatom Res.* 6: 235-245.

Fryxell, G.A., M.C. Villac and L.P. Shapiro. 1997. The occurrence of the toxic diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) on the West Coast of the USA, 1920-1996: A review. *Phycologia*. 36: 419-437.

Gallagher, J.C. 1980. Population genetics of *Skeletonema costatum* (Bacillariophyceae) in Narragansett Bay. *J. Phycol.* 16(3): 464-474.

Gallagher, J.C. 1982. Physiological variation and electrophoretic banding patterns of genetically different seasonal populations of *Skeletonema costatum* (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 18(1): 148-162.

Garrison, D.L., S.M. Conrad, P.P. Eilers and E.M. Waldron. 1992. Confirmation of domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* (Bacillariophyceae) cultures. *J. Phycol.* 28: 604-607.

Garthwaite, I., K.M. Ross, C.O. Miles, R.P. Hansen, D. Foster and N.R. Towers. 1998. Polyclonal antibodies to domoic acid and their use in immunoassays for domoic acid in sea water and shellfish. *Nat. Toxins*. 6: 93-104.

Geitler, L. 1935. Reproduction and life history in diatoms. Bot. Rev. 1: 149-161.

Gibson, J.R. and R.G. Najjar. 2000. The response of Chesapeake Bay salinity to climateinduced changes in streamflow. *Limnol. and Oceanogr.* 45: 1764-1772.

Gilgan, M.W., B.G. Burns and G.J. Landry. 1990. Distribution and magnitude of domoic acid contamination of shellfish in Atlantic Canada during 1988. *In*: Granéli, E., B. Sundströem, L. Edler and D.M. Anderson (Eds.), Toxic Marine Phytoplankton. Elsevier, New York, pp. 469-474.

Glibert, P.M., J. Harrison, C. Heil and S. Seitzinger. 2006. Escalating worldwide use of urea - a global change contributing to coastal eutrophication. *Biogeochemistry*. 77: 441-463.

Goldberg, J.D. 2003. Domoic acid in the benthic food web. M. S. Thesis, California State University, Monterey Bay, CA, 33 pp.

Goldman, J.C. and M.R. Dennett. 1985. Photosynthetic responses of 15 phytoplankton species to ammonium pulsing. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 20(3): 259-264.

Gordon, R. 2001. The role of water motion in algal reproduction. M.S. Thesis, University of Maine, Orono, ME, 99 pp.

Grattan, L.M., M. Lesoing, A. Etesamypour-King, I.L. Platt, E.K. Silbergeld and J.G. Morris. 2002. Potential health risks of domoic acid exposure to Native American infants/toddlers and children in the Pacific Northwest: A pilot study. Biological Variability in Children and Implications for Environmental Risk Assessment: New Perspectives on the Roles of Ethnicity, Race and Gender, College Park, Maryland, March 3-6.

Gulland, F.M.D., M. Haulena, D. Fauquier, G. Langlois, M.E. Lander, T. Zabka and R. Duerr. 2002. Domoic acid toxicity in Californian sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*): clinical signs, treatment and survival. *Vet. Rec.* 150: 475-480.

Guillard, R.R.L. and M.S. Sieracki. 2005. Counting cells in cultures with the light microscope. *In* R. A. Andersen (Ed.), Algal Culturing Techniques. Academic Press, New York. pp. 239-252.

Haché, S. 2000. Détermination d'un signal (phéromone) produit par la diatomée toxique *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* ayant un rôle dans la communication sexuelle. Honours Thesis, Université de Moncton, Moncton, NB, 29 pp.

Hagar, A. and H. Stransky. 1970. The carotenoid pattern and occurrence of the light induced xanthophyll cycle in various classes of algae. V. A few members of the Cryptophyceae, Euglenophyceae, Bacillariophyceae, Chrysophyceae and Phaeophyceae. *Arch. Mikrobiol.* 73: 7-89.

Hampson, D.R. and J.L. Manalo. 1998. The activation of glutamate receptors by kainic acid and domoic acid. *Nat. Toxins*. 6: 153-158.

Hardy, R.W., T.M. Scott, C.L. Hatfield, H.J. Barnett, E.J. Gauglitz, J.C. Wekell and M.W. Eklund. 1995. Domoic acid in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) feeds. *Aquaculture*. 131: 253-260.

Harding, L.W. 1994. Long-term trends in the distribution of phytoplankton in Chesapeake Bay: roles of light, nutrients and streamflow. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 104: 267-291.

Harding, L.W., B.W. Meeson and T.R. Fisher. 1985. Patterns of photosynthetic carbon metabolism in light-limited phytoplankton. *Mar. Biol.* 89: 121-133.

Hargraves, P.E., J. Zhang, R. Wang and Y. Shimizu. 1993. Growth characteristics of the diatoms *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* and *Pseudo-nitzschia fraudulenta* exposed to ultraviolet radiation. *Hydrobiologia*. 269: 207-212.

Hartman, K.J. and S.B. Brandt. 1995. Trophic resource partitioning, diets, and growth of sympatric estuarine predators. *T. Am. Fish. Soc.* 124: 520-537.

Hasle, G.R. 1964. *Nitzschia* and *Fragilariopsis* species studied in the light and electron microscopes II. The group *Pseudo-nitzschia*. *Skrifter utgitt av Det Norke Videnskaps-Akademi i Oslo, I. Matematisk-Naturvidenskapelige Klasse. Ny Serie.* 16: 1-14.

Hasle, G.R., 1965. *Nitzschia* and *Fragilariopsis* species studied in the light and electron microscopes II. The group *Pseudo-nitzschia*. *Skrift*. *Norske Vidensk*. *Akad*. 18: 1-45.

Hasle, G.R. 1971. *Nitzschia pungiformis* (Bacillariophyceae), a new species of the *Nitzschia seriata* group. *Norw. J. Bot.* 18: 139-144.

Hasle, G.R. 1976. Examination of diatom type material: *Nitzschia delicatissima* Cleve, *Thalassiosira minuscula* Krasske, and *Cyclotella nana* Hustedt. *Br. Phycol. J.* 11: 101-110.

Hasle, G. R. 1978. The inverted microscope method. *In*: Sournia, A. (Ed.), Phytoplankton Manual. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris. pp. 88-96.

Hasle, G.R. 1994. *Pseudo-nitzschia* as a genus distinct from *Nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 30: 1036-1039.

Hasle, G.R. 1995. *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* and *P. multiseries* (Bacillariophyceae) - nomenclatural history, morphology, and distribution. *J. Phycol.* 31: 428-435.

Hasle, G.R. 2002. Are most of the domoic acid-producing species of the diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* cosmopolites? *Harmful Algae*. 1: 137-146.

Hasle, G.R. and N. Lundholm. 2005. *Pseudo-nitzschia seriata* f. *obtusa* (Bacillariophyceae) raised in rank based on morphological, phylogenetic and distributional data. *Phycologia*. 44(6): 608-619.

Hasle, G.R. and E.E. Syvertsen. 1997. Marine diatoms. *In*: Tomas, C.R. (Ed.), Identifying Marine Diatoms and Dinoflagellates. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 307-324.

Hasle, G.R., C.B. Lange, E.E. Syvertsen. 1996. A review of *Pseudo-nitzschia*, with special reference to the Skagerrak, North Atlantic, and adjacent waters. *Helgolander Meeresun*. 50(2): 131-175.

Hatfield, C.L., E.J. Gauglitz, H.J. Barnett, J.A.K. Lund, J.C. Wekell and M. Eklund. 1995. The fate of domoic acid in Dungeness crab (*Cancer magister*) as a function of processing. *J. Shellfish Res.* 14: 359-363.

Haya, K., J.L. Martin, L.E. Burridge, B.A. Waiwood and D.J. Wildish. 1991. Domoic acid in shellfish and plankton from the Bay of Fundy, New Brunswick, Canada. *J. Shellfish Res.* 10: 113-118.

Heiden, H. and R.W. Kolbe. 1928. Die marinen diatomeen der Deutschen südpolar expedition 1901-3. *Deutsche Südpolar Expedition 1901-3*. 8: 447-715.

Hillebrand, H. and U. Sommer. 1996. Nitrogenous nutrition of the potentially toxic diatom *Pseudo-nitzchia pungens* f. *multiseries* Hasle. *J. Plankton Res.* 18: 295-301.

Hiltz, M., S.S. Bates and I. Kaczmarska. 2000. Effect of light: dark cycles and cell apical length on the sexual reproduction of the pennate diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Bacillariophyceae) in culture. *Phycologia*. 39: 59-66.

Holmes, M.J., R.J. Lewis, M.A. Poli and N.C. Gillespie. 1991. Strain dependent production of ciguatoxin precursors (gambiertoxins) by *Gambierdiscus toxicus* (Dinophyceae) in culture. *Toxicon* 29(6): 761-775.

Horner, R.A. and J.R. Postel. 1993. Toxic diatoms in western Washington waters (US west coast). *Hydrobiologia*. 269: 197-205.

Horner, R.A., M.B. Kusske, B.P. Moynihan, R.N. Skinner and J.C. Wekell. 1993. Retention of domoic acid by Pacific razor clams, *Siliqua patula* (Dixon, 1789): Preliminary study. *J. Shellfish Res.* 12: 451-456.

Horner, R.A., L. Hanson, C.L. Hatfield and J.A. Newton. 1996. Domoic acid in Hood Canal, Washington, USA. Harmful and Toxic Algal Blooms: Seventh International Conference on Toxic Phytoplankton, Sendai, Japan, July 12-16 1995, pp. 127-129.

Houde, E.D., S. Jukic-Peladic, S.B. Brandt and S.D. Leach. 1999. Fisheries: trends in catches, abundances and management. *In*: Malone, T.C., A. Malej, L.W. Harding, N. Smodlaka and E. Turner (Eds.), Ecosystems at the Land-Sea Margin: Drainage Basin to Coastal Sea. American Geophysical Union, Coastal and Estuarine Studies. pp. 341-346.

Hustedt, F. 1958. Phylogenetische undersuchungen an diatomeen. Österr. Bot. Z. 105: 193-211.

Iverson, F., J. Truelove, E. Nera, L. Tryphonas, J. Campbell and E. Lok. 1989. Domoic acid poisoning and mussel-associated intoxication: Preliminary investigations into the response of mice and rats to toxic mussel extract. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 27: 377-384.

Jackson, A.E., S.W. Ayer and M.V. Laycock. 1992. The effect of salinity on growth and amino acid composition in the marine diatom *Nitzschia pungens*. *Can. J. Bot.* 70: 2198-2201.

Janson, S. and P.K. Hayes. 2006. Molecular taxonomy of harmful algae. *In*: Granéli, E. and J.T. Turner (Eds.), Ecology of Harmful Algae. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 9-22.

Jeffery, B., T. Barlow, K. Moizer, S. Paul and C. Boyle. 2004. Amnesic shellfish poison. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 42: 545-557.

Johannessen, J.N. 2000. Stability of domoic acid in saline dosing solutions. *J. AOAC Int.* 83: 411-412.

Jones, T.O., J.N.C. Whyte, N.G. Ginther, L.D. Townsend and G.K. Iwama. 1995a. Hemocyte changes in the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, caused by exposure to domoic acid in the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries*. *Toxicon*. 33: 347-353.

Jones, T.O., J.N.C. Whyte, L.D. Townsend, N.G. Ginther and G.K. Iwama. 1995b. Effects of domoic acid on hemolymph pH, pCO2 and pO2 in the Pacific Oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* and the California mussel, *Mytilus californianus*. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 31: 43-55.

Kaczmarska, I., J.M. Ehrman, S.S. Bates, D.H. Green, C. Leger and J. Harris. 2005. Diversity and distribution of epibiotic bacteria on *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Bacillariophyceae) in culture, and comparison with those on diatoms in native seawater. *Harmful Algae*. 4: 725-741.

Kaczmarska, I., J.L. Martin, J.M. Ehrman and M.M. LeGresley. 2007. *Pseudo-nitzschia* species population dynamics in the Quoddy Region, Bay of Fundy. *Harmful Algae*. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2007.05.001.

Karentz, D., F.S. McEuen, M.C. Land and W.C. Dunlap. 1991. Survey of mycosporine like amino acid compounds in Antarctic marine organisms - potential protection from ultraviolet exposure. *Mar. Biol.* 108: 157-166.

Kashino, Y., S. Kudoh, Y. Hayashi, Y. Suzuki, T. Odate, T. Hirawake, K. Satoh and M. Fukuchi. 2002. Strategies of phytoplankton to perform effective photosynthesis in the North Water. *Deep-Sea Res Pt II*. 49: 5049-5061.

Kawatsu, K. and Y. Hamano. 2000. Determination of domoic acid in Japanese mussels by enzyme immunoassay. *J. AOAC Int.* 83: 1384-1386.

Kemp, W.M., W.R. Boynton, J.E. Adolf, D.F. Boesch, W.C. Boicourt, G. Brush, J.C. Cornwell, T.R. Fisher, P.M. Glibert, J.D. Hagy, L.W. Harding, E.D. Houde, D.G. Kimmel, W.D. Miller, R.I.E. Newell, M.R. Roman, E.M. Smith and J.C. Stevenson. 2005. Eutrophication in Chesapeake Bay: Historical trends and ecological interactions. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 303: 1-29.

Kennedy, V.S. 1996. The ecological role of the eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*, with remarks on disease. *J. Shellfish Res.* 15: 177-183.

Kerr, D.S., A. Razak and N. Crawford. 2002. Age-related changes in tolerance to the marine algal excitotoxin domoic acid. *Neuropharmacology*. 43: 357-366.

Khera, K.S., C. Whalen, G. Angers and D.L. Arnold. 1994. Domoic acid - a teratology and homeostatic study in rats. *B. Environ. Contam. Tox.* 53: 18-24.

Kjæret, A.H., L.J. Naustvoll and E. Paasche. 2000. Ecology of the heterotrophic dinoflagellate genus *Protoperidinium* in the inner Oslofjord (Norway). *Sarsia*. 85: 453-460.

Kotaki, Y., K. Koike, S. Sato, T. Ogata, Y. Fukuyo and M. Kodama. 1999. Confirmation of domoic acid production of *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* isolated from Ofunato Bay, Japan. *Toxicon*. 37(4): 677-682.

Kotaki, Y., K. Koike, M. Yoshida, C. Van Thuoc, N.T. Huyen, N.C. Hoi, Y. Fukuyo and M. Kodama. 2000. Domoic acid production in *Nitzschia* sp. (Bacillariophyceae) isolated from a shrimp culture pond in Do Son, Vietnam. *J. Phycol.* 36: 1057-1060.

Kreuder, C., M.A. Miller, D.A. Jessup, L.J. Lowenstine, M.D. Harris, J.A. Ames, T.E. Carpenter, P.A. Conrad and J.A.K. Mazet. 2003. Patterns of mortality in Southern Sea Otters (*Enhydra lutris nereis*) from 1998-2001. *J. Wildl. Dis.* 39: 495-509.

Kristiansen, S. 1983. The temperature optimum of the nitrate reductase assay for marine phytoplankton. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 28: 776-780.

Lail, E.M., S.A. Skrabal, R.J. Kieber, R.C. Bouillon and J.L.C. Wright. 2007. The role of particles on the biogeochemical cycling of domoic acid and its isomers in natural seawater matrices. *Harmful Algae*. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2007.01.005.

Lane, L., S. Rhoades, C. Thomas and L. Van Heukelem. 2000. Analytical Services Laboratory Standard Operating Procedures. Horn Point Laboratory, Cambridge, MD, USA. 67 pp.

Larsen, A. and S. Bryant. 1998. Growth rate and toxicity of *Prymnesium parvum* and *Prymnesium patelliferum* (Haptophyta) in response to changes in salinity, light and temperature. *Sarsia*. 83(5): 409-418.

Lavaud, J., B. Rousseau, H.J. van Gorkom and A.L. Etienne. 2002. Influence of the diadinoxanthin pool size on photoprotection in the marine planktonic diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. *Plant Physiol*. 129: 1398-1406.

Lavaud, J., B. Rousseau and A.L. Etienne. 2004. General features of photoprotection by energy dissipation in planktonic diatoms (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 40: 130-137.

Laycock, M.V., A.S.W. de Freitas and J.L.C. Wright. 1989. Glutamate agonists from marine algae. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 1: 113-122.

Leblanc, K., C.E. Hare, P.W. Boyd, K.W. Bruland, B. Sohst, S. Pickmere, M.C. Lohan, K. Buck, M. Ellwood and D.A. Hutchins. 2005. Fe and Zn effects on the Si cycle and

diatom community structure in two contrasting high and low-silicate HNLC areas. *Deep Sea Res. Pt. I Oceanogr. Res. Pap.* 52: 1842-1864.

Lefebvre, K.A., C.L. Powell and M. Busman. 1999. Detection of domoic acid in northern anchovies and California sea lions associated with an unusual mortality event. *Nat. Toxins*. 7: 85-92.

Lefebvre, K.A., S.L. Dovel and M.W. Silver. 2001. Tissue distribution and neurotoxic effects of domoic acid in a prominent vector species, the northern anchovy *Engraulis mordax*. *Mar. Biol.* 138: 693-700.

Lefebvre, K.A., S. Bargu, T. Kieckhefer and M.W. Silver. 2002. From sanddabs to blue whales: the pervasiveness of domoic acid. *Toxicon*. 40: 971-977.

Leira, F.J., J.M. Vieites, L.M. Botana and M.R. Vyeites. 1998. Domoic acid levels of naturally contaminated scallops as affected by canning. *J. Food Sci.* 63: 1081-1083.

Lewis, N.I., S.S. Bates, J.L. McLachlan and J.C. Smith. 1993. Temperature effects on growth, domoic acid production, and morphology of the diatom *Nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries. In*: Smayda, T.J. and Y. Shimizu (Eds.), Toxic Phytoplankton in the Sea. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 601-606.

Li, W.K.W., J.C. Smith and T. Platt. 1984. Temperature response of photosynthetic capacity and carboxylase activity in Arctic marine phytoplankton. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 17: 237-243.

Lichtenthaler, H.K., M. Rohmer and J. Schwender. 1997. Two independent biochemical pathways for isopentenyl diphosphate and isoprenoid biosynthesis in higher plants. *Physiol. Plantarum.* 101: 643-652.

Lincoln, J.A., J.T. Turner, S.S. Bates, C. Leger and D.A. Gauthier. 2001. Feeding, egg production, and egg hatching success of the copepods *Acartia tonsa* and *Temora longicornis* on diets of the toxic diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* and the non-toxic diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens*. *Hydrobiologia*. 453: 107-120.

Lomas, M.W. and P.M. Glibert. 1999. Temperature regulation of nitrate uptake: a novel hypothesis about nitrate uptake and reduction in cool-water diatoms. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 44: 556-572.

Lomas, M.W. and P.M. Glibert. 2000. Comparisons of nitrate uptake, storage, and reduction in marine diatoms and flagellates. *J. Phycol.* 36: 903-913.

Lomas, M.W. and F. Lipschultz. 2006. Forming the primary nitrite maximum: nitrifiers or phytoplankton? *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 51: 2453-2467.

Lomas, M.W., C.J. Rumbley and P.M. Glibert. 2000. Ammonium release by nitrogen sufficient diatoms in response to rapid increases in irradiance. *J. Plankton Res.* 22: 2351-2366.

Losada, M. and M.G. Guerrero. 1979. The photosynthetic reduction of nitrate and its regulation. *In*: Barber, J. (Ed.), Photosynthesis in Relation to Model Systems. Elsevier/North Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, pp. 363-408.

Losada, M., M.G. Guerrero and J.M. Vega. 1981. The assimilatory reduction of nitrate. *In*: Trebst, A. (Ed.), Biology of Inorganic Nitrogen and Sulfur. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 30-63.

Loureiro, S., A. Newton and J.D. Icely. 2005. Microplankton composition, production and upwelling dynamics in Sagres (SW Portugal) during the summer of 2001. *Sci. Mar.* 69: 323-341.

Lund-Hansen, L.C. and T. Vang. 2004. An inflow and intrusion event in the Little Belt at the North Sea-Baltic Sea transition and a related sub-surface bloom of *Pseudo-nitzschia pseudodelicatissima*. *Estuar*. *Coast. Shelf Sci.* 59: 265-276.

Lundholm, N. and Ø. Moestrup. 2002. The marine diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia galaxiae* sp. nov. (Bacillariophyceae): morphology and phylogenetic relationships. *Phycologia*. 41(6): 594-605.

Lundholm, N. and Ø. Moestrup. 2006. The biogeography of harmful algae. *In*: Granéli, E. and J.T. Turner (Eds.), Ecology of Harmful Algae. Springer-Verlag, The Netherlands, pp. 23-32.

Lundholm, N., J. Skov, R. Pocklington and Ø. Moestrup. 1994. Domoic acid, the toxic amino acid responsible for amnesic shellfish poisoning, now in *Pseudo-nitzschia seriata* (Bacillariophyceae) in Europe. *Phycologia*. 33: 475-478.

Lundholm, N., J. Skov, R. Pocklington and Ø. Moestrup. 1997. Studies on the marine planktonic diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia*. 2. Autecology of *P. pseudodelicatissima* based on isolates from Danish coastal waters. *Phycologia*. 36: 381-388.

Lundholm, N., N. Daugbjerg and Ø. Moestrup. 2002a. Phylogeny of the Bacillariaceae with emphasis on the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) based on partial LSU rDNA. *Eur. J. Phycol.* 37(1): 115-134.

Lundholm, N., G.R. Hasle, G.A. Fryxell and P.E. Hargraves. 2002b. Morphology, phylogeny and taxonomy of species within the *Pseudo-nitzschia americana* complex (Bacillariophyceae) with descriptions of two new species, *Pseudo-nitzschia brasiliana* and *Pseudo-nitzschia linea*. *Phycologia*. 41(5): 480-497.

Lundholm, N., Ø. Moestrup, G.R. Hasle and K. Hoef-Emden. 2003. A study of the *Pseudo-nitzschia pseudodelicatissima/cuspidata* complex (Bacillariophyceae): What is *P. pseudodelicatissima? J. Phycol.* 39: 797-813.

Lundholm, N., P.J. Hansen and Y. Kotaki. 2004. Effect of pH on growth and domoic acid production by potentially toxic diatoms of the genera *Pseudo-nitzschia* and *Nitzschia*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 273: 1-15.

Lundholm, N., P.J. Hansen and Y. Kotaki. 2005. Lack of allelopathic effects of the domoic acid-producing marine diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 288: 21-33.

Lundholm, N., Ø. Moestrup, Y. Kotaki, K. Hoef-Emden, C. Scholin and P. Miller. 2006. Inter- and intraspecific variation of the *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* complex (Bacillariophyceae) illustrated by rRNA probes, morphological data and phylogenetic analyses. *J. Phycol.* 42(2): 464-481.

Mackenzie, A.L., D.A. White, P.G. Sim and A.J. Holland. 1993. Domoic acid and the New Zealand greenshell mussel (*Perna canaliculus*). *In*: Smayda, T.J. and Y. Shimizu (Eds.), Toxic Phytoplankton Blooms in the Sea. Elsevier Science Publishers, pp. 607-612.

Maeda, M., T. Kodama, T. Tanaka, Y. Ohfune, K. Nomoto, K. Nishimura and T. Fujita. 1984. Insecticidal and neuromuscular activities of domoic acid and its related compounds. *J. Pestic. Sci.* 9: 27-32.

Maldonado, M.T. and N.M. Price. 1996. Influence of N substrate on Fe requirements of marine centric diatoms. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 141: 161-172.

Maldonado, M.T., M.P. Hughes, E.L. Rue and M.L. Wells. 2002. The effect of Fe and Cu on growth and domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* and *Pseudo-nitzschia australis*. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 47: 515-526.

Malone, T.C., L.H. Crocker, S.E. Pike and B.W. Wendler. 1988. Influences of river flow on the dynamics of phytoplankton production in a partially stratified estuary. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 48: 235-249.

Maneiro, I., P. Iglesias, C. Guisande, I. Riveiro, A. Barreiro, S. Zervoudaki and E. Granéli. 2005. Fate of domoic acid ingested by the copepod *Acartia clausi*. *Mar. Biol.* 148: 123-130.

Manhart, J.R. and R.M. McCourt. 1992. Molecular data and species concepts in the algae. *J. Phycol.* 28(6): 730-737.

Mann, D.G. 1999. Phycological Reviews 18, The species concept in diatoms. *Phycologia*. 38(6): 437-495.

Mann, D.G., S.M. McDonald, M.M. Bayer, S.J.M. Droop, V.A. Chepurnov, R.E. Loke, A. Ciobanu and J.M.H. Du Buf. 2004. The *Sellaphora pupula* species complex (Bacillariophyceae): morphometric analysis, ultrastructure and mating data provide evidence for five new species. *Phycologia*. 43(4): 459-482.

Manzoni, O.J.J., L. Prezeau and J. Bockaert. 1991. Beta-*n*-methylamino-L-alanine is a low affinity agonist of metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Neuroreport*. 2: 609-611.

Margalef, R. 1978. Life forms of phytoplankton as survival alternatives in an unstable environment. *Oceanol. Acta.* 1: 493-509.

Marshall, H.G. 1980. Seasonal phytoplankton composition in the lower Chesapeake Bay and Old-Plantation Creek, Cape-Charles, Virginia. *Estuaries* 3: 207-216.

Marshall, H.G. 1994. Chesapeake bay phytoplankton I. composition. *Proc. Biol. Soc. Wash.* 107: 573-585.

Marshall, H.G., L. Burchardt and R. Lacouture. 2005. A review of phytoplankton composition within Chesapeake Bay and its tidal estuaries. *J. Plankton Res.* 27: 1083-1102.

Martin, J.L., K. Haya, L.E. Burridge and D.J. Wildish. 1990. *Nitzschia pseudodelicatissima* - a source of domoic acid in the Bay of Fundy, eastern Canada. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 67: 177-182.

Maucher, J.M. and J.S. Ramsdell. 2005. Domoic acid transfer to milk: Evaluation of a potential route of neonatal exposure. *Environ. Health Persp.* 113: 461-464.

Mayer, A.M.S. 2000. The marine toxin domoic acid may affect the developing brain by activation of neonatal brain microglia and subsequent neurotoxic mediator generation. *Med. Hypotheses.* 54: 837-841.

McCarthy, J.J. 1972. The uptake of urea by marine phytoplankton. *J. Phycol.* 8(3): 216-222.

McCarthy, J.J., W.R. Taylor and J.L. Taft. 1977. Nitrogenous nutrition of plankton in Chesapeake Bay 1. Nutrient availability and phytoplankton preferences. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 22(6): 996-1011.

McDonald, S.M., D. Sarno and A. Zingone. 2007. Identifying *Pseudo-nitzschia* species in natural samples using genus-specific PCR primers and clone libraries. *Harmful Algae*. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2007.03.003.

Mengelt, C. and B.B. Prézelin. 2005. UVA enhancement of carbon fixation and resilience to UV inhibition in the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* may provide a competitive advantage in high UV surface waters. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 301: 81-93.

Mercado, J.M., T. Ramirez, D. Cortes, M. Sebastian and M. Vargas-Yanez. 2005. Seasonal and inter-annual variability of the phytoplankton communities in an upwelling area of the Alboran Sea (SW Mediterranean Sea). *Sci. Mar.* 69: 451-465.

Miller, R.L. and D.L. Kamykowski. 1986. Effects of temperature, salinity, irradiance and diurnal periodicity on growth and photosynthesis in the diatom *Nitzschia americana*: light-saturated growth. *J. Phycol.* 22: 339-348.

Miller, P.E. and C.A. Scholin. 1996. Identification of cultured *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) using species-specific LSU rRNA-targeted fluorescent probes. *J. Phycol.* 32: 646-655.

Miller, P.E. and C.A. Scholin. 1998. Identification and enumeration of cultured and wild *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) using species-specific LSU rRNA-targeted fluorescent probes and filter-based whole cell hybridization. *J. Phycol.* 34: 371-382.

Miller, W.D. and L.W. Harding. 2007. Climate forcing of the spring bloom in Chesapeake Bay. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 331: 11-22.

Miller, W. D., L. W. Harding and J. E. Adolf. 2006a. Hurricane Isabel generated an unusual fall bloom in Chesapeake Bay. *Geophysical Research Letters* 33: L06612.

Miller, W.D., D.G. Kimmel and L.W. Harding. 2006b. Predicting spring discharge of the Susquehanna River from a winter synoptic climatology for the eastern United States. *Water Resour. Res.* 42: W05414, doi:10.1029/2005WR004270.

Milligan, A.J. and P.J. Harrison. 2000. Effects of non-steady-state iron limitation on nitrogen assimilatory enzymes in the marine diatom *Thalassiosira weissflogii* (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 36: 78-86.

Miyazaki, T., E. Wada and A. Hattori. 1973. Capacities of shallow waters of Sagami Bay for oxidation and reduction of inorganic nitrogen. *Deep Sea Res.* 20: 571-577.

Miyazaki, T., E. Wada and A. Hattori. 1975. Nitrite production from ammonia and nitrate in the euphotic layer of the western North Pacific Ocean. *Mar. Sci. Commun.* 1: 381-394.

Moita, M.T. 2001. Estrutura, variabilidade e dinâmica do fitoplâncton na Costa de Portugal Continental. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Lisbon, Portugal, 272 pp.

Mos, L. 2001. Domoic acid: a fascinating marine toxin. Environ. Toxicol. Phar. 9: 79-85.

Munilla, I. 1997. Henslow's swimming crab (*Polybius henslowii*) as an important food for yellow-legged gulls (*Larus cachinnans*) in NW Spain. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 54: 631-634.

Naar, J., J. Kubanek, A. Bourdelais, D. Richard, C. Tomas, D.G. Baden and J.L.C. Wright. 2002. Chemical characterization of marine biotoxins involved in an epizootic event of zoo animals in Newport, Kentucky. Xth International Conference on Harmful Algae, St. Pete Beach, Florida, pp. 211.

Najjar, R.G. 1999. The water balance of the Susquehanna River Basin and its response to climate change. *Journal of Hydrology* 219: 7-19.

Nagasaki, K., Y. Tomaru, N. Katanozaka, Y. Shirai, K. Nishida, S. Itakura and M. Yamaguchi. 2004. Isolation and characterization of a novel single-stranded RNA virus infecting the bloom-forming diatom *Rhizosolenia setigera*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70: 704-711.

Nagasaki, K., Y. Tomaru, Y. Takao, K. Nishida, Y. Shirai, H. Suzuki and T. Nagumo. 2005. Previously unknown virus infects marine diatom. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71: 3528-3535.

Najjar, R.G., H.A. Walker, P.J. Anderson, E.J. Barron, R.J. Bord, J.R. Gibson, V.S. Kennedy, C.G. Knight, J.P. Megonigal, R.E. O'Connor, C.D. Polsky, N.P. Psuty, B.A. Richards, L.G. Sorenson, E.M. Steele and R.S. Swanson. 2000. The potential impacts of climate change on the mid-Atlantic coastal region. *Climate Research* 14: 219-233.

Novaczek, I., M.S. Madhyastha, R.F. Ablett, A. Donald, G. Johnson, M.S. Nijjar and D.E. Sims. 1992. Depuration of domoic acid from live blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*). *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 49: 312-318.

Ogata, T., M. Kodama and T. Ishimaru. 1987. Toxin production in the dinoflagellate *Protogonyaulax tamarensis. Toxicon.* 25(9): 923-928.

Olson, R.J., J.B. Soohoo and D.A. Kiefer. 1980. Steady-state growth of the marine diatom *Thalassiosira pseudonana*: uncoupled kinetics of nitrate uptake and nitrite production. *Plant Physiol.* 66: 383-389.

Olson, M.B., E.J. Lessard, C.H.J. Wong and M.J. Bernhardt. 2006. Copepod feeding selectivity on microplankton, including the toxigenic diatoms *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. in the coastal Pacific Northwest. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 326: 207-220.

Orsini, L., D. Sarno, G. Procaccini, R. Poletti, J. Dahlmann and M. Montresor. 2002. Toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata* (Bacillariophyceae) from the Gulf of Naples: morphology, toxin analysis and phylogenetic relationships with other *Pseudo-nitzschia* species. *Eur. J. Phycol.* 37: 247-257. Orsini, L., G. Procaccini, D. Sarno and M. Montresor. 2004. Multiple rDNA ITS-types within the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima* (Bacillariophyceae) and their relative abundances across a spring bloom in the Gulf of Naples. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 271: 87-98.

Osada, M. and J.E. Stewart. 1997. Gluconic acid gluconolactone: Physiological influences on domoic acid production by bacteria associated with *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* 12: 203-209.

Packard, T.T., D. Blasco, J.J. Maclsaac and R.C. Dugdale. 1971. Variations of nitrate reductase activity in marine phytoplankton. *Invest. Pesq.* 35: 209-219.

Paerl, H.W., L.M. Valdes, B.L. Peierls, J.E. Adolf and L.W. Harding. 2006. Anthropogenic and climatic influences on the eutrophication of large estuarine ecosystems. *Limnol. and Oceanogr.* 51: 448-462.

Pan, Y., D.V. Subba Rao and R.E. Warnock. 1991. Photosynthesis and growth of *Nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries* Hasle, a neurotoxin producing diatom. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 154(1): 77-96.

Pan, Y.L., D.V. Subba Rao, K.H. Mann, R.G. Brown and R. Pocklington. 1996a. Effects of silicate limitation on production of domoic acid, a neurotoxin, by the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* 1. Batch culture studies. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 131: 225-233.

Pan, Y.L., D.V. Subba Rao, K.H. Mann, W.K.W. Li and W.G. Harrison. 1996b. Effects of silicate limitation on production of domoic acid, a neurotoxin, by the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* 2. Continuous culture studies. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 131: 235-243.

Pan, Y.L., S.S. Bates and A.D. Cembella. 1998. Environmental stress and domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia*: a physiological perspective. *Nat. Toxins*. 6: 127-135.

Pan, Y.L., M.L. Parsons, M. Busman, P.D.R. Moeller, Q. Dortch, C.L. Powell and G.J. Doucette. 2001. *Pseudo-nitzschia* sp cf. *pseudodelicatissima* - a confirmed producer of domoic acid from the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 220: 83-92.

Parsons, M.L., Q. Dortch and G.A. Fryxell. 1998. A multi-year study of the presence of potential domoic acid-producing *Pseudo-nitzschia* species in the coastal and estuarine waters of Louisiana, USA. Harmful Algae: Proceedings of the eighth International Conference on Harmful Algae, Vigo, Spain, pp. 184-187.

Parsons, M.L., C.A. Scholin, P.E. Miller, G.J. Doucette, C.L. Powell, G.A. Fryxell, Q. Dortch and T.M. Soniat. 1999. *Pseudo-nitzschia* species (Bacillariophyceae) in Louisiana coastal waters: Molecular probe field trials, genetic variability, and domoic acid analyses. *J. Phycol.* 35: 1368-1378.

Parsons, M.L., Q. Dortch and R.E. Turner. 2002. Sedimentological evidence of an increase in *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) abundance in response to coastal eutrophication. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 47: 551-558.

Partridge, T.R. and M.D. Wilson. 1990. A germination inhibitor in the seeds of Mahoe (*Melicytus ramiflorus*). *New Zeal. J. Bot.* 28: 475-478.

Pate, S.E., J.M. Burkholder and S.E. Shumway. 2006. Impacts of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium monilatum* on three ecologically important shellfish species. *J. Shellfish Res.* 25(2): 761.

Peers, G., S.A. Quesnel and N.M. Price. 2005. Copper requirements for iron acquisition and growth of coastal and oceanic diatoms. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 50: 1149-1158.

Peragallo, H. and M. Peragallo. 1900. Diatomées marines des France, 2. Grez-sur-Loing. 492 pp.

Perl, T.M., L. Bedard, T. Kosatsky, J.C. Hockin, E.C.D. Todd and R.S. Remis. 1990. An outbreak of toxic encephalopathy caused by eating mussels contaminated with domoic acid. *New. Engl. J. Med.* 322: 1775-1780.

Perl, T.M., L. Bedard, T. Kosatsky, J.C. Hockin, E.C.D. Todd and R.S. Remis. 1990. An outbreak of toxic encephalopathy caused by eating mussels contaminated with domoic acid. *New. Engl. J. Med.* 322: 1775-1780.

Perry, M.C., E.J.R. Lohnes, A.M. Wells, P.C. Osenton and D.M. Kidwell. 2004. Atlantic Seaduck Project, USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, Laurel, MD. http://www.pwrc.usgs.gov/resshow/perry/scoters/default.htm.

Phlips, E.J., T.C. Lynch and S. Badylak. 1995. Chlorophyll *a*, tripton, color, and light availability in a shallow tropical inner-shelf lagoon, Florida Bay, USA. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 127: 223-234.

Pillay, P. 2006. Structure elucidation of antiplasmodial sesquiterpene lactones from *Veronia staehelinoides* and *Oncosiphon piluliferum*. M. S. Thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, 162 pp.

Platt, T., C.L. Gallegos and W.G. Harrison. 1980. Photoinhibition of photosynthesis in natural assemblages of marine phytoplankton. *J. Mar. Res.* 38: 687-701.

Platt, T., Gallegos, C.L., Harrison, W.G., 1980. Photoinhibition of photosynthesis in natural assemblages of marine phytoplankton. *J. Mar. Res.* 38(4): 687-701.

Pocklington, R., J.E. Milley, S.S. Bates, C.J. Bird, A.S.W. Defreitas and M.A. Quilliam. 1990. Trace determination of domoic acid in seawater and phytoplankton by high

performance liquid chromatography of the fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl (FMOC) derivative. *Int. J. Environ. An. Ch.* 38: 351-368.

Priisholm, K., Ø. Moestrup and N. Lundholm. 2002. Taxonomic notes on the marine diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the Andaman Sea near the island of Phuket, Thailand, with a description of *Pseudo-nitzschia micropora* sp. nov. *Diatom Res.* 17: 153-175.

Qi, Y., J. Wang and L. Zheng. 1994. The taxonomy and bloom ecology of *Pseudonitzschia* on the coasts of China. IOC-WESTPAC Third International Scientific Symposium, Bali, Indonesia, 22-26 November, pp. 88-95.

Quilliam, M. 2003. Chemical methods for domoic acid, the amnesic shellfish poisoning (ASP) toxin. *In*: Hallegraeff, G.M., D.M. Anderson and A.D. Cembella (Eds.), Manual on Harmful Marine Microalgae. UNESCO Publishing, Paris, pp. 247-266.

Quilliam, M.A., P.G. Sim, A.W. McCulloch and A.G. McInnes. 1989. High performance liquid chromatography of domoic acid, a marine neurotoxin, with application to shellfish and plankton. *Int. J. Environ. An. Ch.* 36: 139-154.

Ramsey, U.P., D.J. Douglas, J.A. Walter and J.L.C. Wright. 1998. Biosynthesis of domoic acid by the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries*. *Nat. Toxins*. 6: 137-146.

Reaugh, M.L., M.R. Roman and D.K. Stoecker. 2007. Changes in plankton community structure and function in response to variable freshwater flow in two tributaries of the Chesapeake Bay. *Estuaries and Coasts* 30: 403-417.

Rhodes, L.L. 1998. Identification of potentially toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) in New Zealand coastal waters, using lectins. *New Zeal. J. Mar. Fresh.* 32: 537-544.

Rhodes, L., D. White, M. Syhre and M. Atkinson. 1996. *Pseudo-nitzschia* species isolated from New Zealand coastal waters: domoic acid production in vitro and links with shellfish toxicity. Harmful and Toxic Algal Blooms: Seventh International Conference on Toxic Phytoplankton, Sendai, Japan, July 12-16, 1995, pp. 155-158.

Rhodes, L., C. Scholin and I. Garthwaite. 1998a. *Pseudo-nitzschia* in New Zealand and the role of DNA probes and immunoassays in refining marine biotoxin monitoring programmes. *Nat. Toxins.* 6: 105-111.

Rhodes, L., C. Scholin, I. Garthwaite, A. Haywood and A. Thomas. 1998b. Domoic acid producing *Pseudo-nitzschia* species educed by whole cell DNA probe-based and immunochemical assays. Harmful Algae: Eighth International Conference on Harmful Algae, Vigo, Spain, June 25-29, 1997, pp. 274-277.

Rhodes, L.L., J. Adamson and C. Scholin. 2000. *Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata* (Bacillariophyceae) in New Zealand. *New Zeal. J. Mar. Fresh.* 34: 463-467.

Rhodes, L., P. Holland, J. Adamson, A. Selwood and P. McNabb. 2004. Mass culture of New Zealand isolates of *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* for production of a new isomer of domoic acid. *In*: Steidinger, K., J.H. Landsberg, C. Tomas and G.A. Vargo (Eds.), Harmful Algae 2002. Florida Fish and Wildlife Conserv Comm, Florida Inst of Oceanogr, IOC-UNESCO, St. Petersbury, USA. pp. 125-127.

Richardson, K., J. Beardall and J.A. Raven. 1983. Adaptation of unicellular algae to irradiance: An analysis of strategies. *New Phytol.* 93: 157-191.

Rines, J.E.B., P.L. Donaghay, M.M. Dekshenieks, J.M. Sullivan and M.S. Twardowski. 2002. Thin layers and camouflage: hidden *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. (Bacillariophyceae) populations in a fjord in the San Juan Islands, Washington, USA. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 225: 123-137.

Rivera, R.P., 1985. Chilean marine species of the genus *Nitzschia* Hazall, section *Pseudo-nitzchia* (Bacillariophyceae). Gayana Bot. 42(3-4): 9-38.

Robbins, C.S. and D. Bystrak. 1977. Field List of the Birds of Maryland, 2 ed. Maryland Ornithological Society, Baltimore, MD.

Robins, C.R. and G.C. Ray. 1986. A Field Guide to Atlantic Coast Fishes of North America. Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston, USA. 354 pp.

Roegner, G.C. and R. Mann. 1991. Hard clam, *Mercenaria mercenaria. In*: Funderburk, J.A., J.A. Mihursky, S.J. Jordan and D. Riley (Eds.), Habitat Requirements for Chesapeake Bay Living Resources. Chesapeake Research Consortium, Solomons, MD, pp. 5.1-5.17.

Roelke, D. 1993. Feeding experiments of *Crassostrea virginica* on two forms of *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens*: behavior and toxicity. M. S. Thesis, Texas A&M University, 66 pp.

Roman, M., X. Zhang, C. McGilliard and W. Boicourt. 2005. Seasonal and annual variability in the spatial patterns of plankton biomass in Chesapeake Bay. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 50: 480-492.

Rosowski, J.R., L.M. Johnson and D.G. Mann. 1992. On the report of gametogenesis, oogamy, and uniflagellated sperm in the pennate diatom *Nitzschia pungens* - comment. *J. Phycol.* 28: 570-574.

Round, F.E., R.M. Crawford and D.G. Mann. 1990. The Diatoms. Biology and Morphology of the Genera. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 747 pp.

Rue, E. and K. Bruland. 2001. Domoic acid binds iron and copper: a possible role for the toxin produced by the marine diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia*. *Mar. Chem.* 76: 127-134.

Ryan, J.P., F.P. Chavez and J.G. Bellingham. 2005. Physical biological coupling in Monterey Bay, California: topographic influences on phytoplankton ecology. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 287: 23-32.

Rynearson, T.A., J.A. Newton and E.V. Armbrust. 2006. Spring bloom development, genetic variation, and population succession in the planktonic diatom *Ditylum brightwellii*. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 51(3): 1249-1261.

Sakshaug, E., G. Johnsen, K. Andresen and M. Vernet. 1991. Modeling of light dependent algal photosynthesis and growth: experiments with the Barents Sea diatoms *Thalassiosira nordenskioeldii* and *Chaetoceros furcellatus*. *Deep Sea Res.* 38: 415-430.

Scheckenbach, F., C. Wylezich, A.P. Mylnikov, M. Weitere and H. Arndt. 2006. Molecular comparisons of freshwater and marine isolates of the same morphospecies of heterotrophic flagellates. *Appl. Environ. Microb.* 72(10): 6638-6643.

Scholin, C., M.C. Villac, K. Buck, J.M. Krupp, D.A. Powers, G.A. Fryxell and F. Chavez. 1994. Ribosomal DNA sequences discriminate among toxic and non-toxic *Pseudo-nitzschia* species. *Nat. Toxins.* 2: 152-165.

Scholin, C., P. Miller, K. Buck, F. Chavez, P. Harris, P. Haydock, J. Howard and G. Cangelosi. 1997. Detection and quantification of *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* in cultured and natural populations using LSU rRNA-targeted probes. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 42: 1265-1272.

Scholin, C.A., F. Gulland, G.J. Doucette, S. Benson, M. Busman, F.P. Chavez, J.
Cordaro, R. DeLong, A. De Vogelaere, J. Harvey, M. Haulena, K. Lefebvre, T.
Lipscomb, S. Loscutoff, L.J. Lowenstine, R. Marin, P.E. Miller, W.A. McLellan, P.D.R.
Moeller, C.L. Powell, T. Rowles, P. Silvagni, M. Silver, T. Spraker, V. Trainer and F.M.
Van Dolah. 2000. Mortality of sea lions along the central California coast linked to a toxic diatom bloom. *Nature*. 403: 80-84.

Schrader, T.J. and I. Langlois. 2001. Comparison of glutamic and domoic acid excitotoxic responses in vitro. Proceedings of the Seventh Canadian Workshop on Harmful Marine Algae, Nanaimo, British Columbia, pp. 125-136.

Schumann, A., R. Goss, T. Jakob and C. Wilhelm. 2007. Investigation of the quenching efficiency of diatoxanthin in cells of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (Bacillariophyceae) with different pool sizes of xanthophyll cycle pigments. *Phycologia*. 46: 113-117.

Shimizu, Y., S. Gupta, K. Masuda, L. Maranda, C.K. Walker and R.H. Wang. 1989. Dinoflagellate and other microalgal toxins - chemistry and biochemistry. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 61: 513-516.

Shumway, S.E. 1989. Toxic algae: a serious threat to aquaculture. *World Aquacult*. 20: 65-74.

Shumway, S.E., J.M. Burkholder and J. Springer. 2006. Effects of the estuarine dinoflagellate *Pfiesteria shumwayae* (Dinophyceae) on survival and grazing activity of several shellfish species. *Harmful Algae*. 5(4): 442-458.

Shumway, S.E., S.M. Allen and P. Dee Boersma. 2003. Marine birds and harmful algal blooms: sporadic victims or under-reported events? *Harmful Algae* 2: 1-17.

Sierra-Beltran, A.P., M. Palafox-Uribe, J. Grajales-Montiel, A. Cruz-Villacorta and J.L. Ochoa. 1997. Sea bird mortality at Cabo San Lucas, Mexico: evidence that toxic diatom blooms are spreading. *Toxicon* 35: 447-453.

Sierra-Beltran, A.P., A. Cruz, E. Nunez, L.M. Del Villar, J. Cerecero and J.L. Ochoa. 1998. An overview of the marine food poisoning in Mexico. *Toxicon*. 36: 1493-1502.

Singler, H.R. and T.A. Villareal. 2005. Nitrogen inputs into the euphotic zone by vertically migrating *Rhizosolenia* mats. J. Plankton Res. 27: 545-556.

Skov, J., N. Lundholm, Ø. Moestrup and J. Larsen. 1999. Leaflet No. 185 Potentially toxic phytoplankton 4. The diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Diatomophyceae/Bacillariophyceae). *In*: Lindley, J.A. (Ed.), ICES Identification Leaflets for Plankton. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea, Copenhagen, Denmark. 23 pp.

Smetacek, V., C. Klaas, S. Menden-Deuer and T.A. Rynearson. 2002. Mesoscale distribution of dominant diatom species relative to the hydrographical field along the Antarctic Polar Front. *Deep Sea Res. Pt II*. 49: 3835-3848.

Smith, E.A., E.P. Papapanagiotou, N.A. Brown, L.A. Stobo, S. Gallacher and A.M. Shanks. 2006. Effect of storage on amnesic shellfish poisoning (ASP) toxins in king scallops (*Pecten maximus*). *Harmful Algae*. 5: 9-19.

Smith, J.C. and T. Platt. 1985. Temperature responses of ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase and photosynthetic capacity in arctic and tropical phytoplankton. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 25: 31-37.

Smith, J.C., R. Cormier, J. Worms, C.J. Bird, M.A. Quilliam, R. Pocklington, R. Angus and L. Hanic. 1990. Toxic blooms of the domoic acid containing diatom *Nitzschia pungens* in the Cardigan River, Prince Edward Island, in 1988. *In*: Granéli, E., B. Sündstrom, L. Edler and D.M. Anderson (Eds.), Toxic Marine Phytoplankton. Elsevier Science Publishing Co., Inc., New York, N.Y. pp. 227-232.

Smith, J.C., K. Pauley, P. Cormier, R. Angus, P. Odense, D. O'Neil, M.A. Quilliam and J. Worms. 1991. Population dynamics and toxicity of various species of *Dinophysis* and *Nitzschia* from the southern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Second Canadian Workshop on

Harmful Marine Algae, Bedford Institute of Oceanography, Dartmouth, N.S., 2-4 October.

Smith, J.C., J.L. McLachlan, P.G. Cormier, K.E. Pauley and N. Bouchard. 1993. Growth and domoic acid production and retention by *Nitzschia pungens* forma *multiseries* at low temperatures. *In*: Smayda, T.J. and Y. Shimizu (Eds.), Toxic Phytoplankton Blooms in the Sea. Elsevier Science Publishers, pp. 631-636.

Sokal, R.R. and F.J. Rohlf. 1995. Biometry. W.H. Freeman and Co., New York, 887 pp.

Sommer, U. 1994. Are marine diatoms favored by high Si:N ratios? *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 115: 309-315.

Spatharis, S., D.B. Danielidis and G. Tsirtsis. 2007. Recurrent *Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha* (Bacillariophyceae) and *Alexandrium insuetum* (Dinophyceae) winter blooms induced by agricultural runoff. *Harmful Algae*. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2007.04.006.

Spencer, P.S., P.B. Nunn, J. Hugon, A.C. Ludolph, S.M. Ross, D.N. Roy and R.C. Robertson. 1987. Guam amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-parkinsonism-dementia linked to a plant excitant neurotoxin. *Science*. 237: 517-522.

Stearman, R., D.S. Yuan, Y. Yamaguchi, R.D. Klausner and A. Dancis. 1996. A permease-oxidase complex involved in high-affinity iron uptake in yeast. *Science*. 271: 1552-1557.

Stehr, C.M., L. Connell, K.A. Baugh, B.D. Bill, N.G. Adams and V.L. Trainer. 2002. Morphological, toxicological, and genetic differences among *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) species in inland embayments and outer coastal waters of Washington State, USA. *J. Phycol.* 38: 55-65.

Stewart, J.E., L.J. Marks, C.R. Wood, S.M. Risser and S. Gray. 1997. Symbiotic relations between bacteria and the domoic acid producing diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* and the capacity of these bacteria for gluconic acid gluconolactone formation. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* 12: 211-221.

Stewart, J.E., L.J. Marks, M.W. Gilgan, E. Pfeiffer and B.M. Zwicker. 1998. Microbial utilization of the neurotoxin domoic acid: blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) and soft shell clams (*Mya arenaria*) as sources of the microorganisms. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 44: 456-464.

Stonik, I.V., T.Y. Orlova and O.G. Shevchenko. 2001. Morphology and ecology of the species of the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyta) from Peter the Great Bay, Sea of Japan. *Russ. J. Mar. Biol.* 27(6): 362-366.

Stryer, L. 1995. Biochemistry. W. H. Freeman and Company, New York. 1064 pp.

Subba Rao, D.V., M.A. Quilliam and R. Pocklington. 1988. Domoic acid -- a neurotoxic amino acid produced by the marine diatom *Nitzchia pungens* in culture. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 45: 2076-2079.

Subba Rao, D.V., A.S.W. de Freitas, M.A. Quilliam, R. Pocklington and S.S. Bates. 1990. Rates of production of domoic acid, a neurotoxic amino acid in the pennate marine diatom *Nitzschia pungens*. *In*: Granéli, E., B. Sundström, L. Edler and D.M. Anderson. (Eds.) Toxic Marine Phytoplankton. Elsevier Publishing Co. pp. 413-417.

Subba Rao, D.V., F. Partensky, G. Wohlgeschaffen and W.K.W. Li. 1991. Flow cytometry and microscopy of gametogenesis in *Nitzschia pungens*, a toxic, bloomforming, marine diatom. *J. Phycol.* 27: 21-26.

Sunda, W.G. and S.A. Huntsman. 1995. Iron uptake and growth limitation in oceanic and coastal phytoplankton. *Mar. Chem.* 50: 189-206.

Swofford, D.L., 2002. PAUP* Phylogenetic Analysis Using Parsimony (*and other methods), 4. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachusetts.

Syrett, P.J., 1981. Nitrogen metabolism of microalgae. *In*: Platt, T. (Ed.), Physiological Bases of Phytoplankton Ecology Bull. No. 210. Canadian Government Publishing Center, Hull, Quebec, Canada. pp. 182-210.

Takano, H. 1995. *Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata* (Takano) Takano, a new combination for the pennate diatoms *Nitzschia multistriata* Takano. *Diatom.* 10: 73-74.

Takemoto, T. and K. Daigo. 1958. Constituents of *Chondria armata* and their pharmacological effects. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 6: 578-580.

Teitelbaum, J., S. Carpenter and N.R. Cashman. 1990. Neurologic sequelae after ingestion of mussels contaminated with domoic acid. *New Engl. J. Med.* 323: 1632-1633.

Tenore, K.R. and W.M. Dunstan. 1973. Comparison of rates of feeding and biodeposition of the American oyster, *Crassostrea virginica* Gmelin, fed different species of phytoplankton. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 12: 19-26.

Thessen, A., Q. Dortch, T.M. Soniat and G.J. Doucette. 2002. Oyster grazing on toxic and non-toxic diatoms (abstract). National Shellfisheries Association Conference, Mystic CT, USA.

Thessen, A. E., D. K. Stoecker, P. Tango, S. Morton and D. Caron. 2003. The presence of domoic acid in *Pseudo-nitzschia* from the Choptank River, a Chesapeake Bay tributary. Second symposium on Harmful Marine Algae in the U. S., Woods Hole, MA, December 9-13, 2003.

Thessen, A.E., Q. Dortch, M.L. Parsons and W. Morrison. 2005. Effect of salinity on *Pseudo-nitzschia* species (Bacillariophyceae) growth and distribution. *J. Phycol.* 41: 21-29.

Thessen, A.E, Q. Dortch and T.M. Soniat. in prep. Oyster grazing on toxic and non-toxic diatoms. *J. Shellfish. Res.*

Thompson, S. 2000. The role of bacteria in mediating the sexual reproduction of the domoic-acid-producing diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries* (Hasle) Hasle. Special Topics Thesis, Mount Allison University, Sackville, NB, 49 pp.

Tiedeken, J.A., J.S. Ramsdell and A.F. Ramsdell. 2005. Developmental toxicity of domoic acid in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 27: 711-717.

Todd, E.C.D. 1993. Domoic acid and amnesic shellfish poisoning - a review. J. Food Protect. 56: 69-83.

Todd, K. 2003. Role of phytoplankton monitoring in marine biotoxin programmes. *In*: Hallegraef, G.M., D.M. Anderson and A.D. Cembella (Eds.), Manual on Harmful Marine Microalgae. UNESCO Publishing, Paris, pp. 649-656.

Tonnesson, K., M. Maar, C. Vargas, E.F. Moller, S. Satapoomin, S. Zervoudaki, E. Christou, A. Giannakourou, A. Sell, J.K. Petersen, T.G. Nielsen and P. Tiselius. 2005. Grazing impact of *Oikopleura dioica* and copepods on an autumn plankton community. *Mar Biol Res.* 1: 365-373.

Trainer, V., N.G. Adams, B.D. Bill, B.F. Anulacion and J.C. Wekell. 1998. Concentration and dispersal of a *Pseudo-nitzschia* bloom in Penn Cove, Washington, USA. *Nat Toxins*. 6: 113-126.

Trainer, V.L., N.G. Adams, B.D. Bill, C.M. Stehr, J.C. Wekell, P. Moeller, M. Busman and D. Woodruff. 2000. Domoic acid production near California coastal upwelling zones, June 1998. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 45: 1818-1833.

Trainer, V.L., B.M. Hickey and R.A. Homer. 2002. Biological and physical dynamics of domoic acid production off the Washington coast. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 47: 1438-1446.

Truelove, J. and F. Iverson. 1994. Serum domoic acid clearance and clinical observations in the cynomolgus monkey and sprague-dawley rat following a single IV dose. *B. Environ. Contam. Tox.* 52: 479-486.

Tsuda, A., H. Kiyosawa, A. Kuwata, M. Mochizuki, N. Shiga, H. Saito, S. Chiba, K. Imai, J. Nishioka and T. Ono. 2005. Responses of diatoms to iron-enrichment (SEEDS) in the western subarctic Pacific, temporal and spatial comparisons. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 64: 189-205.

Turner, J.T. and P.A. Tester. 1997. Toxic marine phytoplankton, zooplankton grazers, and pelagic food webs. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 42: 1203-1214.

Turner, J.T., P.A. Tester and P.J. Hansen. 1998. Interactions between toxic marine phytoplankton and metazoan and protistan grazers. *In*: Anderson, D.M., A.D. Cembella and G.M. Hallegraef (Eds.), Physiological Ecology of Harmful Algal Blooms. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 453-474.

Turner, R.E. and N.N. Rabalais. 1991. Changes in Mississippi River water quality this century. *Bioscience*. 41: 140-147.

USEPA. 1979. Method No. 350.1 Methods for chemical analysis of water and wastes. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Monitoring and Support Laboratory, Cincinnati, Ohio,

Uttal, L. and K.R. Buck. 1996. Dietary study of the midwater polychaete *Poeobius meseres* in Monterey Bay, California. *Mar. Biol.* 125: 333-343.

Vale, P. and M.A. Sampayo. 2001. Domoic acid in Portuguese shellfish and fish. *Toxicon*. 39: 893-904.

Vale, P. and M.A. Sampayo. 2002. Evaluation of marine biotoxin's accumulation by *Acanthocardia tuberculatum* from Algarve, Portugal. *Toxicon*. 40: 511-517.

Vale, P., M.J. Botelho, S.M. Rodrigues, S.S. Gomes and M.A.D. Sampayo. 2007. Two decades of marine biotoxin monitoring in bivalves from Portugal (1986-2006): a review of exposure assessment. *Harmful Algae*. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2007.05.002.

Van Dolah, F.M., T.A. Leighfield, B.L. Haynes, D.R. Hampson and J.S. Ramsdell. 1997. A microplate receptor assay for the amnesic shellfish poisoning toxin, domoic acid, utilizing a cloned glutamate receptor. *Anal. Biochem.* 245: 102-105.

Vega, A. and E.A. Bell. 1967. Alpha-amino-beta-methylaminopropionic acid a new amino acid from seeds of *Cycas circinalis*. *Phytochemistry*. 6(5): 759-762.

Villac, M.C. 1996. Synecology of the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* H. Peragallo from Moneterey Bay, California, USA. Ph.D. Thesis, Texas A&M University, College Station, Texas, 258 pp.

Villac, M.C., D.L. Roelke, T.A. Villareal and G.A. Fryxell. 1993a. Comparison of two domoic acid producing diatoms: A review. *Hydrobiologia*. 269: 213-224.

Villac, M.C., Roelke, D.L., Chavez, F.P., Cifuentes, L.A., Fryxell, G.A., 1993b. *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* Frenguelli and related species from the west coast of the USA: Occurrence and domoic acid production. *J. Shellfish Res.* 12(2): 457-465.

Vrieling, E.G., R.P.T. Koeman, C.A. Scholin, P. Scheerman, L. Peperzak, M. Veenhuis and W.W.C. Gieskes. 1996. Identification of a domoic acid-producing *Pseudo-nitzschia* species (Bacillariophyceae) in the Dutch Wadden sea with electron microscopy and molecular probes. *Eur. J. Phycol.* 31: 333-340.

Wada, E. and A. Hattori. 1971. Nitrite metabolism in the euphotic layer of the central North Pacific Ocean. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 16: 766-772.

Wagner, H., T. Jakob and C. Wilhelm. 2006. Balancing the energy flow from captured light to biomass under fluctuating light conditions. *New Phytol.* 169: 95-108.

Waldichuk, M. 1989. Amnesic shellfish poison. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 20: 359-360.

Wang, R., L. Maranda, P.E. Hargraves and Y. Shimizu. 1993. Chemical variation of *Nitzschia pungens* as demonstrated by the cooccurrence of domoic acid and bacillariolides. *In*: Shimizu, Y. (Ed.), Toxic Phytoplankton Blooms in the Sea. Elsevier Science Publishers, pp. 637-641.

Wekell, J.C., E.J. Gauglitz, H.J. Barnett, C.L. Hatfield and M. Eklund. 1994. The occurrence of domoic acid in razor clams (*Siliqua patula*), dungeness crab (*Cancer magister*), and anchovies (*Engraulis mordax*). J. Shellfish Res. 13: 587-593.

Wells, M.L., C.G. Trick, W.P. Cochlan, M.P. Hughes and V.L. Trainer. 2005. Domoic acid: The synergy of iron, copper, and the toxicity of diatoms. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 50: 1908-1917.

Whitehead, P.J.P., G.J. Nelson and T. Wongratana. 1988. FAO species catalogue. Vol. 7. Clupeoid fishes of the world. (Suborder *Clupeoidei*). An annotated and illustrated catalogue of the herrings, sardines, pilchards, sprats, shads, anchovies and wolf-herrings. Part 2. Engraulididae. FAO fisheries synopsis. 1988.

Whiting, M.G. 1963. Toxicity of cycads. Econ. Bot. 17: 271-302.

Whyte, J.N.C., N.G. Ginther and L.D. Townsend. 1995. Formation of domoic acid and fatty acids in *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries* with scale of culture. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 7(2): 199-205.

Windust, A.J. 1992. The responses of bacteria, microalgae, and zooplankton to the diatom *Nitzschia pungens* f. *multiseries* and its toxic metabolite domoic acid. M. S. Thesis, Dalhousie, 106 pp.

Wohlgeschaffen, G.D., D.V. Subba Rao and K.H. Mann. 1992. Vat incubator with immersion core illumination - a new, inexpensive setup for mass phytoplankton culture. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 4(1): 25-29.

Work, T.M., A.M. Beale, L. Fritz, M.A. Quilliam, M. Silver, K. Buck and J.L.C. Wright. 1993. Domoic acid intoxication of brown pelicans and cormorants in Santa Cruz, California. *In*: Smayda, T.J. and Y. Shimizu (Eds.), Toxic Phytoplankton Blooms in the Sea. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 643-650.

Wood, A.M. and T. Leatham. 1992. The species concept in phytoplankton ecology. *J. Phycol.* 28(6): 723-729.

Wood, A.M., R.C. Everroad and L.M. Wingard. 2005. Measuring growth rates in algal cultures. *In*: Andersen, R.A. (Ed.), Algal Culturing Techniques. Elsevier Academic Press, New York, pp. 269-286.

Wohlgeschaffen, G.D., K.H. Mann, D.V. Subba Rao and R. Pocklington. 1992. Dynamics of the phycotoxin domoic acid - accumulation and excretion in two commercially important bivalves. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 4: 297-310.

Work, T.M., B. Barr, A.M. Beale, L. Fritz, M.A. Quilliam and J.L.C. Wright. 1993a. Epidemiology of domoic acid poisoning in brown pelicans (*Pelecanus occidentalis*) and brandt cormorants (*Phalacrocorax penicillatus*) in California. *J. Zoo Wildlife Med.* 24: 54-62.

Work, T.M., A.M. Beale, L. Fritz, M.A. Quilliam, M. Silver, K. Buck and J.L.C. Wright. 1993b. Domoic acid intoxication of brown pelicans and cormorants in Santa Cruz, California. *In*: Smayda, T.J. and Y. Shimizu (Eds.), Toxic Phytoplankton Blooms in the Sea. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 643-650.

Wright, J.L.C. 1998. Domoic acid - ten years after. Nat. Toxins. 6: 91-92.

Wright, J.L.C., R.K. Boyd, A.S.W. Defreitas, M. Falk, R.A. Foxall, W.D. Jamieson,
M.V. Laycock, A.W. McCulloch, A.G. McInnes, P. Odense, V.P. Pathak, M.A. Quilliam,
M.A. Ragan, P.G. Sim, P. Thibault, J.A. Walter, M. Gilgan, D.J.A. Richard and D.
Dewar. 1989. Identification of domoic acid, a neuroexcitatory amino acid, in toxic
mussels from eastern Prince Edward Island. *Can. J. Chem.* 67: 481-490.

Wright, J.L.C., M. Falk, A.G. McInnes and J.A. Walter. 1990. Identification of isodomoic acid D and 2 new geometrical isomers of domoic acid in toxic mussels. *Can. J. Chem.* 68: 22-25.

Xi, D., Y.G. Peng and J.S. Ramsdell. 1997. Domoic acid as a potent neurotoxin to neonatal rats. *Nat. Toxins*. 5: 74-79.

Zhang, X., M. Roman, D. Kimmel, C. McGilliard and W. Boicourt. 2006. Spatial variability in plankton biomass and hydrographic variables along an axial transect in Chesapeake Bay. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans* 111: C05S11, doi:10.1029/2005JC003085.

Zou, J.Z., M.J. Zhou and C. Zhang. 1993. Ecological features of toxic *Nitzschia pungens* Grunow in Chinese coastal waters. *In*: Smayda, T.J. and Y. Shimizu (Eds.), Toxic Phytoplankton Blooms in the Sea. Elsevier Science Publishers, pp. 651-656.

Sources of Unpublished Material

H. Bowers Senior Research Technician University of Maryland Biotechnology Institute Center for Marine Biotechnology Baltimore, MD

W. Butler Phytoplankton Identifications Maryland Department of Natural Resources 1919 Lincoln Drive Annapolis, MD, USA 21401

D. Caron Professor, Department of Biological Science University of Southern California Los Angeles, CA

W. Coats Senior Scientist Smithsonian Environmental Research Center Edgewater, MD

G. Doucette Research Oceanographer NOAA/NCCOS Marine Biotoxins Program Charleston, SC

A. Marchetti Postdoctoral Research Associate University of Washington Seattle, WA